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SPEECH 13Y SIR DOUGLAS HOGG 
(representing the British Governrnent) 

AT THE PUBLIC SITTINGS OF SEPTEMRER 8th, I92Y1. 

May it please the Court; this is the fourth time upon 
which 1 liave had the honour to represent my country before 
this supreme Tribunal. Tt is the first time that it has falleii 
to my lot personally to raise a question as to the jurisdiction 
of the Court. 1 am conçcioiis that even in the most eminent 
tribunal there must be an inclination so to construe the powers 
of the Court as to render its jurisdiction as extensive as 
possible. 1 am fsmiliar witli the maxini boni judicis est 
un~pliare jztrisdictionenz. Nevertheless, 1 a m  confident t hat the . 
English Case is riglit il1 saying that in raising Our present 
objection we 'are supporting the prestige and the authority 
of the Court. Nothing can be better calcalated to render 
nations unwilling to enter into agreements siibmitting their 
cases to the decision of the Court than a consciousness that 
those agreements are likely to be construed in such a way as 
to  embrace questions which were never intended when the 
agreement was signed. Few things can be worse for the 
dignity of the Court than that it should find itself involved 
in trying a multitude of causes whicli are, in efiect, claims - 
by private perçons such as are deaIt with in the ordinary 
municipal .courts but whicli are diverted to this tribunal 
because it happens that the respondent is a sovereign State ' 

and that the claimant is. a subject of some other Power. 1 
make this preliminary observation in order to vindicate myself 
from any implication of lack of the respect which 1 unfeign- 
edly feel for this Court and because of the somewhat sarcastic 
allusions in the Greek Keply to  Our anxietv for its prestige 
and authority. But in tmth,  the question which the Coiirt 
has to determine is purely a question of law and not one of 
expediency or of dignity, and 1 know full well that it will be 
decided as a question of law by the judges before whom 1 
have the honour this day to  appear. 

The disputes arising out of the concessions claimed by 
M. Mavrommatis have been the subject of the Judgments 
of this Court, No. 2 and No. 5, in which the majority of 
the Court, as constitiited to-day, have taken part. 1 shall 

' Unciiments quoted in this spccch : 
Greek Case; see Part I I I ,  No. 2 ,  pp. rog-175 cif this volume. 
Afrnsxes lo the Greek Case; see l'art 111. Xo. 2 a,  pp. 176-450. 
British Prcli~~rii iarj~ Objection ; sec l'art III. No. 4 .  pp. 45 1-468. 
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venture to assume that the Court is famiIiar with the facts 
leading up to these judgments, and if 1 refer to one or two 
outstanding facts and dates, it is because, in my submission, 
the principles enunciated in these j u d p e n t s  go a very long 
way to  decide the ,  present dispute in my favour, if, indeed, 
they are not conclusive of the question when properly under- 
stood. With regard to the facts, after the date of the last 
judgment, 1 am prepared, for the purpose of my present 
argument, but only for that purpose, to accept the accuracy 
of the documents annexed to  the Greek Case and to assunie 
that these documents are a complete record of the relevant 
facts. If my present contentions were overruled and it were 
necessary to  try the merits of the dispute, these assumptions 
necessarily would disappear. I t  is obvious, for instance, 
that there must be a large rnass of documents in existence 
relating to the transactions between Lord Gisborough and . 
his Agents and M. Mavrommatis and his Agents, and thnt 
these might well be of vital importance in regard to any 
claim put forward for dsmages. But they do not seem to me 
to be relevant a t  the present stage. If 1 do not rnake the 
same admissions with regard to the allegationç in- the Greek 
Case and. in the Greek Reply as to oral declarations and under- 
takings, it is becausc, in the first place, many of these are 
inconsistent with the documents themselves and, in. the secoiid 
place, because the documents mainly in issue have, by their 
express terms, to  be interpreted and construed according to 
the principles of English law, and according to these prin- 
ciples it is eIementary to Say that oral declarations by ' the 
Parties as to  what they meant or intended cannot be received 
in evidence. If the Court should hold me wrong in these 
assumptions, it might be necessary to obtain oral testimony to 
contradict some of the allegations; but for the present, a t  
any rate, 1 propose to  subrnit rny argument on the basis 
which 1 have outlined. 

The Court will remember that M. Mavrommatis' original 
case was based upon two concessions, one in regard to elec- 
tricity and the other in regard to  drinking-water, for the town 
of Jerusalem, both dated January 27th, 1914, and two conces- . 
sions, one for electricity and the other for water, for the 
town of Jaffa, dated January zSth, 1916. The Court will also 
recall that in the course of the prcvious proceedings it appeared 
that  the High Commissioner for Palestine, on September 12th. 
1921, had granted a concession to a Mr. liutenberg for the 
supply of electricity and irrigation water to the district of 
Jaffa and that thiç concession allowed Mr. Kutenberg to have 
the use of the El-Audja waters for the purposes of the conces- 
sion, and that on September z ~ s t ,  1921, the High Corn- 
missioner. had made an agreement with Mr. Kutenbe~g by 

3 



22 SPEECH BY SIR DOUGLAS HOGC 

which the Commissioner undertook to grant to &Ir. Rutenberg 
a concession for the use of the Jordan and Yarmouk rivers 
for the purpose of the supply of electricity t o  Palestine and 
Trans-Jordania as soon as certain preliminary points had been 
agreed between the Parties. This latter agreement contained 
a clause, No. 29, by which the High Commissioner undertook, 
a t  the request of Mr. liutenberg, to expropriate any conflicting 
concessions upon payrnent of fair compensation. The previouç 
cornplaint of the Greek Governinent was that  the British 
Government, by reason of their general conduct with regard 
to  M. Mavrommatis and, in particular, by .this agreement and 
this concession, had been guilty of a breach of thosc inter- 
national obligations subject to  which, under the terms of the 
Mandate for Palestine, Article II, they were alone entitled 
to  provide for the public ownershiy or control of the nntural 

. resources of the country; that tlie result of this breach had 
been to  render the execution of the concessions of M. Navrom- 
matis impossible, and therefore, that the British Govern- 
ment rnust pay damages to M. Afavrommatis. To this claim 
the British Government raised a preliminary objection, that 
the matter was not within the jurisdiction of the Court, and 
the first judgment of the Court with regard to  hl. Mavrom- 
matis' concessions, Judgment No. 2, was a judgment in which 
i t  decided - upon this preliminary objection, that the objection 
was well-founded so far as it related t a  the Jaffa concessions 
but that with regard to the Jerusalem concessions, having 
regard to the terms of the Protocol of Lausanne, M. Mavrom- 
matis had rights which the Msnrlatory was bound to observe 
in rnaking use of the powers of public control conferred upon 
it by  Article II of the Mandate and that an  allegation of 
failure to observe that obligation fell within Article 26 of the 
Mandate and consequently was within the jurisdiction of the 
Court. 

The second hearirig before the Court took place on the merits 
of this second claim when the Court held that Clause zg of 
the Agreement of September z ~ s t ,  1921, was inconsistent 
tvith the rights of M. 3Iavrommatis in regard t a  his Jeriisa- 

t lem concession and therefore that in making that Agreement 
under the powers conferred by Article II, the Mandatory had 
comrnitted a breach of the international obligations referred 
to  in the article. But the judgment went on to affirm that  
no loss had been sustained by M. Mavrommatis by reason 
of this .breach and that therefore no damages could be awarded 
to him. 

At this second hearing there was also submitted to the 
Court, not by virtue of any jurisdiction conferred under 
Article 26 of the Mandate, but by special agreement between 
the British and the Greek Governments, a further question as 



SPEECH BY SIR DOUGLAS HOCC , 23 
to whether M. Mavrommatis' Jerusalem concession fell under 
Article 4 or under Article 6 of the XIIth ProtocoI of the Treaty 
of Lausanne. 

This question the Court answered by deciding that  it fell 
within Article 4. T shall have to cal1 attention presently t o  
some of the passages of these two judgments in. order to  
elucidate the principles which they lay down ; and 1 shall 
have also again t o  emphasize the importance of remembering 
that in the second judgment there were two points submitted, 

' one arising under the Nandate and the other submitted by 
voluntary agreement of the Parties. For the moment 1 pro- 
ceed with a summary of the events after the second judgment 
as set out in the documents annexed to the Greek Case. 
After the second judgment had been delivered on March zuth, 
1925, and had decided that Article 4 of the Lausanne Protocol 
was the relevant article, it became necessary by reason of the 
terms of the Protocol to  negotiate for the readaptation of the 
Jerusalem Concessions in order t o  put thern into conformity 
with the new economic conditions. M. Mavrommatis appointed 
Sir .Hamar Greenwood, a weU-known British politician, as his 
expert, and the British Government appointed Mr. Lees, the 
Director of Public Works under the Palestine Government, as 
their expert; and these two experts reached an agreement 
in December, 1925. This agreement was carried into effect on 
February zgth, 1926, by two written agreements made between 
the High Commissioner and M. hfavrommatis. By these turo 
ageements, it is very important t o  remember, nkw conces- 
sions xvere granted by the High Commissioner to  M. Mavrom- 
matis, one for electricity and the other for water, and in 
consideration of these grants M. Mavrommatiç irrevocably 
abandoned his old concessions of January 27th, 1914, which 
he had held from the Turkish authorities. The new contracts 
provided for the formation of a Company within one year t o  
take over the concession and for the subscription and pay- 
ment in cash within the same period of £xoo,ooo in one . 

case and £40,000 in the other, and that within seven months 
in one case and within eight months in the other, plans 
should be submitted by M. Mavrommatis for the purpose of 
executing the concessions, and the agreements provided that  
in these three matters time was to  be of the essence of the 
contract. The agreement went on to provide that  the High 
Commissioner should notify his approval or disapproval of the 
plans within three rnonths after receipt ; and in the event of 
his not approving, revised plans should be submitted within 
one month by M. Mavrornmatis and should be approved or 
disapproved by the High Commissioner within a further period 
of one month. In these latter respects, time was not stated 
to be of the essence of the contract, but the agreements 
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provided that if the revised plans were not approved, tliey 
should be submitted a t  the request of 31. AMavrommatis to  
an independent expert whose decision should be binding on 
both Parties. The agreements further contained an express 
provision stipulating that in each case they were to be 
interpreted and construed according to  the laws of England. 

Before these concessions had actually been granted but after 
their terms had been agreed by the experts, on January zznd, 
1926, M. ~ ~ a v r o m m : ~ t i s  had executed an agreement tr:insfer- 
ring t o  Lord Gisborougli al1 his rights and benefits under 
the concession. Lord Gishorough on the same day made 
agreements with firnis of consulting engineers for the pre- 
paration of the necessary plans. I t  is stated in the Greek 
Case that  Mr. Lees, the British Government's expert, had 
agreed that the waters of the El-Audja should he iised for 
the purpose of the water concession of February 25tli, 1926. 
That allegation is specifically denied by the British Govern- 
ment. In his original concession of January, 1914 (which 
d l  be found in Series C., No. 5, of the Publications of the 
Court, set out at  page zog), RI. AIavrommatis \vas required 
by Article 5, which nppears on pages aIo and 2 x 1 ,  to submit 
ttvo alternative projccts, one making use of the springs of 
the Arroub situated to  tlie south of Jerusalem, and the 
other using those of the Ain-Fara and Ain-17avouar sitiiated 
to the north of Jerusalem. It uras further provided, as is 
pointed out in the Greek Reply, that RI. Mavrommatis miglit 
submit different projects altogether if lie so desired ; but it 
was stipulated, as is not pointed out in the Greek Reply, 
that if there were any differences between the Parties as to 
which plans should be adopted, the Turkish Minister of Public 
IVorks should have an abçolute right oi decision. In fact, 
the plans submitted by 31. Mavrommatis provided only for 
the use of the springs of tlie Arroub, and that spring alone 
was referred to in the previous proceedings. Under the 
Agreement of Fehruary, 1926, which is to  be foiind in the 
Annex to the Greek Case a t  page 83, thc provision is, under 
Clause 6, on page 85, that the source (or sources) of the 
water is to  be subject to  the approval of the High Corn- ' 

missioner and no specific source is stipulated. I t  is true that 
El-Audja was onc of the sources which urerc considcrcd by 
the experts. I t  is equally true that other sources- were 
considered and it appears from the report of Lord Gisborougli's 
own engineers, which is printed in the Greek Annex a t  pages 131 
and 134, that they had considered. the use of other sources 
altogether from El-Audja, and that ttiey had corne to the 
conclusion, not as stated in the Greek Case that no other 
source ~ 3 5  possible, but that on the whole the El-Audja 
source was to  be preferred from an engineering point of view 
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since the capital cost of the works in that event was about 
the same as if the waters on the Jordan side were used ; 
and El-Audja had the advantage that there were other popula- 
tions along the line of supply which rnight perhaps be induced 
to  take water as well as Jerusalem. 

These reports were made and framed after the Agreements of 
February, 1926, and show quite plainly that at that date 
there had been no source fixed for the esecution of the water. 
contract. The Greek Reply indeed alleges that the price of 
7 piastres, which is provisionally fixed by Clause 19 of the 

. agreement, shows that El-Audja was the contemplated source, 
because, says the Greek Reply, that price is based on the 
estirnated cost of bringing the water from El-Audja. But it 
will be noticed from the reports themselves, about the middle 
of page 135, that the experts reported that the capital cost 
would be the same whether El-Audja were selected or whether 
the most suitable source in the Jordan valley were selected ; 
and further Clause 19 itself contains express stipulations for 
varying the price to be charged for the water if the capital 
cost were sornething different from that which was anticipated. 
The document relied on by the Greek Government as evidence 
that an agreement as to  the source was made is a letter dated 
March 7th, 1927, more than a year afterwards, which appears in 
Annex No. 128, on page 236 of t h e  Greek Governmen t dociiments 
and which is verified by an affidavit of Mr. Raffety, the writer of 
it. But if the Court will be good enough to look a t  that document 
on page 236, which takes~the form of a letter from Messrs. Rofe 
& Son, the consulting engineers, addressed to M. Mavrommatis, 
the Court will see that that document not only does not record any 
such agreement but is totally inconsistent with the fact of anp 
such agreement having been reached because it records not that 
Mr. Lees had agreed to  the use of the waters of El-Audja but 
merely that Mr. Lees had expressed hiç own opinion that provided 
that the British Government were satisfied that the El-Audja 
was the proper source to  be selected, other interests in the 
springs would not be allowed to stand in the way,-l aIri 

quoting the concluding paragraph in the letter. 
The Court will therefore see that that letter conclusively 

shows that Mr. Lees cannot have agreed that the El-Audja 
spring was to  be used, since it records that he did not make 
an agreement but only that  he expressed an opinion that if 
the Government thought El-Audja was the right source, it 
would not allow other interests t o  stand in the way. But 
in truth it is immaterial to discuss this question of an alleged 
agreement because by the express language of the Agreement 
of February 25th, 1926 (which is the document which has to  
be construed), not only is no source stipulated but the ques- 
tion of the source to be used is expressly left to the approval 
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of the High C~mrnissioner, and the document therefore is 
inconsistent with the agreement whicIi is suggested. 
. The next event in order of. date is the g a n t  on March 5th, 
1926, of the Jordan concession to Mr. Rutenberg, in . 

accordance ~ 4 t h  the obligations undertaken by the High 
Commissioner by the Agreement of September zxst, 1921. 
1 merely mention this a t  athis point in order to  preserve the 
chronological sequence of events; 1 shall have to deal 
with the effect of the Rutenberg concessions . later on. On 
April ~ g t h ,  1926, Lord Giçborough despatched the plans and 
specifications for both concessions to the High Commissionér 
who acknowledged their receipt on May 5th (Annex No. 39 bis, 
a t  the .bottom of page 149). On May 'r8th Lord Gisborough's 
solicitors sent to the Colonial Office a copy of the Agreement 
of January xznd (Annex Ko. 42, page 115) and on Juné 17th 
(Annex No. 45, page 153). the Colonial Office, in acknowledging 
the receipt of that  ' agreement, guarded itçelf against any 
recognition of the assignment or any waiver of the terms 
of the concession. &fore the receipt of this agreement the 
Colonial Office had been told that M. Mavrommatis had 
entered into arrangements with Lord Gishorough, as trustee 
for the proposed company, but the Col'onial Office 'had never 
been .informed of the t e m ç  of the agreement nor had it 
been inforrned that that agreement took the form of an out- 
and-out assignment by '  M. Rlavrommati~: to Lord Gisborough. 
Such a form of agrecmeiit is certainly not the normal way of . 

carrying out a conditional transfer to a proposed company, 
as may easily be ascertained by looking'at any book of pre- 
cedents for the purpose. By the beginning of July, 1926, 
the contractors employed by Lord Gisborough, Sir John 
Jackson, Ltd. and Messrs. Rofe Rr Son, the engineeis, had 
become aware that  the water concession was .quite useless 
unless there was also granted a drainage concession whiich 
would involve the construction of works at a cost of anything 
from f180,ooo up to, I think, Iialf a million, and a t  the 
same tirne it appears £rom the correspondence ' that 
Mr. Rutenberg was makiiig a claim that  the use of the El-Audja 
waters for the purpose of tlie water concession was inconsist- 
ent with his Jaffa concession. These facts are recorded in 
the Annexes, Kos. 46, 48 and 49, which are to be found on 
pages I j3 and 155. For the moment it iç enough, perhaps, for ine to 
mention in pasçing that it is comrnon ground between the Parties 
tha t .  &lx-. Rutenberg had no justification under his concession 
for his claim to  object to  the use of El-Audja. The Greek 
Government Case is quite correct in stating, as it does 'in 
paragraphs 22 and 72, and reiterating, as it does' a t  the end 
of paragraph 9 of its lieply, that this claim of Mr. Ruten- 
berg \vas one which was not justified by the terms of his 
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concession, and that view has been consistently- held by 
M. Mavrommatis and his advisers, as appears from his statement 
in his letter of July gth, 1926 (Annex No. 49, page 156, towards 
the end). 1 only mention in passing that the Court will 
notice that the claim was put fonvard under and by virtue 
of the Jaffa concession of September rzth, 1921, and had 
nothing whatever to  do with the Jordan concession ganted 
to  Mr. Rutenberg on Alarch 5 t h  1926 As a result of these 
difficulties, correspondence and interviews took place which 
will be found set out in the annexes to which 1 have just 
referred. On July 18th, 1926 (Annex No. 50, page 157)~ 
M. Mavrommatis appears to have informed Lord Gisborough that 
the Agreement made on January zznd, 1926, had lapsed on 
July roth, and he demanded the delivery up of al1 the plans, 
estimates, specifications and reports relating to his conces- 
sions. 1 am Dot discussing the merits of the case, but it is 
a little difficult to understand how, after that  date, it can be 
contended that the plans were held by the High Commissioner 
on behalf of M. Mavrornmatis or with his consent. The cir- 
cumstances which led up to  this demand by M. Mavrommatis 
are not relevant and are left by the Greek .Case in complete 
obscurity. I would only here point out that  it is impossible 
to  consider, as M. Mavrommatis seeks to suggest, that this 
letter -of 'July 18th was nrritten in consequence of the dis- 
approval $y the Colonial m c e  of the terps  of his Agreement 
of January aznd, since. that disapproval was not communicated 
until July zrst, three days aftenvards, by Annex No. 52, 
on page 158. I do not develop that point further, because 
i t  does no! seem to me to have any bearing on the question 
of jurisdiction, as apart from the question of merits. During 
July and August negotiations were taking place  between 
Sir John Jackson, Ltd., the contractors employed by Lord 
Gisborough, and M. Mavrommatis and the Colonial Office 
with regard to  the proposa1 to grant a new concession to 
include the drainage and also with regard to the disputes 
which ,had arisen between M. Mavrommatis and the contractors 
and with regard t o  the objections which had been raised 
to the use of the El-Audja source. These negotiations and 
disputes extend frorri Annex No, 52, on page 158, down to  
Annex No. 67, on page 175, and in the course of them 
M. i\~avrornmatis twice gave fonnal notice to Lord Gisborough 
(Annex No. 63, page 173, and Annexes Nos. 66 and 67, page 175), 
repeating his denunciation of the Agreement of January zznd, 
1926, and insisting on his claim to have the plans deliv- 
ered up to  hirnself. No agreement either with Mr. Kutenberg 
or with regard to the drainage system was reached, and 
on September jrd, 1926, in coiisequence of M. Mavrommatis' 
demands, Lord Gisborough's solicit ors -telegraphed to the High 
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Commissioner (Annex No. 69, a t  the top of page 178) requesting 
him either to return the plans to  themselves or else, altern- 
atively, to treat them as deposited on behalf. of M. Mavrom- 

. matis, and by Anncx No. 70, on the same date and on the 
same page, they informed M. Mavrommatis of their action. 
On receipt of thiç intimation, on Septcmber 4th, the following 
day, M. Mavrommatis telegraphed to the High Cornrriissioner 
requesting hirn to  retain the plans as deposited on his, M. Ma- 
vrommatis' behalf, and to  advise the Colonial Office to  that  . 
effect. The telegram itself is not exhibited to the Greek Case, 
but the confirmation of the telegram in the letter of Septem- 
ber 6th is exhibited on page 179. On September ~ 1 s t  (Annex No. 76, 
page 181) the Colonial Office officially advised M. Mavram- 
matis that, in accordance with his request of September 4th, 
the High Cornmissioner had accepted the plans of the works 
to  be built under his concessions as deposited by hirn, with 
effect from Septemher 5th, that is to Say, from the date of 
the receipt of the telegram of September 4th. On Septem- 

: ber 23rd (Annex No. 79, page 182) the Colonial Office officially 
informed M. Rlavrommatis that tlie plans for the electricity. 
concession were approved subject to  certain named conditions, 
and by the same letter M. Mavrommatis was asked t o  
acknowledge receipt and to  signify his acceptance of the con- 
ditions, and he wns informed that a further letter regarding 
the .  plans for the water concession would be addressed t o  
hirn in due course. On the following day, September 24th 
(Annex No. 81, page 184), 31. Mavrommatis wrote to the Col- 
onial Office acknowledging the two letters of September zrst  
and 23rd and advising them that he had indicated. to his 
consulting engineers the alterations suggested in the electricity 
plans and that he would .write again on receiving their report., 
In pursuance of this promise, on October 7th (Annex No. 89, 
page   gr), M. Mnvrommatis wrote to the Colonial Office accept- 
ing the alterations in the electricity plans. By the same 
letter, M. Mavrommatis made application for an extension of ' 

time for the formation of the company, both with regard to 
the electricity and to the water concessions, and he appealed 
to the Colonial Office to approve the plans for the a a t e r  
concession without delay. On October ~ o t h ,  page '94. 
$1. .l.favrommatis wrote a long letter making a series of claims 
with regard t o  his Jaffa concessions which have already been 
ruled to be outside tlie jurisdiction of the Court. On October 
25th (Annex No. 102, page 201) the Colonial Office refused 
an extension of tlie time-limits for the electricity concession. 
On November 26th (Annex No. 109, page 204) fil. Mavrornmatis 
wrote a long letter to the Colonial Office complaining of delay 
in approving the water plans and saying that i t  was impos- 
sible for hirn to arrange for the formation of the company 
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in pursuance of his agreement ukless extensions of time were 
granted. On December 1st (Annex No. 112, page 207) M. Mavrom- 
rnatis wrote a letter to the Colonial Office claiming that the 
plans for the water concession should have been approved 
before August 5th-three months from Xay 5th-and alteging . 
that in consequence of the failure to pass the water plans i t  
had become impossible to finance the undertaking and that he. 
claimed damages. On December 2nd (Annex No. 113, page 208) 
the Colonial Office officially intimated- to 31. &Mavrommatis 
that the High Comrnissioner had approved the plans for the 
water concession subject to one or two minor alterations set 
out in the letter. In  the Greek Case i t  is suggested that this 
letter of December and was in consequence of M. Mavrom- 
matis' letter of the previous day. But this, of course, is a 
complete misconception ; Government departments, unfortu- 
nately, do not work with quite such celerity. I n  fact the 
drsft of the letter of Decernber 2nd had been prepared some 
days earlier on receipt from tlie High Commissioner of the 
intimation of liis approval of the plans and the acknowledg- 
ment of M. Mavrommatis' letter of December 1st was in fact 
made on December 6th (Annex No. 114, page 209) in which 
M. Mavrommatis was asked whether the Colonial Office \vas t o  
understand from the letter of Uecember 1st that the request 
for an extension of tirne was withdrawn. It does not appear 
relevant to discuss the correspondence after this date because 
M. Mavrommatis' daim is based upon his repudiation. of his 
obligations by his letter of December rst, on page 207. But 
just - in  order to complete the story, it may be stated that, 
on January 19th (Annex No, 120, page 219) and again on April 
26th (Annex No. 133, page 247) the Colonial Office invited 
M. IlIavrommatis to  state definitely whether or not  lie repu- 
diated his obligations under the two concessions of February 
asth, 1926; and offered extensions of time for the fulfilment 
of these concessions if M. Mavrommatis intended to  carry 
them into execution. But BE. Mavrommatis refuscd altogether 
to  consider tliese extensions and declined to  consider the 
fulfilment of his contract, except on the terrns that the 
Government of Palestine should guarantee the money to be 
raised by the proposed Company. That is to be found in 
Annexes Xos. 138 and 139, on pages 252 to 254. 

1 have tried to surnmarize the facts as concisely and, 1 hope, 
as uncontroversially as possible. From the surnmary, I thlnk 
it will be manifest, as indeed i t  appears from the Greek Case, . 
that the cornplaint made by that Government to which we are 
now raising our preliminary objection, is that there has been 
failure by the  Hjgh Commissioner for Palestine to lulfil the 
obligations imposed upon him by the concessions of I'ebruary 
25th, 1926, because, according to  the Greek Case, the plans 
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for each concession were submitted on May =jth, and ivere not 
approved, in th& case of the electricity concession, until 
Septernber 23rd and, in the case of the water concession, 
until December 2nd.. Whether or not these approvals were 
given within the period of tirne of three months. stipuiatèd 
by the conceçsions depends primarily uyon the question 
whether the .plans must be taken to  have been validly and 
finally' deposited by M. hiavrommatis ivhen they' were received 
from Lord Gisborough on May 5th, in which case the three 
months would end on August 5th, or whether the deposit 
must he treated as liaving taken place on Septernber 5th, 
when M. hlavrommatis requested the High Commissioner to  
treat them as deposited on his behalf, in which case the 
three months wodd lapse on December 5th, after the date of 
each approval. The question whether the approvals were 
given within the proper period of time, would, of course, 
further depend upon tlie secondary question, whether, even if 
M. Mavrommatis could ' opiginally have insisted upon treating 
the deposit as being made on May 5th, he can now be heard 
to  Say that the High Commissioner was in default, having 
regard to the express intimation made to him on September 
axst, that the deposit was accepted as being made on Sep- 
tember 5th, and his acceptance of that intimation, without 
demur, on September q t l i ,  and so far  as the electricity con- 
cession is concerned, there is a further dificulty in 31. Mavrom- 
matis' way that  he now claims to  treat the failure to  approve 
the plans before August 5th as a hreacli of contract entitling 
him to repudiate tliis concession, although, when the plans were 
approved on September' 23rd, with certain modifications, he 
expreçsly accepted this approval and these modifications bp 
his letter of October 7th (Annex No. 89, page 191). 

As 1 understand the Greek Government Case, they contend 
that the alleged failure of the High Commissioner to approve the 
plans within three months from May 5th entitles M. Mavrom- 
matis' to treat each of the concessions of February 25th as 
non-existent and restores in their full validit y the concessions 
of January 27th, 1914, which by those agreements M. Mavrom- 
matis irrevocably abandoned. It is then said that the effect 
is that the concessions of January, 1914, remain unadapted and 
therefore that the provisions of Articles 4 and 5 of ' the S I I t h  
Protocol of the Treaty of Lausanne which provided for their 
readaptation have not been canied out. It 'is argued that this 
is a failure to obey the judgrnent of the Court which declared 
that those concessions were within Articles 4 and 5 of the 
ProtocoI, and that therefore it is a failure to observe theinter- 
national obligations accepted by the British Government, that 
this constitutes a breach of Article II of the Mandate. and 
therefore that it is submitted to the jurisdiction of the Court 
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by virtue of Article 26 of the Mandate. 1 hope 1 have cor- 
rectly sukmarized the chain of reasoning in the Greek Case : 
1 h q e  alço that 1 shall not have very great dificulty . i n  
satisfying the Court that this chain of reasoning breaks down 
at  every single link ; and unless i t  succeeds a t  every link 
the preliminary objection must of course prevail. 

In the first place it is not true to  Say that if the High 
Commissioner faiied to  signify his approval or disapproval 
of the plans within the three months stipulated by the Agree- 
ments of February 25th, 1926, M. Mavrommatis was a t  once - 
entitled to treat these agreements as non-existent. By their 
express terms each of these agreements is to be construed and 
interpreted in accordance with English law and 1 think it . 
would be difficult to  find any English lawyer of repute who 
would express such an opinion. 

The Greek Reply in paragraph II contends that 'the act of 
giving up the old concessions was conditional upon the grant 
of new ones which were themselves dependent on the fulfil- 
ment of .various conditions; that the lack of fulfilrnent of 
those conditions prevented the grant of the new concessions 
becoming effective and that the old concessions therefore 
continued because the consideration upon which their abandon- 
ment was based did not materialize. In truth the new 
concessions were granted out and out by Article 4 of the Agree- 
ments of February 25th-the language is the same in each 
concession. On page 84, for instance, the wording is: "In 
consideration of the said renunciation, the High Commissioner 
hereby grants to  the concessionnaire the concessions as herein- 
after described." I t  is true that the concessions so granted 
contained certain conditions and that if M. Mavrommatis failed 
to  comply with those conditions, the High Commissioner had 
a right to rescind the concessions. But in fact the existence 
of the right to rescind the concessions is in itself proof that 
the concessions had already been validly granted, because it is 
impossible, a t  any rate in English law, to rescind something 
which has never been done; and the fact that the new 
concessions might in certain events be rescinded does not in 
any way involve that iintil rescinded they are ineffective 
and still less that  when they are rescinded the consideration 
constituted by their grant has wholly failed. It might with 
equal justice be argued, for example, that if an insurance 
policy is forfeitable upon failure to comply with certain condi- 
tions, the effect of the forfeiture would be to entitle the assured 
to  recover the premiums which he had paid, which 1 venture 
to  submit is not only an accurate analogy but a reductio ad 
absurdum of the argument put forward. 

The Greek Government Reply, paragraph 12, refers to the 
distinction in English law between a condition and a warranty 
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and it suggests that it was a condition of the 1926 Agreement 
that there should be a grant of an effective concession and 
that there was a warranty in the agreements that that obliga- 
tion should be complied with within a certain time. That 
is a complete misapprehension of the effect of the agreements. 
There was no condition as to the p a n t  of an  effective conces- 
sion. The agreements themselves constituted an inmediate and an 
effective grant of the concession. There was therefore no room for 
any such condition nor for any such warranty as the Greek IZeply 
suggests. The triith is that there was an absolute grant of a con- 
cession, which concession was in itself subject to the fulfilment by 
the concessionnaire of certain conditions, friilure to observe 
which involved a right in the High Comrnissioner to rescind the 
concessions already granted ; and there was no doubt a war- 
ranty by the High Commissioner that he urould approve or 
disapprove. plans within a certain time, failure to observe 
which würranty would no doubt entitle M. Mavrommatis to 
darnages indeed, but not to treat the agreements or his obliga- 
tions under them as non-existent. The Greek Government 
Reply comrnents, in paragraph II, upon the fact that  the 
British Government had deemed it inadvisable to  make men- 
tion of the point raised in paragraph 58 of the Greek Govern- 
ment Case as to the intentions expressed by the Parties a t  the 
t h e  of execution of thiç agreement. Unfortunately, in the 
copy of the Greek Case supplied to  the British Government, 
there is no paragraph 58. The paragraphs go directly from 
56 to 59, and it is therefore perfectly true that we have not 
dealt with a paragraph which, as far as we know, does not 
exist. But if there be such a paragraph, and if it does purport 
to state the intention of the Parties, as expressed a t  the time 
of the execution of the contract, then it is plainly inadmis- 
sible by the ordinary rules of English law which make the 
interpretation of a written document dependent upon the lan- 
guage contained in the document and excludes contemporary 
statements by the Parties as to  what they meant to say or do. 
The mle is elementary. I t  is well stated in the standard work 
cited by the Greek Government, Sir William Anson's Principles 
of the Law of Contvact, where we find on page 320 of the 
16th edition-it is on page 317 of the 14th edition which the 
Greek Government cited-the principle laid down in one sent- 
ence : "When we corne to  extrinsic evidence as affecting the 
terms of a contract, the admissibility of such evidence is 
narrowed to a small compass, for according to the general law 
of England the written record of a contract must not be 
varied or added to by verbal evidence of what was the inten- 
tion of the Parties" ; and the passage appearing in the text 
there is in-fact  a citation from a well-known judgrnent of a 
very great English master of the common law, Lord Blackburn, 
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in the case of Barges v. ' Wickhana, Volume III, Best Pi . 

Smith, page 396. In  another standard book, Leake's Law oj 
Contracts, 7th edition, page 123, we find the same principle 
set out, "It is a general rule of Iaw that .contracts in writing 
cannot be varied by extrinsic evidence of the intention of the 
Parties. The rule applies equally, whether the Parties have 
agreed that the terms expressed in the writing shall represent 
their contract, or whether their contract be reduced to writing 
under the requirements of a statute;  and whether it be 
contained in several writings or in a single forma1 deed of 
writing ; and whether it be a contract under seal or a simple 
contract." According to English law, in the constnrction of a 
written document the intention of the Parties is to be deduced 
frorn the language of the document itself and not from extrinsic 
evidence as to what the Parties declare they intended to  do 
by their written contract. 

The Greek lieply suggests 'that the provisions as to the time 
within which the High Cornmissioner shall notify his approval 
or disapproval of the plans are provisions in which time is 
of the essence of the contract; but in Iny submission it is 
clear from the terms of the agreements themselves that accord- 
ing to English law those stipulations as to time are not 
stipulations in which time is of the essence of the contract. 
Ever since the Judicature Act of 1873, Section ~ j ,  Sub- 
Section 7, the rule of equity has prevailed in English law 
on this question and the ordinary rule of equity is that time 
is not of the essence of the contract unless i t ,  is made to be 
so either expressly or by necessary implication. If the 
present contracts are scrutinized it will be found that a plain . 
distinction is drawn between the tirnes provided for the forma- 
tion of the Company, the subscription of its , capital and 
the original deposit of plans and the other subsequent dates 
mentioned in Clause 4 of the contract. With regard t o  the 

- first three it is stipulated expressly that in respect of all 
these conditions, time shaU be deemed to  be of the essence 
of the contract. No such stipulation appears with regard to  
the subsequent times named in the latter part of the clause 
and the irresistible inference to  be drawn from this distinction 
rnust be that  it is only with regard to  the former conditions 
that time is regarded as essential. I t  issuggested in the Greek 
Case that  the reason why there is no such provision with 

.regard to  the later periods named is because it was impossible 
t o  contemplate that  the High Commissioner should commit a 
breach of contract. 1 can only Say that 1 know no precedent 
for any such doctrine in the English law, and further 1 would 
point out that somc of these later periods contain obligations 
imposed upon M. Mavrommatis, not upon the High Commis- 
sioner, and therefore that  the suggested explanation does not 
cover the facts. 
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T t  is further contended both i n  ,the Greek 'Case and in 
the Reply that it must be patent that  the times within which 
approval or disapproval of the plans must be notified and within 
which the subsequent revisions and so on must be dealt with 
must aU be of the essence of the contract ; since, Say the 
Greek Government, i t  would plainly be impossible to  form the 
company until after the plans had been approved, and the 
Company has to be formed within twelve months, and those 
twelve montlis are stated to be of the essence of the contract. 
But again, this argument is inconsistent with the terms of 
the. agreement itself. Under the water concession the plans . 
have to  be submitted within eiglit months frorn the date of 
the concession. 

The High Cornmissioner then has three months within which 
to approve or disapprove. I n  the event of his disapproval 
M. IbIavrommatis has one month for the submission of revised 
plans. If such revised plans are 'submitted, the Wigh Commis- 
sioner has another month within which to approve or disapprove 
of the revised plans. If he does not approve the revised plans, an 
independent expert is t o  be selected ta whom the question 
of the plans is to  be submitted and whose decision is to be 

, 

final. If the period of eight months, three months, one rnonth 
and one month are added together, i t  wiIl be found that  a 
period of thirteen months is contemplated under the terms of 
the agreement before the question becomes ripe for submission 
to the independent expert. How long it may take for the expert 
to be selected and for him t o  give his decision, is not stipu- 
lated a t  aU ; but it is plain that  before ever the dispute reaches 
the independent expert, the tirne within which the company has 
to  be formed rnay have been exceeded by a t  least a rnonth. 
In the case of the electricity concession, the plans have to  be 
submitted within seven months instead of eight months and 
the other times are the same. So that  'in that  concession 
twelve months rnay elapse in accordance with the terms of 
the agreement before any steps- are taken- to  select the inde- 
pendent expert to  whom the plans are to  be submitted for 
decision and yet in that case too, not only has the company 
to be formed, but its capital has to  have been subscribed 
within a definite period of twelve months and no more. 

In  view of those dates, it is, in my respectful submission, 
idle to  suggest that the contracts provide that  the formation 
of the Company can only take place after the plans have been. 
approved and that i t  is a necessary condition precedent to  the 
formation of the company that such approval should have 
been given. 

In  the next place, even if 31. hlavrommatis would have had 
the right t o  rescind the contract upon failure by the Wigh 
Commissioner t o  approve the plans within three months, under 
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English law the admitted facts of this case preclude the 
exercise of any such right. The principle is well established 
that if time be made of the essence of the contract, that may 
be waived by conduct, and that if the time is once allowed 
to  pass and the Parties go on negotiating for the carrying out 
of the contract, then time is no longer of the essence of the 
contract. I n  such circumstances, a Party is not indeed bound 
t o  wait an indefinite time. But having once gone on negotiat- 
~ n g  beyond the time originally fixed, he is unable to give 
immediate notice of abandonment ; he must give reasonable 
notice 'of his intention to cancel the contract, if the other 
Party does not fulfil his obligation. I cite one passage which 
has since been quoted more than once, from a judgment of 
Sir Richard Malins in the case of Webb v. Hzcgl~.es in Law 
lieports, IO, "Equity Cases", page 281, a case with regard to  a 
contract of a sale of land. At  page 286 the learned judge thus 
lays down the principle : "If time be made the essence of the 
contract, that  may be waived by the conduct of the purchaser, 
and if the time is once allowed t o  pass and the Parties go on 
negotiating for conclusion of the purchase, then time is no 
longer of the essence of the contract. But on the other hand, 
i t  must be  borne in mind that a purchaser is not bound t o  
wait an indefinite, time, and if he finds, while the negotiations 
are going on,'that a long time wiii elapse before the contract 
can be completed, he may, in a reasonable manner, give 
notice t o  the vendor and fix a period at which the business 
is to be terminated. But having once gone on negotiating 
beyond the time fixed, he iç bound not to give immediate 
notice of abandonment but must give a reasonable notice of 
his intention t o  give u p  his contract if a title is not shown." 
Applying this principle t o  the present case, so far as the 
electricity concession is concerned, the notice of approval, sub- 
ject to modific'ations, was given by the Wigh Commissioner on 
September 23rd and was accepted by M. Mavrommatis by 
his letters of September 24th and October 7th. It is quite 
impossible, therefore, for M. Mavrommatis now to claim that 
the contract waç repudiated by the failure to approve these 
plans before the fifth of August. So far as the water con- 
cession is concerned, the letters which I have cited in rny 
summary of the facts show that  M. Mavrommatis went on 
negotiating with regard. to  the approval of the plans right up 
to December xst, when he attempted t o  repudiate the contract, 
and that  he never gave any notice fixing a time within which 
the plans must be approved or disapproved, or intirnating his 
intention to  cancel the contract if  such approval were not ' 

given within that time. I t  follows that if the time within 
which the plans had to  be approved or disapproved were ever of 
the essence of the contract, M. Mavrommatis would have lost 
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his right to rescind according to the settled principles of 
English law. 

Further, even if 81. h.Iavrornmatis had a right to repu- 
diate the coiitract aiid exercised it. in the circumstances of 
this case, there could not have been a restitutio in integntm, 
because on August 5th, and equally on December ~ s t ,  the 
time for readapting the 19x4   on cessions given by the articles 
of the Protocol of thc Treaty of Idsusanne had long passcd 
by and the Parties could not ever be put back into the same 
position which they would have occupied if the contracts of 
~ e b r u a r ~ ,  1926, had never been agrëed. I t  is a well-settled 
principle that  in any such case, the breach of any condition 
no longer gives the right t o  rescind, but only a. claim for 
damages, and it is illustrated, among many other authorities, 
by the very case of TYallis v. Pratt, in 1910, 2 King's Bench 
Division, to  which the Greek Government refers in its Reply, 
where the dissenting judgment of Lord Justice Fletcher Mouiton 
was aftenvards adopted and approved by the House of Lords 
in 1912, Appeal Cases. :: 

But if M. hlavrommatis d id  have a right to  repudiate the con- 
tracts of rgz6, and if he did exercise that right, and if it was 
possible thereby t o  restore in their pristine,validity the 19x4 
concessions which he had irrevocably abandoned nearly twelve 
monthç before, the result would be, not that the British Govern- 
ment had committed breaches of the agreements of 1926, since they 
would, on that hypothesis, no longer exist, nor that the British 
Government had co~nmitted a breach of Article II of the Mandate, 
since, as 1 shall demonstrate presently, that article is broken only 
when the international obligations therein referred to  are 
disregarded by reason of the exercise of a power conferred by 
that article. The result wouId be that  the British Govern- 
ment had failed to observe Articles 4 and j of the Protocol 
of the Treaty of Lausanne, since they ~vould not have readapted 
the concession tvithin the period limited by those articles. But 
this would be a breach of the Protocol and not of the RZan- 
date, nor of the judgment. I t  is clear that the relevant 
paragraph of the judgment did not impose an obligation to 

. readapt, by virtue of the judgment, but only decided, by the 
consent of the Parties, which article of the Protocol was 
applicable to  the co~icessions in question. The failure to  
readapt would, undcr these circumstances, no doubt be a 
breach of the articles of the Treaty, but  not a breach of the 
judgment which merely answers the specific question submitted 
to the Court, This iç made abundantly clear by the language 
of the jiidgment itself, Judgment No. j, when dealing with 
this point, where the Court says, at the bottom of page 27 
and the top of page 28 : 
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"It is not by reason of the jurisdiction conferred on the 
Court under Article 26 of the Mandate, but in consequence 
of an agreement between the Parties resulting from the 
written proceedings, that the Court has jurisdiction to  
decide whether M. Mavrommaiis' jerusalem concessions 
fall to  be dealt with under Articles 4 and 5 or Article 6 
of the l'rotocol. The Court's jurisdiction, however, does 
not extend beyond giving a reply to this question. Only 
by virtue of a further agreement could other disputes 
relating to the application of the articles in question be 
dealt with by the Court unless, of course, such disputes 
resulted out ,of the g a n t  of the Rutenberg concession 
and to  this extent feu within the scope of the jurisdiction 
obtained, as indjcated above, frorn Articles 26 and II of 
the Mandate." 

[Pziblic siliing of September Sth, 1927, af.ternoon.] 

\lrhen the Court adjourned. 1 had just cited the passage on 
pages 27 and  28 of the Judgment No. 5 of the Court, showing that 
the jurisdiction of the Court did not extend to  disputes arising 
with regard to  the readaptation of the 1914 concession. 1 
gather, however, that the Greek Government itself recognizes 
the accuracy of this juridical position. The Greek Government 
in paragraphs 4 and 5 of its Reply states specifically that 
i t  does not base its claim that this Court has jurisdiction 
upon any failure by the British Government to comply with 
the deciçion of the Court, but that the allegation of a lack 
of cornpliance is cited merely as an indication of the failure 
to carry out Article II of the Mandate, and not a t  al1 as a 
criterion of the cornpetence of the Ccurt. The Greek Reply 
goes on to  say that +hile i t  maintains the position that the 
breach of a judgrnent given by virtue of powers conferred by 
a compulsory clause can be brought. before the Court, - i t  
concedes that when the judgment is given by virtue of 
powers conferred by an ad hoc agreement between the Parties, 
thiç principle does not apply and that there is then no power 
in the Court to  examine into the fulfilment of its judgrnent. 

The. British Government does not think it necessary in 
these circumstances to  restate the- arguments contained in its 
Preliminary Objection, because in the first place the alleged 
failure to comply with the judgrnent is relied on by the 
Greek Government only as evidence of a breach of Article r r  
and not as in itself giving any jurisdiction, and in the second 
place because the alleged breach appears to be a failure to 
carry out obligations arising under tkose articles of the 
l'rotocol which the Court declares to be applicable, and that  

4 
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declaration is made not by virtiie of any compulsory juris- 
diction, but by virtue of an express submission of that  partic- 
ular point for decision. In  these circumstarices the point as 
to the competence of the Court to compel compliance with 
its j u d p e n t s  when given under a general submission, import- 
ant as that point undoubtedly is, seems not to arise for 
decision in the present case ; and on that ground, whilst not 
in any way receding from the position taken up in our 
Preliminary Objection, 1 do not propose either to elaborate 
or recapitulate the arguments there submitted upon that 
particiilar point. 

There is just. one other matter raised by the Greek Govern- 
ment Reply as to which I must say s word in explanation. 
I n  paragraph 6 of the IXeply it is stated that at the previous 
hearing upon the rnerits, the Court and the Parties had 
contemplated the possibility of the present situation arising. 
Even had that been the case, it seems a little difficiilt to 
understand how it could affect the present discussion, since 
the argument a t  that time was not upon the jurisdiction of 
the Court but  on the rnerits of the particular dispute. But, in 
truth, on a refercnce to the record of the proceedings it is, 
I thiilk, plain that the Greek Government fails accurately to 
reproduce the position which was being taken up. The 
reference to my argument is on page 139 of Series C., No. .7, 
and 1 think that n reference to  the passage cited in tlie 
Reply will show that the point which I was there djscussing 
was the claim of M. Mavrom~natis to have an immediate 
assessment of dnmages, and the point which 1 was submitting 
was that it \vas impossible for the Court to assess darnages as 
M. Mavrommatis was claiming that it should do, since tlie 
damages would have to be for brcaches of the readapted 
concessions and no one knew what the terms of the readapted 
concessions, upon which of course the quantum of darnages 
must necessarily depend, might iiltirnntely be ; and 1 went on 
to '  Say on page 139 iri the passage quoted that if the tirne 
fixed for readaptatjun had arrivcd ancl if there had beeii a 
failure to carry out the steps stipulated in the Protocol, i t  
was possible that the Greek Governinent might perhaps not 
itnreasonsbly go to the Court and ask the Court to Say that 
it had still jurisdiction to interverle under Article r r  of tlie 
Mandate. And my  speech \vent on : "1 caii a t  least under- 
stand that  argument being put forwnrd. The decision"- 
tliat is, the decision whether the argument corild be entertainecl- 
"would depend whethcr or not in the view of the tribunal its 
general jurisdiction was, to use the language O£ the judgrnent, 
"excluded", or whether, in the language of the judgment 
equally, the general jurisdiction was suspended until the 
expiration of the.  times n m e d  in the article." I venture to. 



submit that it is hardly possible for any unbiassed person to. 
read that argument which 1 have quoted textually as an 
admission that there was jurisdiction to  intervene even in the 
eventç rvhich u7ere there being discussed, and which are not the 
events which have in fact occurred. I t  is equally significant 
to observe that M. Politis, who was then representing the 
Greek Government, in his answer on pages 179 and 180, 
clearly took the view that in such a case as 1 had suggested 
there would be no jurisdiction in the Court. A reference to 
pages zoo and zox of my Reply seems merely to show that 
1 there restated the position which 1 have taken up on 
page 139 ; and the passage which is referred to  in the Greek 
Reply from the judgment of the Court as being a reply to 
the questions tlius raised, to which 1 have already called 
attention on page 28 of the judgrnent, so far from being an 
assertion that the Court would have junsdiction in the 
circumstances named, clearly implies and indeed decides that 
it would have no such jurisdiction unless it could be shown 
that the failure to readapt the concessions which was corriplained 
of was due to the exercise by the British Government of the 
pon7ers of public control conferred by Article XI by,  their 
grant to  Afr. Rutenberg of a concession conflicting with that 
of M. &lavrommatis. 

I t  is clear then from the express statement of .the Greek 
Government that their allegation that this Court has juris- 
diction is based upon Article II of the Mandate and nothing 
else. Fortunately for me the Court has slready expressed 
its view as to  the effect to be given to  that article in its 
previous judgrnents. If the Court will be good enougli to look 
first of al1 at  Judgment No. z, in tvhich the question of 
jurisdiction is first discussed, i t  will see that the limits within 
whicli it wns possible to  bring a breacli of international 
obligation witliin the terms of the Mandate are carefully 
defineci. lifter quoting the terms of Article II, on page 17, 
the Court goes on to say that the question to be solved is 
wlietlier tlie dispute sliould be dealt witli on tlie basis of 
that clause. On page 19 it reaches the conclusion that the 
vavronirnatis concessions in themselves are outside the scope 
of Article II, but that the question before the Court is 
whether, by grnnting the Rutenberg concessions, the Palestine 
and 13ritish authorities have disregarded international obliga- 
tions assumed by the Mandatory. It decides, on page 21, 
that the Rutenberg concession constitutes an application by 
the Administration of Palestine of the system of public control . 

which is authorized by Article II and therefore may fa11 
~vithin the scope of that article. Having reachecl that con- 
clusion, it points out, on page 23, that these powers must be 
excrcised, by virtue of the express language of Article II, 
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subject to  any international obligation accepted by the Mandat- 
o!y, and it decides, on page 24, that the international obliga- 
tions there referred t o  are not, as the Greek Government 
contended, international obligations in general, but only those 
contracted which have some relation to the powers granted 
to the Palestine Administration under the same article. 

Finally, on page 26, i t  states as its conclusion that since 
' 

the Rutenberg concessions fell witliin the scope of Article II, 
it is obvious that the Palestine Administration is, as regards 
these concessions, bound to respect obligations which Great 
Britain has accepted under the Lausanne Protocol. "If," sapç 
thecourt, "the administration has, by granting the Rutenberg 
concesçions, committed a breach of these obligations, there 
lias been an infringement of the terms of Article II of the 
Mandate which may be made the subject of an action before 
the Court under Article 26." I t  appears, -therefore, from the 
judgment' itself, that i t  is not sufficient in order to  invoke 
Article 26 to show that international obligations have been 
disregarded by the Mandatory-or by the ,mandated Power. I t  
is necessary to  show that that disregard of international - 
obligations has occurred in the course of the exercise of the 
powers of public ownership or control which are conferred 
by Article II and which arc conferred çubject t o  the observ- 

- ance of the international obligations referred to  in that article. 
The second judgment, Judgment No. 5 ,  which deals witli 

the merits of the RIavrornmatis claim, foliows up and rein- 
forces this decision and makes its limitations clear beyond any 
possible doubt. After quoting the judgment just referred top 
on page 27, the Court sayç : "Since the Court's jurisdiction 
extends only t o  cases where M. Mavrornmatis' concessions 
have been affected by the acts contemplated by Article XI of 
the Mandate, in so far as such are contrary to  the obligations 
contracted under Protocol XII, it follows that  this jurisdiction 
does not extend to the workç constructed by the British 
troops in the summer of 1918, nor to the alleged use made by 
them of 31. 3IavrommatisJ plans regarding the water concession. 
Those are circumçtances entirely unconnected mlth the con- 
cessions promised to  hlr. Rutenberg." The judgment decides, 
as 1 have already reminded the Court, that the existence of 
clause zg in the Rutenberg Jordan Agreement of September 
z ~ s t ,  1921, was contrary t o  the obligations contracted by 
the Ilandatory in signing the Protocol, and that  there has 
therefore been a breach of Article II, and it reiterates this 
limitation in the passage beginning at the bottom of page 40, 
where the Court says that : "If the British Government 
had in fact decided not t o  aliow M. Mavrommatis to proceed 
with his concessions, this decision not being the consequence 
of a request on the part of Mr. Iiutenberg, there might be 



SPEECH BY SIR DOUGLAS HOGG 41 

some doubt as to  whether this would be an act falling within 
the jurisdiction of the Court. For, according t o  the judg- 
ment of August goth, 1924, the Court's jurisdiction is confined 
to acts against which the terms of Article II of the Mandate 
are directed." I t  follows therefore from the express decision t o  
which I have called attention, that  we have to see now 
whether the alleged f d u r e  t o  respect the rights of M. Mavrom- 
matiç results from the exercise by the British Government of 
the power of control conferred on it by Article II of the 
Mandate. The answer t o  this question must .clearly be in the 
negative. The Greek Government itself concedes that there 
was nothing in the El-Audja-Jaffa concession of Bfr. Rutenberg 
inconsistent with the rights of M. Mavrommatis, either under the 
original concession of January, 1914, or under the concession of 
February, 1926. That attitude has been consistently main- 
tained by RI. Mavrommatis from the first. We find in Annex 
No. 46, on June 3oth, 1926, that hlessrs. Lane & Cottier, 
the solicitors then acting, after referring to Mr. Rutenberg's 
claim, in the middle of page 154, Say : "We have considered 
Mr. Rutenberg's concessions upon this point and we are of 
opinion that  he has no such rightW-that is a right to inter- 
fere-"and that  the High Commissioner, if he concurs in 
the views of the experts,. is fully justified and empowered to  
authorize the taking from that source of the water required by 
the proposed waterworks company." On July gth, Annex No. 49; 
there is a further letter in which the statement is made 
by Sir Charles Cottier, towards the bottom of page 156 : 
"1 do not accept the interpretation by Mr. Rutenberg of his 
concession. My reading of the article is that he only has 
an exclusive right to take water from that  source t o  be used 
for generating electrical energy and for irrigation purposes within 
the limits of his concession. 1 am advised by Counsel that this 
claim to  tEe ownership of the waters of El-Audjais unte~iable." 
The Court will remember that  in clauses 22 and 72 of the 
Greek Government Case, the same position is taken up. 1 
see, .for instance, in clause 72, that the Greek Government 
Say that the Palestine - authorities rightly thought that  
Mr. Rutenberg's argument was contrary to the letter and the 
spirit of his concession. Clause 2 above did not give him the 
ownership of the source; i t  only gave hirn the right to use 
it for certain purposes ; any use of the source by a third party 
for another purpose not contrary to his own was perfectly 
compatible with his right. I n  that opinion of the Greek Gov- 
ernment, the British Government respectfuily concurs, and the . 

fact that  we hold the same view with regard to  BIr. Kuten- 
berg's rights under his 1921 Jaffa concession is,' perhaps, best 
shown by the fact that  on December znd, 1926, the plans 
of M. Mavrommatis for the use of the El-Audja waters were 
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in fact approved by the High Cominissioner for Palestine. Tlie 
same concliision is, in effect, reached by the Court itself- 
or a t  least recorded by the Court itself-in Judgmeiit No. 5, 
on page 32, where it says, in reference to the Agreement of Septem- 
ber z ~ s t ,  1921, that  is to say the agreement with regard to the 
Jordan valley : "This is the only agreement which iieed be 
considered, for i t  is common grounci that  the concession granted 
on September ~ z t h ,  1gz1,"-thst is the El-Audja concession 
which \ve are now discussing-"to Mr. Rutenberg for the 
supply of elcctrical energy and the irrigation of the district of 
Jaffa, does not affect the rights clerived by hl .  Mavromniatis 
from his conccssions for the supply of electricity a t  Jeriisalem." 
EquaUy, i t  was decided by the Court in its last judgment, on 
page 33, that  there is nothing in the Jordan Agreernent with 
Mr. Rutenberg, that  is the Agreement of September z ~ s t ,  

, 1921, which is contrary to  the rights of RI. Mavrominatis, 
except the objectionable Article zg to which the Coiirt referred. 
It is not suggested in the present case tliat the Jordan concession 
has in any way interfered with XI. Mavrommatis' rights, and, 
indeed, if the Court will look at  the concession itself, as 
granted on hIarch j th,  1926, it will see that the objectionable 
clause 29 had been carefully eliniinated and that an express 
provision had been put in-1 think it appears 'on page 260 
of the Greek Government's documeiits-which expressly safe- 
guards and preserves M. 3Iavrommatis' rights. Indeed, the 
'Greek Governrnent does not, either in its Case or in  its liepiy, 
suggest that a t  any point the concession actually granted to 
. >Ir. Rutenberg in respect of the Jordan valiey was in breach 

of any of 31. hlavrommatis' rights, or that &Ir. liutenberg 
attempted to  use the powers given under that concession t o  
interfere in any tvay with M. hlavrommatis' claim. 

What is said by. the Greek Government is that Mr. Tiuten- 
berg wrongly claimed that his Jaffa concession of September 
~ z t h ,  1921, entitled him to object to the use by M. Mavrom- 
matis of the EI-Audja water and that the British Govern- 
ment ought to have. refused to  grant to Mr. Rutenberg the 
Jordan concession to ivhich he was legally entitled by virtue 
of the Agreement of September arst, 1921, in order to  
compel him to refrain from his unjustified opposition to 
the use of the El-Audja water by M. Mavrommatis, clairned 
under his Jaffa concession of September xzth, 1921. I n  other 
words, the British Government is not alleged to  have exer- 
cised its powers of public control in any way inconsistent 
with its international obligations. What is alleged to have 
happened is that sorneone who has received from the British 
Government rightç which did not confiict with hl. Mavrom- 
matis' rights, has wrongfully made use of these rights to 
set up claims which have no fouiidation in law. This, in 

\ 
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my submission, obviously ,cannot constitute any heach of 
duty by the British Government. It is not enough, as is 
suggested a t  the commencemerit of paragraph 9 of the Greek 
Reply, in order to constitute a breach of Article II, that 

. -the exercise of the pivers conferred by Article II should 
render possible a breach of . R I .  Mavrommatis' rightç by 

- wrongful clairns made by Mr. liliiteiiberg. In order to con- 
stitute a breach of Article Ir, such a claim by Mr. Ruten- 
berg must be involved in and warranted by the terms of the 
conceçsions granted by the Mandatory or the mandated 
Government under the terms of Article Ir .  Considerable 
perplexity has been occasioncd to the British Government by 
a statement which appears towards the end of paragraph IO 
of the Greek Reply, in which it is alleged that Sir Hamar 
Greenwood told M. Mavrommatis that Mr. Lees had promised 
to file a memorandum recommcnding the British Governrnent 
not to  fulfil their obligations in respect of the grant of the 
Jordan concessions to hlr. Rutenberg until Mr. Rutenberg 
had agreed to allow M. Mavrommatis to use the El-Audja . 
water for the purpose of his Jerusalem water concession. 
The Greek Reply states that the Colonial Office does not dispute 
the fact that a memorandum was handed in by Mr. Lees, 
but alleges that the memorandum had been lost* and 
that it was not found again until Mr. Rutenberg had been 
granted confirmation of his Jordan concession. I t  is not 
stated in the Greek Reply who is said to have made that 
allegation. or to whom the allegation is said to have been 
made, But immediately on receipt of the Reply, enquiry was 
made a t  the Colonial Office, and no one can be found there 
who has any knowledge of any such statement ever having 
been made or of any such memorandum ever having been 
found. Further, a careful scarch has been made in the 
dossiers or the files of the Colonial Office and there is no 
trace to  be found in any file of sny such memorandum as 
is referred to in t h e .  Reply. I n  consequence of that fact, ' 

at  rny instance a telegram was sent on September 6th, from 
the Colonial Office to the Governor of Ceylon, where Mr. Lees 
now is, in these terms : "Following for Lees. Mavrommatis 
case opens a t  Hague September 8th. Reply by telegraph 
(a) whether you ever promised Sir Hamar Gqeenwood to  
send Colonial Office memorandum recommending Govern- 
ment not to  confirm Jordan electricity concession until El- 
Audja water question had been settled with Rutenberg; (b) 
whether you ever made such a recommendation either to  the 
Palestine Government or to  the Colonial Office." The reply 
to that telegram, dated September 7th, was received last 
night and is as follows : "Following from Governor, ColomboJ' 
-which is the capital of Ceylon-"begins. Your teIegram 
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of September 6 th ;  Lees states that replies to  both questions 
(a)  and (b) are in the negative", and it is signed "Lloyd". 
So that 1 can only Say with regard to this statement in the 
Greek Reply that there seems to be some extraordinary 
misunderstanding in the mind of somebody .acting for the 
Greek Government, but that at any rate it seems quite plain 
that the allegations as to  the promise to  dispatch the me- 
morandum and the subsequent discovery of any such memo- 
randum, are all based on a complete misapprehension, and 
none of them in fact ever happéned. So far as 1 can judge, 
there can be no relevance on this question of jurisdiction, 
in determining the truth or the iintruth of these allegations; 
but in view of the fact that not only are they made but it 
is stated in the Reply that they are not disputed, 1 have 
thought it right to  exhaust such means as are open to  me in 
order to ascertain whether the facts are as stated in the 
Greek Reply, with the resuIt which I have just indicated to 
the Court. 

I t  foliows, in my submission, from the reasoning which I 
have had the honour to  submit to the Court, that the arguments 
upon which the Greek Government seek t o ,  build up their 
case and which, as 1 have pointed out, must al1 hold good 
in order to establish the jurisdiction which is alleged, break 
down in fact a t  every point, and therefore that the juris- 
diction upon which it insists does not in law exist. 

I t  remains, however, to  say a few words about the supple- 
rnentary point raised in the British Government's Preliminary 
Objection that in any event the Greek Government cannot 
properly intervene until its national has exhausted his . rights 

' of action in the municipal courts of Palestine. The doctrine 
which is here invoked has been fully developed in the Prelim- 
inary Objection, and the Greek Government in its Keply does 
not seek to impugn the authority or the accuracy of the cita- 
tions contained in that -  document. I t  is true that the Reply 
refers to  the fact that Dr. Borchard states that there are 
numerouç exceptions to the rule; but it does not and it 
cannot suggest that  any of the exceptions which Dr. Borchard 
proceeds to  state, can have any relevance to  the present case. 
The Court will see that the passage in Dr. Borchard's work, 
published in 1922, in a chapter commencing a t  page 817 and 
going on to  page 819, goes- a very long way to confirm the 
accuracy of the submission- which we are making. It will 
be sufficient for me, therefore, to refer the Court to the cita- 
tions of authonty which 1 have made in my Preliminary 
Objection, without taking up the time of the Court by verifying 
them at  the oral hearing. 1 would respectfully ask the Court 
to  be good enough to verify for themselves the quotations 
which X have there set out. 
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But the Greek Government in its Reply seeks to  detract from 
the effect of this principle on two grounds. First of al1 it claims 
that the doctrine is only applicable t o  intervention by diplomatic 
action and that it has no application to the submission of a dispute 

. to  judicial decision by the Court. 1 venture to submit to 
the Court that  that is a mistaken view. From the decision 
of the Court in the first judgment Judgment No. 2, it 
appears clearly that  the right of the Greek Government t o  
intervene a t  al1 on behalf of M. Mavrommatis rested upon 
what the Court there laid down on page 12 as an  elementary 
principle of international law, namely "that a State is entitled 
to protect its subjects when injured by acts contrary to inter- 
national law committed by another State from whom they 
have been unable to obtain satisfaction through the ordinary 
channeis", and it points out that a case, when thus taken up, 
cornes before the Court aç a dispute between the two contend- 
ing States, although no doubt it originated from an injury t o  
a private individual. But unless and until the complaining 
State has . a  right by international law to  take up the cau.se 
of its subject and to  reçort either to  diplomatic action or to 
international legal proceedings, it has no locus stnndi before 
either the International Court or other tribunals to  which an 
appeal is made, and on the principle which the Court has 
laid down: the right of the State to intervene, and therefore 
its locus sta9tdi vis-à-vis the respondent Government, arises 
only when the injured subject has been unable to  obtain satis- 
faction through the ordinary channels. The Greek Govern- 
ment in its Iteply further ernphasized the fact that this objec- 
tion was not raised in the previous proceedingç when, as the 
Greek Governrnent alleges, the sarne point was open. But 
in truth the Greek Government is mistaken in thinking that 
any such point was open in the previous proceedings. 

At the time of the previous proceedings, M. Mavromrnatis 
had only concessions granted by the Turkish authorities before 
the occupation of Palestine by Great Britain, and tlierefore 
he had no cause of action in any court against either the 
British Government or the Palestine Governmcnt for failure 
to observe these concessions. He had no redress except by 
diplomatic action taken by his Government on his belialf. It 
is only when the British Government, in pursuance of the 
obligations imposed on it by Articles 4 and 5 of the Protocol, 
has entered into direct contractual obligations with hT. Mavrom- 
rnatis, that M. hfavromrnatis has a right to assert a daim 
for damages in the municipal courts if those obligations have 
been disregarded. This position of direct con tractual relation- 
ship between the High Cornmissioner and hl. Mavrommatis 
was attained for the first tirne on February 25th, 1926, and 
did not exist when the former proceedings were instituted. 



46 SPEECH BY SIR DOUGLAS HOGG 

'The Greek Government in its Reply seeks to place reliance 
on the fact that some recent international treaties recognize 
the existence of this rule and its npplicahility to international 
nrbitratipn or otller legnl proceeclings bp expressly incorpo- 
ratiiig the rule in the terms of the treaty itsclf ; but this 
hrtrd6r seems a sufficient reason for excluding its i~pplication 
from al1 cases in which it is not ex~resslv incorvorated. And. 
indeed, the numerous instances wliich will be foiind cited, for 
esample, in the first note on page 819 of Dr. Borcliard's work, 
in ~vhich the rule was ripplied before international tribunals, 
although it had 11ot been incorporated by express terms, as 
well as the passages cited in our original Preliniinary Objec- 
tion, seem fatal to  any sucti conclusion. 1 observe that in the 
Greek Government Reply refeience is made to the fact that 
under the laws of Palestine 31. Jfavrommatis would have t o  
secure the consent in writing of tlie High Commissioiler before 
instituting proceedings in the Palestine Courts against him. 
This is a condition wliich is very familiar to every student 
of British law : it is yractically the reproduction of tlie d e  
in our British Courts by which the fiat of His hfajesty the 
King has to be obtained before proceedings are' commenced 
against him by Petition of Right. It is, 1 hope, a matter of 
comrnon knowledge that this constitutional practice is never 
.under any circumstances used to  prevent the institution of 
any bo.rta fide claim and that the fiat is invariably given 
urlienever a pima facie cause of action is shown. Rut to  
prevent any possibility of misunderstanding or doubt upon 
this matter, 1 have obtained from the High Commissioner 
for Palestine his express statement in writing tliat he would 
of course give his consent to  any proceedings by M. Mavrom- 
matis in the Palestine Courts for the purpose of asserting 
his rigllts against the High Commissioner. That consent, dated 
August ~ z t h ,  1927, is addressed to the Right Hon. L. C. M. S. 
Amery, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, and is 
written from the Government Offices, Jerusalem. It is in 
these terms : 

"Sir, 

"1 have the honou; to refer to litigation pending before the 
Permanent Court of International Justice between His Majes- 
ty's Government and the Government of the Hellenic Republic 
in regard to concessions granted by me to  M. E. Mavrommatis, 
and to  state that if hi.  Mavrommatis instituted proceedings 
in the proper Palestine Courts for breack of contract on the 
ground that 1 failed to approve the plans for the two con- 
cessions within the due dates, 1 should of course grant my 
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consent to the action being brought under the Palestine Crown 
Actions Ordinance, 1926. 

"1 have, etc. 
(Sigrted) PLUMER, F.M., 

High Commissioner." 

For the rcasons which 1 have elaborated above, as well as 
for those whicIi are set out and discussed in our Preliminary 
Objection (which 1 have not thought i t  right to  recûpitulate 
a t  length, altliough tlie Court will understand tliat 1 adhere 
to them and rnnintain them in their integrity), 1 submit that 
the British Government has shown that this claini is wliollv 
misconceived and is one for which there is no jurisdiction for 
this Court to  entertain. 1 do not think that it is altogether 
desirahle in the interests of international courtesy that I 
should discuss the question which is raised at  the end of 
paragraph 13 of the Greek Reply as to lvhether these proceed- 
ings are vesatious. 1 think, however, that in view of some 
of the statements which appear in the revised Case of the 
Greek Government and which appear in a far more objec- 
tionable form in the Case as originaliy lodged by the Greek 
Government, 1 should be allowed to state, on behalf of His 
Majesty'ç Government, as 1 do now state in a most emphatic 
and unequivocal manner, that it is our honest belief that the 
British Government and the Government of Palestine have 
loyally carried out the decision of the Court and the obliga- 
tions imposed upon them under the Mandate for the Govern- 
ment of Palestine, and to  Say that we are perfectly prepared 
to litigate tiiat question in the Palestine Court if and when 
M. Mavrommatis sees fit to ~rosecute his claim before tbat 
municipal tribunal. 

That is tlie çubmiçsion which 1 desire to  make h i  supple- 
ment of thc original written document which 1 have filed, and 
1 should very respectfully ask the Court, on the grounds which 
I have indicated, to declare that i t  has no jurisdiction to . 

entertain the present claim for damages and that M. hlavrom- 
matis should be relegated to  Iiringing the action in the 
appropriate Court, where it can be decided in the appropriate 
manner. 



DISCOURS P R O N O N C ~  PAR M. GIDEL 
(reprksentant le Gouvernement hellénique) 

AUX SEANCES PUBLIQUES DU 9 SEPTEMBRE 1927'. 

Monsieur le Président, 
Messieurs, 

Vous avez déjà rendu deux arrêts dans l'affaire que le 
Gouvernement hellénique s'est vii contraint de vous déférer 
à nouveau. 

Ces deux arrêts constituent un point de départ singulière- 
ment précieux pour ceux qui ont l'honneur de vous soumettre 
des explications orales concernant le présent litige. 

Par votre Arrêt no 2, vous avez proclamé votre compétence 
pour connaître au fond .d'une contestation relative aux conces- 
sions Mavrommatis pour Jbrusalem, à savoir la concession de 
la distribution publique de l'énergie 'électrique et de tramways 
electriques, et une concession de distribution d'eau. 

D'autre part, dans son Arrêt no 5 ,  la Cour décide et juge 
que les concessions accordées à M. Mavrommatis en vertu des 
concessions signées le 27 janvier 1914 et relatives à certains 
travaux devant être exécutés à Jérusalem, sont valables, et  la 
Cour décide en outre que les concessions susvisées accordées 
à M. Mavrommatis tombent sous le coup de l'article 4 du 
Protocole XII de Lausanne, c'est-à-dire qu'elles doivent être 
réadaptées. d 

Voilà, Messieurs, vos deux arrets. 
Aujourd'hui, il s'agit d'un différend qui se pose devant vous, 

aux détails des faits près, exactement dans les mêmes condi- 
tions, et  qui souléve les mêmes questions que vous avez 
d6jA tranchées. 

Le différend actuel, en effet, porte, comme les précédents, 
sur l'interprétation et  l'application des dispositions du Mandat ; 
et c'est pour cela que ce différend est porté à votre barre 
souveraine. Le Gouvernement britannique a-t-il, oui ou non, 
manque, en sa qualité de Puissance mandataire, aux obliga- 
tions internationales acceptees par lui pour la Palestine ? 
Le Gouvernement britannique, disons-nous, a été, -en fait, 
dans I'impossibilité de remplir les engagements internationaux 

Documents cites dans ce discours:. 
Mtmoire htllknique; voir troisléme Partie, no 2, pp. log-175 du présent volume. 
Annexes au Mtmoire hellk~tiquc; voir troisiéme Partie. no za, pp. 176-450. 
Exc8ption prtliminaire britannique; voir troisiéme Partie, no 4, pp. 451-468. 
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dont l'Arrêt no 5 avait défini la nature et précisé la portée. Nous 
avons donc convié le Gouvernement britannique à comparaître 
devant vous. 

Comme en 1924, Messieurs, le Gouvernement britannique décline 
votre compétence. 

Nous estimons, quant à nous, que cette compétence s'impose, 
exactement pour les mèmes raisons que vous avez si attentivement 
déduites dans votre Arrêt no 2. Que la Cour veuille donc bien me 
permettre de lui rappeler les déductions de cet arrêt. 

A la page 19, la question est posée : 

(( La question soumise à la Cour», est-il dit, ((est celle de 
savoir si, en accordant les concessions Rutenberg qui 
portent, au moins en partie, sur les mêmes objets [que 
les concessions Mavrommatis], les autorités palestiniennes 
et britanniques ont méconnu les engagements interna- 
tionaux contractés par le mandataire et dont la Grèce 
pourrait réclamer le bénéfice. » 

Ensuite, votre arrêt retenait l'article II du Mandat, et il en 
présentait l'exégèse; il déterminait Ia limite des droits et 
des obligations qui en résultaient pour l'Administration pales- 
tinienne et pour la Puissance mandataire en matière de 
concessions. Page 23 : «Les pouvoirs attribués par l'article II à 
l'Administration de la Palestine doivent. . . . être exercés sous 
réserve des obligations internationales acceptées par le man- 
dataire. )> 

Réserve nécessaire ; en effet, (( puisque l'article II du Mandat 
reconnaît à l'Administration' de la Palestine une large autono- 
mie, il fallait mettre hors de doute que les pouvoirs accordés 
ne. doivent pas être exercés d'une mani&re qui serait incompa- 
tible avec les engagements internationaux du mandataire)). 
La violation de ces engagements engage la responsabilité inter- 
nationale du mandataire, car, conformément à l'article 12 du 
Mandat, les relations extérieures de la Palestine sont de, 
son ressort. 

Or, parmi ces obligations internationales acceptées par le 
mandataire figurent - continue votre arrêt - celles qui 
étaient primitivement visées par l'article 311 du Traité cle 
Sèvres et  qui ont été finalement incorporées dans le Protocole 
XII du Traité de Lausanne. 

A la page 26, vous dites : rt puisque {la Cour l'a démontré] 
les concessions Rutenberg tombent sous l'application de l'article rx 
du Mandat, il est clair que l'Administration de  la Palestine est 
aussi tenue, par rapport à ces concessions, de respecter les 
obligations résultant, pour la Grande-Bretagne, du Protocole XI 1. 
Si cette Administration, en octroyant les concessions 
Rutenberg, a contrevenu aux obligations susdites, il y a là 
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une atteinte à l'article 1 1  du Mandat, et  cette atteinte peut 
faire l'objet d'une instance devant la Cour, en vertu de 
l'article 26. i i  . . . .  

Enfin, page 28, in fine, vous dites : c( La Cour est cornpé- 
tente pour appliquer le Protocole XII dans la mesure où l'exige 
l'article 11 du Mandat. )) 

Aujourd'hui, Messieurs, par le même raisonnement, votre 
haute juridiction est également compétente pour dire si les 
autorités palestiniennes et  la Grande-Bretagne, en tant que 
Puissance mandataire, se sont acquittées des obligations leur 
incombant aux termes des articles en cause du Protocole XII 
de Lausanne. 

Cette compétence est contestée : le Gouvernement britan- 
nique a déposé, 'en effet, une Exception préliminaire d'incom- 
pétence ; il s'exprime ainsi, page 291 : 

cc Tant que Ie pouvoir confirii à l'Administration par l'article II 
n'a pas &té exercé, la question de l'interprétatioii ou de l'appli- 
cation du Mandat Iie se pose pas. 

s Polir donner i la Cour - dit-il quelques lignes plus loin, 
dans le même passage - compétence de connaître de la 
présente affaire en vertu di1 Mandat, le Gouvernement hellé- 
nique doit prouver que l'Administration de la I'alestine a 
accordé à quelques autres personnes que hl. hlavromrnatis une 
concession ou des droits quelcoiiques, représentant un exercice 
du pouvoir mentionné a l'article II. 1) 

TAS prémisses sont exactes, la conclusion ne l'est pas. 
Les prémisses, c'est : c i  tant que le pouvoir corif6ré à 1'Admi- 

nistration par l'article II n'a pas été exerct'., 1s question 
de l'interprétation ou de l'application du Mandat ne se pose 
pas ii. Nous sommes, Rlessieurç, d'accord sur cette proposition. 

Mais nous sommes en complet désaccord sur la deuxième 
proposition que j'ai eu l'honneur de vous lire, ainsi que sur 
les conclusions tirées par le Gouvernement britannique des 
préinisses' qu'il a posées, prémisses auxquelles, je le répète, 
nous adhérons. 

Quelle est la portCe des actes visés par l'article II du 
Mandat ? Est-ce seulement l'octroi d'une concession ou de 
droits quelconques rcprCsentant un exercice du 'pouvoir men- 
tionnC it l'article r l ,  cn antagonisme, bien entendu, avec les 
droits d'une personne internationalement prot6gi.e ? Ou bien, 
au contraire, est-ce tout fait accompli en usant des pouvoirs 
conférés à lJAdministratiori par l'article XI et qui porte atteinte 
aux droits d'une personne internationaIement yrotégCe 7 

Pratiquement, si, de cette formule un peu théorique du 
dibat, on fait application à la présente instance, le Gouver- @ 

nement britannique vous dit : La Cour n'est pas compé- 
tente, à moins que la Puissance mandataire n'ait toléré un 



manquement aux obligations internationales visées à l'article II, 
et ce manquement ne peut se produire que si une concession 
lésant 11. Mavrommatis a été accordée à hl. Rutenberg. 

Le Gouvernement hellénique déclare, quant à lui, ceci: Le 
manquement aux obligations internationales de la Puissance 
mandataire se produit dès que, dans une procédure quelcon- 
que relevant des pouvoirs visés à l'article II du Nandat, et  
par le jeu dc ces pouvoirs, il a été porté atteinte aux droits 
internationalement protkgds de M. Mavrommatis et qui ont 
été reconnus par votre Arrêt no 5. 

Voilà, hlessieurs, les deux doctrines en présence. 
Je crois - et je demande respectueusement à la Cour la 

permission de l'établir - que cette seconde doctrine, celle que 
soutient le Gouvernement hellénique, est seule conforme B 
votre Arrêt no 2. 

En  effet, hlessieurs, quel est votre raisonnement sur cc 
point spécial ? 

Vous examinez successivement d'après les deux textes, le 
texte français d'abord, puis le texte anglais de l'article 11 
du Mandat, ce que peuvent comprendre ces pouvoirs attri- 
bués à l'Administration de la Palestine. Vous constatez qiic 
Ic texte angIais parait avoir une portée plus restreinte et vous 
adoptez l'interprétation restreinte qui peut se conciIier avec 
les deux textes. - -  - 

Le mot co~ztrol, dites-vous, parait indiquer - page 19 de votre 
arrêt - ((les différentes modalitis de mairimise ou d'ingcrence 
de l'administration publique dans des entreprises qui ne sont 
pas un objet de propriété publique >i. 

Enfin, toujours dans votre Arrèt no 2 ,  ?i la page 20; vous 
concluez que le mot codrol, en anglais, est susceptible de 
deux sens, et que - je cite vos propres paroles - ((ce sens 
plus large de  l'expression anglaise parait être le seul qui 
n'annule pas l'expression « contrôle public ii du téxte français : 
il n'est guère possible d'entendre cette dernière comme 
visant exclusivement le cas où une administration publique 
prend elle-même l'entreprise eri mains. C'est ainsi (je crois 
cette phrase particulièrement importante) que même l'octroi 
d'une concession d',utilité publique à un individu ou à une 
société peut Ctre ûccornpagnt! de mesures qui sont rin exercice 

. du public conlrol. 1) 
Ainsi, dans cet Arrêt no 2, vous procIaniez. Messieurs, d'une 

façon. catégorique, qu'il n'y a pas que l'octroi d'une con- 
cession qui constitue un exercice de public confrol, mais que 
rentrent également dans cet exercice du Public confrol les 
mesures qui peuvent accom$ngner l'octroi d'une concession. 

Aussi bien, Messieurs, ne saurait-il en Ctre autrement : 
l'octroi d'une concession ne se réfère pas purement et sirnple- 
ment a l'instant précis où l e .  titre de concession se trouve 
revetu d'une validité définitive. 



52 DISCOURS PRONONCE PAR hi. GIDEL 

La concession de services publics, cela est vrai dans tous 
. les pays, n'est pas un acte instantané; c'est un complexe 

d'actes, une procédure administrative longue et touffue, suscep- 
tible de s'étendre sur de longs mois, de durer même des 
années, au cours desquelles une infinité d'actes divers, plils OU 

moins en relation avec l'objet final de la concession, peut 
émaner de ce .contrôle public visé par l'article II du Mandat. 

Tous ces acteç qui constituent la  procedure complexe de la 
concession, qui (( accompagnent ri l'octroi d'une concession, 
seront faits par l'Administration qui, dans le cas présent, 
d'après l'article II du Mandat, aura ((pleins pouvoirs pour 
décider quant à la propriété ou au contrôle public de  toutes 
les ressources naturelles du pays, ou des travaux et  services 
d'utilité publique déjà établis, ou à y établir i i .  

' . 
Tous ces actes, Messieurs, non seulement l'octroi de la con- 

cession, mais tous ces complexer d'actes administratifs qui 
accompagnent la concession, tous ces actes doivent étre 
faits, tous, « sous réserve des obligations internationales 

, acceptées par le mandataire n. 
Donc, Messieurs, le Gouvernement hellénique n'a pas, en 

vertu de votre jurisprudence même et contrairement à ce qiie 
prétend notre adversaire, à vous apporter la preuve de l'octroi, 
à M. Rutenberg ou à tous autres, d'une concession directe- 
ment en contradiction avec les concessions de M. Mavrommatis. 

Il suffit au Gouvernement hellénique de prouver que l'Admi- 
nistration palestinienne, ou bien celle du pays mandataire, 
ont fait usage des pouvoirs leur permettant i d e  prendre IJe 
reprends les termes de l'article I r  du Mandat) toutes mesures 
necessaires pour sauvegarder les intérêts de - l a  communauté 
concernant le dbveloppement du pays il, et  des c< pleins pou- 
voirs pour décider quant à ls propriété ou au contrôle public 
de toutes les ressources naturelles du pays ou des travaux 
ou services d'utilité publique déjà établis ou à y établir 1). 

Il suffit, dis-je, de prouver que les administrations compe- 
tentes ont fait desdits pouvoirs un usage quelconque en 
contradiction avec les (c obligations internationales acceptfes par 
le mandataire ii et mentionnées dans ce même article II ; et,' 
dès que cette preuve vous est apportée, votre compétence, 
Messieurs, est fondée. 

Nous devons donc, au cours de ces explications, confronter 
l'exercice fait par les autorités palestiniennes de leurs pouvoirs, 

.mentionnés par l'article II, avec les obligations internationales 
acceptées par la Puissance mandataire en ce qui concerne les 
concessions RIavrommatis. 

Quelle était essentiellement l'obligation de la Grande-Hre- 
tagne ? Elle tient en un mot : réadapter. Je 'supplie respectueu- ' 
sement la Cour , d e  bien vouloir peser le sens de ce mot : 
réadapter. Les circonstances politiques et économiques ont 



tellement changé, du fait de la guerre mondiale, particulière- 
nient - bien entendu - dans les pays qui g ont pris une 
part directe, qu'il n'est plus possible, après Ia guerre, d'appli- 
quer purement et simplement les contrats anciens de conces- 
sions. Ces contrats doivent étre mis en conformit6 des condi- 
tions économiques nouvelles ; plus brièvement, ils doivent 
Ctrc réadaptés. 

Messieurs, une adaptatio1.i ou iine réadaptation, ce n'est pas 
une suppression ; ce ri'cst pas un remplacerneiit ; c'est au 
contraire essentiellement une conservation ; c'est un inaintieii de 
quelque chose qui existait antérieurement ;  nais ce quelque 
chose ne peut plus s'ajuster esactement ailx conditioiis Ccorio- 
miques nouvelles et,  dans les clauses des anciens contrats, 
on doit, en conséquence, modifier telle ou telle stipiilation: 
par exemple, le prix des taxes que paieront les usagers, les 
délais dans lesquels le service public à mettre siir pied devait 
être réalisé ; voilà des ctempies, et on pourrait les multiplier pres- 
que à l'infini, des clauses qui soiit de la nature de la réadap- 
tation. 

Mais supprime-t-on le précédent contrat ? Nullement. On. 
3 soin, au contraire, de le conseryer, de lc maintenir. 

Ici encore, Messieurs, c'est à votre autorité que jc fais appel. 
Si vous voulez vous reporter à l'Arrêt no 5 (page 48 i?t fine), 
vous y lirez ces lignes : 

c c .  . . . le seul moyen pratiquement efficace de maintenir 
des concessions octroyées avant la guerre consiste à les 
readapter a u s  conditions économiques nouvelles ii. 

Donc, la réadaptation, vous l'avez proclamé, est esrentielle- 
ment un maintien. 

Ida Grande-Bretagne con-iprenait-elle autrement ses obligations 
de ce chef lors des débats de l'Arrêt no 5 ?  Nullement. Ida Cour, 
en effet, se plut à ce moment à prendre acte des cl~clarations 
(te son représentant. Votre Arrkt no 5 s'exprime ainsi h la page 43 : 

i ( .  . . . il ne paraît pas permis 'de douter q u e  lc Gou- 
vernement britannique, qui a déclaré vouloir laisser à 
31. irfavrommatis toute liberté de mettre à esécution ses 
concesslons relatives à Jérusaiem, assure loyalement le 
respect de sa parole et,  s'il est nécessaire, protège 
r l l .  Mavronzniatis contre toute le?ttative de g iner  E'ext?cz$tion 
de ses concessions s. 

En résumé, la Puissance mandataire avait assuini: - et Ia Cour 
avait consacré -cet e~igigement - la charge de faire jouir ' 

11. Mavrommatis di1 bénéfice de ses concessions de Jdrusalem 
dans les conditions exigkes par la situatio11 Economiquc nou- 
velle. 

5 



Le Gouvernement hellénique a eu le vif regret de  devoir 
constater que ces obligations n'ont pas été remplies, qu'elles 
n'ont reçu qu'un commencenlent d'exdcution, que les conces- 
sions blavrommatis ont été réadaptées sur le papier, mais 
sans qu'une jouissance effective en fût assurée à leur titulaire. 
C'est pourquoi le Gouvernement hellénique a 6té dans la 
nécessité de saisir la Cour. 

Ici, ~Iessieurs, se présente un point sur lequel le 'désaccord 
est complet entre les deux Gouvmnements, un point qui est 
vital pour l'exception préliminaire dont vous êtes saisis. 

Avant la réadaptation de ses concessions, M. Mavrommatis 
possédait un titre international entraînant votre compétence ; 
la Grande-Bretagne l'avait contesté, mais la Cour a rejeté 
cette prétention. M. i\.Zavrommatis possède-t-il encore aujour- 
cl'liui un titre de cette nature, un titre international ? T,e pos- 
sède-t-il encore aujourd'hui, apvès la réadaptalion de ses 
concessions ? Ou, pour poser la question à l'aide d'autres mots, 
les concessions Rlavrominatis ont-elles ou non subi un change- 
ment de nature total et absolu depuis leur réadaptation et par 
le fait de leur réadaptation ? 

Ide Gouvernement 1ielli.nique estime que les concessions 
réadaptées participent toujours de la nature des concessions 
primitives et  qu'elles contiiiuent à etre un titre international 
et, par suite, susceptible d'ètre évoqué devant la Cour. Le 
Gouvernenient britannique, au contraire, soutient que les 
concessions Mavrommatis réadaptées ne sont plus qu'un titre 
purement interne qui n'est pas susceptible d'Ctre invoqué 
devant vous et qui ne poiirrait être, porté que dans les prC- 
toires de la Palestine. C'est entre ces deux thEses, Ricssieurs, 
que vous aurez à vous prononcer. 

Admettons - nous dit Ie Gouvernement britannique - 
que vos réclamatioiis . soient fondées ; admettoiis que nous 
n'ayons pas fait ce que nous devions. Si h l .  Blavrommatis 
a à se plaindre de tlous, qu'il nous assigne devant nos juridic- 
tions internes. Eri effet, les ariciennes concessions qui - la Cour 
l'a jugé - entrainaient 1 : ~  compétence de la Cour, n'existent 
plus ; elles ont étC remplacées par le contrat du 2 j février 
1926 ; ce contrat fait table rase et,  sur cet espace désormais 
iiu, un édifice cornplèternent nouveau a étC construit. 

?dessieurs, cette thèse est rejetCe avec force par le Gouver- 
nement hellénique ; elle nous paraît totalemerit inadmissible. 
Ide droit anglais permet-il d'estimer que les anciennes conces- 
sions ont disparu ? C'est là un point devant lequel je lie puis 
que montrer la plus extreme réserve. 

Mais, &Iessieurs, si lc droit anglais est applicatle aus  contrats 
de février 1926, et quelles que soient les dispositions du 
clroit anglais sur ce point, il est une chose que je puis affir- 
mer de toutes mes forces: c'est que ces disposi.tioiis, quelles 



qu'elles soient, ne sauraient l'emporter sur celles du droit 
international s'il y a un conflit entre le droit anglais et le 
droit international. 

Il va de soi qu'il en serait de même pour n'importe quelle 
loi interne, de quelque pays que ce soit. E t  c'est une vérité 
élémentaire que cette primauté du droit international. 

Mais, nous dira-t-on, vous oubliez le texte du contrat. Ides 
Parties ont stipulé (clause 46 de la concession, page 122) que 
les ((présentes seraient interprétées et construites conformément 
aux lois anglaises et recevraient effet en conséquence )i. C'est 
bien, en effet, ce qui figure dans le contrat. Il n'y a rien là 
que de très naturel, et le Gouvernement hellénique n'a pas un 
seul instant l'intention de vous demander de tenir cette clause 
pour non avenue. Cette clause, elle a son domaine d'applica- 
tion tout tracé. La concession va mettre en .présence le 
concessionnaire et les pouvoirs concédants pendant une durée 
de soixante années environ. Il n'est pas possible que, pendant 
ces soixante années, ne surgisse pas quelque difficulté concer- 
nant l'application de la concession, concernant l'interprétation 
de ses clauses. Alors, le droit anglais s':rppliquera pour ces 
litiges susceptibles de surirenir entre le pouvoir concédant et 
le concessionnaire. C'est une précaution parfaitement -louable ; 
plus que cela, c'est une précaution nécessaire que d'avoir 
stipulé un droit auquel il faudra que le concessionnaire et le 
concédant se réfèrent en cas de difficultés pendant la durée de 
leur contrat. 

Mais l'existence même du contrat ne peut être régie que 
par le droit international. Et ,  ici, je ne fais pas appel au 
droit international commun, aux principes de la succession des 
États. Je fais appel à ce droit international conventionnel qui 
résulte de l'engagement assumé par la Grande-Bretagne de se 
conformer aux règles du Protocole XII de Lausanne. 

Messieurs, ce droit international conventionnel domine 
l'existence du contrat, et 'c'est détourner de son sens la clause 
très judicieuse d'application du droit anglais pour la durée de 
la concession, que de prétendre appliquer cette clause de droit 
interne à l'existence d'une concession qui est régie par une 
disposition internationale conventionnelle. 

Or, de quoi s'agissait-il dans cette clause conventionnelle ? 
Il s'agissait de réadaptation. j'ai dit tout ce que ce mot com- 
portait ; j'y insiste sans y revenir. 

Vous dira-t-on, Messieurs, que M. Mavrommatis a renoncé 
absolument à ses anciennes concessions ? 11 y a renoncé ; mais 
in consideration; on ne 'peut pas dissocier arbitrairement le 
contrat, prendre un paragraphe et  laisser l'autre de côté. Le 
paragraphe 3 et le paragraphe 4 sont formellement liés ; il y a 
eu un contrat synallagmatique. M. Mavrommatis a consenti 

- à certaines modalités de rkadaptation en échange de l'octroi 



de cette concession réadaptée, et  d'une concession rdadaptke 
effective. 11 y a eu un contrat synallagmatique, peut-être un 
contrat innommé de zrt jnci~s, jacient jacins, etc. ; cela importe 
peu pour la discussion actuelle. 11 siiffit de constater qu'il y a 
eu contrat synallagmatique, et il ne s'agit pas d'aller contre la 
lettre du contrat en . sùbstituaiit je ne sais quelle intention 
problématique des Parties A iin texte clair. 

Le texte, n o u s  le defendons en attirant l'attention sur 
l'importance des mots in consideratio~a. Les conditions dans 
lesquelles ce contrat est intervenu ne permettent pas de traiter 
légèrement ces mots « en considération i i .  Les Parties savaient 
ce qu'elles faisaient ; elles savaient qu'elles ccréada$tazent » ; 
elles savaient donc qu'elles ?wninfe~zuie+tt en ajzistant simplement 
aux conditions économiqiies nouvelles. Elles avaient reçu de la 
Cour'l'injonction de réadapter par votre Arrêt no 5, et il ne 
pouvait être question que de rdadapter, puisque votre Arrêt 
no j décide expressCrnent que les concessions tombent soïis 
l'application de l'article 4 clii Protocole de Lausanne. 

Dans votre Arrêt no z (page 141, v o i i ~ a v e z  d'ailleurs une 
expression bien significative et qui me parait d'une essentielle 
portée : 

c( f es négociations n, dites-vous, ;i entre l'intéressé et les 
autorités se sont toujours diiroulCes dans le cadre d'actes 
internationaus. ii 

Que la Cour me permette, Messieurs, de reprendre cette 
expression .de .  votre ArrCt ri" 2 c t  d'en faire application 2 la 
présente phase de l'affaire comme ellc s'appliquait aux phases 
précédentes. 

C'est dans le ((cadre d'actes internat ion aux)^ que les 
concessions réadaptées ont ot6 classées, et c'est dans le cadre 
d'actes internationaus que ces 'coiicessions réadaptées se 
trouvent encore. Par conséqrient, l'accord, quel qu'il soit, passé 
.entre M. Mavrommstis et  les autorités compétentes, est 
domin6 par le droit international ; il est dans le (1 cadre d'actes 
internationaux ii, et ces actes internationaux établissent A 
l'égard de la Grande-Bretagne une obligation à laq~ielle elle 
ne saurait se soirstraire. 

Ma conclusion sur ce point est doiic catégorique. 31. 3lavrorn- 
-matis ou le Gouvernement lielléiiique - qui prend fait 
et cause pour lui - ont, aujourd'liui comme .hier, après la 
réadaptation comme avant, toujours entre les mains un titrc 
international qui, pour autant que les autres conditions de 
l'article II sont reniplies, assure nu ,Goiivernernent hellénique 
un droit à votre comp6tencc. 

Je dois examiner maintenant, Messieiirs, si les actes qui 
ont lésé M. Mavrommatis rentrent bien dans la catégorie de 
ceux visés dans l'article II du Mandat. 



Est-ce bien de son droit de pztblic control que l'Administration 
de la Palestine a fait usage en faisant des actes qui ont été 
préjiidiciübles A M. Mavrommatis ? 

Je  ne reviens pas sur la définition que .vous avez donnde 
du flztblic control, définition D laquelle j'ai eu l'honneur de 
rne réfcrer tout à l'heure. Pour le moment, je ne veiis 
déduire de là que la nécessité, qui s'impose à nous, d'esarnincr 
attentivement les faits de la cause. 

Le Gouvernement hellénique n'a, pas plus que le Gouverne- 
nient britannique, le désir d'entrer dans une investigation 
détaillée des faits, pour autant que cette investigation ne 
serait pas nécessaire à l'établissement de votre compétence ; 
mais un certain nombre de points de fait sont essentiels pour 
I'établisseinent de cette compCtcncc : ce sont ces points , cle 
fait que je vous demande maintenant la permission de vous 
soumet trc. 

Il n'y a d'ailleurs pas chaiicc que nous nous engagions 
dans une controverse sur la matérialité des faits, car, à très 
peu d'exceptions près, le Gouvcrneinent britannique a bien 
voulu reconnaître que, tout au moins pour les besoins de la 
présente cause (je ne crois pas trahir la pensée de son très 
éminent représentant), il était d'accord sur la matérialité de 
presque tous les faits que nous invoquons. 

Mais le Gouvernement britannique, qui vous a présenté un 
exposé d'un grand nombre 'de ces faits, vous a dit, par 
l'organe de son très éminent 'represcntant, que ces faits doivciit 
être propevly zcnderstood ; c'est cette compréliension appropriéc, 
Messieurs, que le Gouvernement hellénique demande Ia pcr- 
mission de vous soumettre ; il pense que cette esacte compré- 
hension des faits ne peut conduire qu'A une conclusion, à 
savoir, votre compétence. 

Nous ne somines pas tout à fait d'accord avec le Gouver- 
nement britannique sur cette compréheiisioii des faits ; j'espose , 
la thèse britannique d'après le no 7 de son Exception préli- 
minaire d'incompétence ; voici la substance de cette argumen- 
tation : 

Les concessioris liutenberg de Jaffa ne portaient pas atteinte 
aux droits de M. Mavrommatis, - l'ArrCt no 5 l'a déclaré. 

Les concessions liutenberg du Jourdain iie portaient atteinte 
à la concession (i Mavrommatis électricité ii que par une de 
leurs clauses, l'article 29. 

Quant à ln concession « ~Iavrommatis eau potableii, elle lie 
se heurtait en rien à la concession Rutenberg du Jourdaiii. 

Ici, iIIeçsieurç, je demande h faire tout de suite quelques 
réserves sur cette allégation, car, à ce moment, la Cour, en 
se prononçant sur la question, ne pouvait examiner le pro- 
blème qu'à un point de vue;  or, à ce point de vue, votre 
décisioii était et continue. à etre encore parfaitement exacte : 



vous avez déclaré que toute personne, nonobstant les conces- 
sions Iiutenberg sur le Jourdain, avait droit à la production 
de la jorce hydro-électrique, inais pour son propre usage. 

Y a-t-il eu, continue le Gouvernement britannique, d'autres 
concessions accordées que celles de Rutenberg ? Non, dit 
l'Exception préliminaire britannique. 

Alors, nous demancie-t-on, en quoi a-t-on porté atteinte 
aux droits de M. illavrommatis ? et, en continuant, le Gouver- 
nement britannique donne, de son argumentation, uri résumé 
dans lequel il m'a scinblé que la note, sarcastique n'était pas 
complètement absente. 

i< La suggestion du Gouvernement hellénique, noils a-t-il dit 
(p;-ge 292), parait etre que, 6tant donné que Rutenberg preien- 
dait que l'article z de sa concession de Jafla le mettait à 
même de s'opposer A ce qiie M. Mavrommatis fû t  autorisé A 
se servir des eaux d'lzl-Aiiclja pour sa concession d'eau, .le 
Gouvernement britannique, d'une manière ou d'une autre, - on 
ne précise pas exactement comment, - a lésé M. Mavrommatis 
en accordant finalement à Kutenberg sa concession du Jourdain. » 
. Vous voyez, hlessieurs, en quoi consiste le défaut de logique 
qui nous est reproché : nous parlons d'abord de la concession 
de Jaffa, puis de la concession du Jourdain, et nous établis- 
sons, à, en croire le Gouvernement britannique, uii lien qui 
n'existe pas entre ces deux concessions. 

11 me sera facile de vous démontrer que le lien, s'il est 
indirect, n'en existe pas moins; il est méme trks certain. Je 
vais en. apporter la preuve. 

Permettez-moi d'ii~diquer le plan que M .  1Zutetiberg a contu, 
qu'il a appliqué, par lequel il a, avec la complaisance des 
autorités responsables, entravé la mise à exécution des conces- 
sions Mavrommatis. 

Ce plan est très clairement exposé déjà dans notre Mémoire, 
no 68, page 21  ; j'irai donc aussi vite que possible. 

Le but que se proposait M. Rutenberg, c'était de devenir 
le seul maître des concessions en Palestine; et nous savons à 
quoi nous en tenir sur ses intentions par ilne pièce qui figure 
sous le no 82 des annexes, page 184. : 

Xous avons l i ,  en effet, le récit d'une entrevue particulière- 
ment intéressante de RI. I'Cutenberg avec l'agent dc 31. blavrom- 
iiiatis, et dans laquelle il tente, ail moment qu'il croit favorable 
pour une suprême tentative, d'obtenir définitivenient les avan- 
tages qu'il désirait depuis longtemps. 

Il confirme, à cette occasion, tout ce que les faits avaient 
s~lrabondamment manifesti:; nous constatons d'abord que, 
comme entrée en matière dans ces conversations, JI. Rutenberg 
déclare qu'il sera accommodant. 

Il est devenu, depuis cinq ans, plus sage et plus doux; 
exorde insinuant, mais de là, Messieurs, l'aveu que je retiens 



surtout, que la lutte poursuivie par Rutenberg contre Blavrom- 
matis remontait à cinq années. 

I l  déclare ses intentions aricieiines et futures, sans aucun 
ambage ; il s'était opposC, dit-il, et il continuera son opposition 
à l'approbation dii projet et des.pIans ;\Tavrornrnatis, de pren- 
dre de l'eau à la source El-Audja. Il coiitinuera cette oppo- 
sition, à moins quc M. hIavrommatis ne corisente à lui vendre 
et à lui transfcrer sa concession d'électricité. 

En  effet, 31. Rutenberg déclare qu'il a pris l'avis de ses Iiomines 
de loi et  que, d'après eus, il possède le droit d'empêcher le Colo- 
nial Office (par une requête n en Cour ii, aux fins d'injonctioiis) 
d'approuver les plans de JI. hiavrommatis pour prendre de 
l'eau dans la source El-hudja. 

Tl fait état de ses démarches répétées auprès d a  Colonial 
Office ; et, après ces menaces qui ont succkdé aux déclarations 
pleines de conciliation du début, il propose deux solutions 
d'entente. 

Ou bien (première solution), si M. bIavrommatis n'est pas 
disposé à lui vendre sa concession d'électricité de Jérusalem, 
alors Ruteriberg consentira bien à se dcsister de son obstruc- 
tion quant à Iri source El-Audja, - mais i la condition qu'on 
lui paye, pour cette utilisation de l'eau, une redevance de 
£g.ooo par an : telle est la première proposition. 

La deuxième est 1rÏ suivante: si vous consentez à me vendre 
votre concession d'électricité, dit-il, pour £ro.ooo, alors l'affaire 
sera rapidement terminée. 

11. Rutenberg ira - nous devons étre le dimanche - dès le 
lundi matin au Colonial Office, et, à IO heures du matin, (( un petit 
morceau de papier ii sera signé par lequel AI. Mavrommatis 
transférera la concession d'électricité ; liutenberg lui donnera 
un chèque de ~ ~ o . o o o ,  et son opposiiion sous toutes les formes 
(sous toutes les formes est irit4ressant) aux concessio~is d'eau de 
BI. hIavrommatis sera retirée. 

E t  le Colonial Office approuvera i~n~riddiuleilzertt (nt once) le 
transfert, la régularisation des concessions. 

Voilà, Alessieurs, ce document qui est bien significatif. 
Je reconnais très volontiers que  ce document n'est pas 

signé par BI. Iiiitenberg lui-meme. j e  suis tout dispoçi: A 
admettre que l'agent de AI. hIavrommatis a pu, sur certains 
points, forcer la note humoristique ; il n'en reste pas moins 
singulièrement interessant de voir le iiiarché cynique proposé 
par hl .  Rutenberg à l'agent de 31. Mavrommatis, dévoilant tous 
ses moyens d'action, tous ses plans, et  essayant de tirer parti 
de la situation, ddjk pénible, dans laquelle se trouvait à cette 
époque hl. Jlavrommatis, du fait de la non-approbation de ses 
concessions, déposées cependant depuis si longtemps, - pour 
obtenir un marché avantageux, couronnant son opposition 
et ses manœiivres. 



En effet, la situation était la suivante: Le 31 septembre 
1921, 31. Rutenberg avait obtenu une promesse de concession 
d'énergie Iiydro-électrique sur les eaux du Jourdain. Daris ce 
projet, vous vous le rappelez, figurait l'article 29 que votre 
haute juridiction ri déclaré illicite. Dès lors, le moyen d'action 
directe sur lequel $1. Rutenberg pouvait compter grâce 5 
l'article 29 lui faisait defaut ; et  il passa i un plan d'action, 
indirecte. S'il parvenait A paralyser la coiicession de  distribu- 
tion d'eau de Jérusaiein, il pourrait acheter à vil prix la conces- 
sion électricité ;\lavrommatis et  la concession de distribiition 
d'eau potable 3iavrommatis pour ]Crusalem. 

31. Rutenberg se clit que sa concession de Jaffa lui en four- 
nissait le moyen ; il se prévaut de ce qtic l'rirrkt de la Cour 
avait tenu pour constant que cette concession ne touchait pas 
aux droits rCsulta11t des concessions hfavrornmatis. Or, la 
concession de Jaffa permettait à hI. IZutenberg d'utiliser les 

. eaux de la source El-Audja. Il imagine donc de prétendre, 
dès qu'il sait que la co~icession 31avroinmatis va utiliser 
l'eau d'El-Audja, quc lui, Rutenberg, possède l'usage excliisif de 
Ia source El-Audja. 

II eût éti: facile de ddjouer cette manœuvre si les autorités 
palestiniennes l'avaient voulu. Uii homine qui demande une 
concession est plus ou nioins sous l'action des autorités à qui 
il la demande. Ces autorités ont une arme contre lui : l'octroi 
de Ia concession ; et, jusqu'au moment où l'acte est pasX, 
un pouvoir discrétionnairc. 31. liutenberg émet, au titre de sa 
concession de Jaffa, qui est en règle, qui lui a été accordée, 
des prétentioris excessives. Or, au mème moment, il est en 
instance. pour une autre concession. 

Que peut faire l'Administration?.Elle peut lui dire: Si vous 
ne renoncez pas la prétention excessive que vous faites 
valoir d'après une concession, valable, je le veux bien, mais 
qui ne. vous doii~ic nullement Ies droits que vous prétendez 
avoir, si vous ne retirez pas cette prktention, je ne vous donne 
pas l'autre concessici~i que vous sollicitez. Le moyen était Jrhs 
simple. L'Administration palestinienne pouvait l'employer, si 
elle le voulait. Messieurs, elle ne le voulut pas. Elle accorda 
à ce tout-puissant personnage, le 5 mars 1926, quelques jours 
après la signature en règle des concessions réadaptées Mavrom- 
matis, l'autre concession que demandait M. liutenberg. Celui-ci 
eût été bien bon, dans ces conditions, de ne pas poursuivre 
l'exécution de sa manœuvre, puisque les autorités palesti- 
niennes le traitaient avec tant de complaisance. 

Dans la procédure Ccrite, il est indique quc ' le  moyen qui 
devait venir à l'esprit de quiconque voulait considérer un 
instant la question, avait été, rion r eu le ment aperçu, mais 
suggéré par. queIqu'un. Ce quelqu'un, c'est M. T,eeç, l'honora- 
ble directeur des Travaux .publics de 1'Adrninistration de la 



Palestine. Dans la procédure écrite, vous trouverez l'affirma- 
tion que M. tees avait déposé une note, oii un mémoire écrit, 
suggérant cette possibilité d'action . pour l'Administration 
palestinienne afin de vaincre les résistances, coiidamnées par 
31. Lees, cela va de soi; cela résulte du  documeiit même auqrrel 
il est fait allusion à l'égard des concessions 3Iavrommatis. 

Le Gouvernement britannique a dénié l'existence de ce 
rapport de M. Lees; il a produit h la Cour iin télEgrammc 
de M. 1,ees. Nous ne pouvons que nous incliner devant les 
affirmations de M. Leeç ; nous ne pouvons que iioiis incliiier 
devant les affirmations gui ont été produites par le Gouver- 
nement britannique. 

Mais rious ne tlouvons. nous aussi. aue maintenir les affir- 
r L 

mations que nous avons produites, en les laissant à In person- 
nalité de qui elles dmanent et dont l'honorabilité et la siiua- 
tion sont telles que nous devons laisser la Cour purement et 
simplement eii pr6sence de deux affirmations contradictoires : 
d'une part, l'affirmation de 3'l. Lees, contenue dans le telé- 
gramme produit i la Cour ; d'autre part, l'affirmation dc 
sir Harnar Greenwood, K.C., ancien sous-secrétaire d ' c t a t  pour 
les Colonies, ex-ministre d'Irlande, actuellement membre de la 
Chambre des Communes. et exoert du Gouvernement helléniuue 

I 

pour la rbadaptation des concessions Mavrommatis. 
En présence de ces affirmations opposées, si la Cour jugeait 

vraiment ce point essentiel, il lui serait facile de pousser ses 
recherches à fond. Pour ma part, je ne crois pas, Messieurs, 
que le point soit vraiment essentiel. 

Quoi qu'il en soit, RI. Rutenberg paralyse la procédure 
ci'approbation des concessions Mavrommatis. Voiis l'avez 
entendu, par, la pièce que j'ai citée tout à l'heure, se targuer 
de son influence, dklarer : a Que .Mavrommatis vienne avec ' 

moi au Colonial Office demain à ro heures ; tout sera fait 
immédiatement. ~i Est-ce là simple vantardise? Est-ce que 
M. Rutenberg se targuait d'un crédit imaginaire ? Je ne le 
crois pas ; nous avons tout lieu en effet de supposer que son 
influence était extrêmement forte et s'exerçait d'une ~nnnière 
très efficace auprès de toutes les autorités compétentes. 

Aussi bien, Messieurs, savez-vous déjà à quoi vous en tenir 
sur ce point, .car la forte position de hl. Rutenberg auprès 
des autorités palestiniennes est amplement connue de la Cour 
par les débats précédents. La complaisance de ces autorités 
à l'égard de AI. Rutenberg peut être déduite de faits qui 
sont relatés dans votre Arrêt no j. Il est constaté par cet 
arrêt (page 18) qu'entre le mois de septembre 1921 et la 
période de mars à mai 1922, des cont~ersations eurent lieu 
sur la demande du Colonial Office. Je cite textuellement votre 
arrêt : 



c c .  , . sur la demande du Colonial Office, des conver- 
sations eurent lieu également avec M. Rutenberg et avec 
le président et d'autres représentants de l'Organisation 
sioniste. Le Colonial Office était tenu au courant de ces 
conversations . . . . 

c c .  . . En août 1922, M. hlavrommatis fut informé, par 
voie indirecte, que, de l'avis du Colonial Office, I) ses 
concessions lui confCraient certains droits ; 2) ces droits 
devaient être respectés ; 3) il. devait se mettre d'accord 
avec .hl.  Rutenberg, ou bien 4) soumettre au Goiiverne- , 

ment de Palestine des propositions tendant transformer 
les concessions . en une possibilité réelle de fournir à 
Jérusalem des tramways et de l'eau. ii 

31. ATavrommatis se conforme à cette dernière suggestion ; 
il présente des plans. biais le Colonial Office lui répond, le 
21 octobre, d 'une façon qui nous Ie montre dispose à sous- 
estimer et à moritier à RI. ;\;Iavrommatis qu'il sous-estime 

. l'importance de sa concession. 
« . . . en ce qui concerne la concession eau, !) dit encore 

votre arrét à la page 19, (( la création, pendant la guerre, 
d'une installation siiffisante pour l'alimentation en eau 
de Jérusalem, semblait avoir Ôté toute valeur à la 
concessiori 1). 

Enfin, je tiens 5 attirer respectueusement l'attention de la 
Cour sur la pièce r i o  48 (page ,1j5) des annexes. Cettc pièce, 
émanant di1 sous-secrétaire d'Etat pour les Coloiiies, est 
adressée a sir Hamar Grcenwood ; elle est datée dc T,ondrcs, 
le 9 juillet 1926. Ilans cette lettre, le Colonial Office insiste 
très vivement pour que RI. hlavrommatis écoute avec une 
oreille aussi bienveillante que possible les propositions de 
M. Rutenberg : (( Qu'un ~lzodtcs vivendi s'établisse entre eux ! i Ces 
propositions, vous les connaissez; vous savez leur caractère 
dérisoire. 

Voilà comment, par l'indication de ces faits, se réjoignent 
des actes, différents en apparence, je le veux bien, mais dont 
la connexité est réelle et même évidente, dès que l'on prend le 
dossier en mains. I,'opposition de M. Rutenberg, la con~plaisance 
de l'Administration palestinienne à l'cgard de M. Iziitenberg : 
voilà les causes des retards subis pour leur approbation par les 
concessions réadaptées Mavroininatis. 

Messieurs, comme vous l'avez jugé dans votre ArrEt no z 
(page 19, alinéa j), il y a un lien qui unit les concessions 
Rutenberg et les conceçsions Mavrommatis, et  qui résulte, 
avez-vous dit, de (( l'identité partielle de l'objet ». 

Quel est cet objet partiellement identique clans les deus 
concessions ? Vous l'avez deviné déjà : c'est la source El-Audja ; 
c'est d'elle pu'ii'nous faut maintenant parler. 



Messieurs, si la source El-Audja est le point de contact entre 
les concessions Rutenberg et  les concessions ~~avrommat i s ,  
si elle constitue bien cette identité partielle de l'objet reconnu 
dans vos décisions, l'intérêt apparaît capital de savoir à 
partir de quel moment l'Administration palestinienne a su que ' 

l'usage de la source El-Audja etait nécessaire à M. Mavrom- 
matis pour l'exécution de sa concession d'eau potable. 

La thèse qui vous a été exposée par le Gouvernement britannique 
est que I'Administration palestinienne n'aurait connu l'intérêt 
de la source El-Audja pour 1s concession d'eau potable Mavrom- 
matis qu'après que M. 12iitenberg s'était vu conférer sa concession 
du Jourdain, après le 5 mars 1926, donc après que l'Administration 
palestinienne ne disposait plus contre M. Rutenberg de ce moyen 
d'action qu'aurait pu comporter la non-approbation définitive des 
autres cancessio~is di1 Jourdain. Ln thèse hellénique, s u  contraire, 
est que, dès le dEbut des nfigocintions tendant à la réadaptation des 
concessions Mavroinmatiç, par conséquent dès la fin de l'été 1925, 
les autorités palestiniennes savaient parfaitement que la source 
El-Audja était la seule qui permit d'alimenter en eau potable, 
dans des conditions satisfaisantes, l'agglomération de Jérusalem. 
La thèse hellénique prétend également que, dès l'été 1925, M. Ruten- 
berg avait marque son opposition à l'utilisation d'El-Aiidja. 
Donc, dès ce moment, les autorités palestiniennes avaient le devoir 
de se préoccuper des difficultés ainsi posées. 

C'est au printemps 1925 que hl. Alavrommatis et  les ingénieurs 
qui collaboraient avec lui décidèrent d'utiliser les eaux d'El- 
Audja. Pourquoi ? Parce que le programme à réaliser n'était 
plus ce qu'il était en 1914, au moment où les concessions 
avaient été établies sous le Gouvernement ottoman. L'agglomé- 
ration de Jérusalem s'était, depuis lors, développée considéra- 
blement, et c'est un total dc près de roo.ooo habitants qu'il 
fallait désormais alimenter en eau potable, de sorte que les 
débits prévus, qui ctaient de 3.000 m3 originellement, ont 
passé à 6.000 m3 d'une façon normale et, éventuellement, pour 
prévoir une extension possible de I'agglon~émtion de Jérusalem, 
à 12.000 m3. 

Dans ces conditions, il fallait se préoccuper d'une source 
abondante et clont la qualité fût certaine. Comment etablis- 
sons-nous que c'est nu printemps de 1925 que nous avons 
commencé à parler d'iinc façon ferme de l'eau d'El-Audja, 
que nous avons saisi dès ce moment les autorités britanniques, 
les autorités palesti~liennes ayant été, A leur tour, saisies 
quelques mois plus tard ? 

Nous le prouvons d'abord par notre annexe j (page 61) ; 
il s'agit d'une lettre accompagnée d'un mémorandum (la 
lettre sous l'annexe 4, le mémorandum sous l'annexe 5), 
qui  furent transmis par 31. Iklavrommatis à la Légation de 
Grèce et qui furent transmis à leur tour par la Légation de 



f>4 DISCOURS P R O S O N C ~  PAR M. G I D E L  

Grèce au Foreign Oflice. Si vous vous reportez nii rriérnorar~- 
dum, vous y voyez ce qui suit (page GI, troisième alinéa) : 

(r En vertu de l'article j, le concessionnaire [M. Mavrom- . rnatis] a le droit de souniettre tout autre projet, afin de le 
mettre à même de fournir la ville de Jérusalem et de com- 
pléter la fourniture d'eau ; cn raison des pouvoirs conférés 
dans cet article, il aura le droit d'utiliser les eaus d'El- 
-4udja à cet. effet. -4u cas où il trouverait nécessaire de le 

. faire, il présume qu'aucun obstacle rie lui  sera opposé. » 

Donc, dès le mois de mai 1925, 'M.  3Iavrommatis demande 
à avoir ses coudées franches cn ce qui concerne l'iitilisation 
d'El-Audja. La lettre que je viens de citer est parvenue aux 
autorités britanniques, accompagnée du mémorandum ; l'annexe 7 
le prouve ; cette annexe est une lettre 'du ministre de Grèce 
à Londres, A M. Mavrornrnatiç, timbrée sous le na 1666, 
Londres, le 18 juin 1925. Elle est ainsi conçue : 

(i Honorable $Ionsieur, 

((Le Foreign Office m'a communiqiiC qu'il a soiiniis VOS 

propositions relatives à vos concessions de Palestine aux auto- 
rités anglaises de Palestine. Sitôt réception de leur réponse, 
il discutera la matibre avec votrc représentant. ii 

Une deuxième preuve que, dès le printcrnps 1925, l'atten- 
tion des autorités compétentes a étd attirée sur la ridcessit& 
de prévoir l'utilisation de la source El-Aiidja pour lcs conces- 
sions Mavrommatis, résultc de la déclaration d'un ingCnieur 
spécialiste de travaux Tiydrauliques de la maison liofe Tu 
Son;  il s'agit de JI. Raffety. Cette lettre est datée du 
7 mars 1927 et s'exprime ainsi (page 236 des annexes au 
Mémoire hellénique) : 

<t Le choix de la source de 12as-el-Aïn oii El-Aiidja a été 
envisagé par nous deus avant et pendant les ncgociations de 
31. Kaffety avec 3I. T.ees, directeur des travaux publics de 
Palestine, concernant les conditions de la nouvelle concession. ii 

Et 31. Raffety a fait une dkclaration assermentCe dans lc 
même sens ; l'affidavit est déposé auprès de la Cour. 

Une autre preuve résultc de la lettre clc sir W. Greeriwood 
du j septembre 1927, car son autorité vient d'être invoquée 
afin qu'il puisse, lui aussi, vous donner des apaisements à 
cet égard. Cette lettre est ainsi conçue : 

«Cher Monsieur, 1) écrit sir Hamar Greenwood à hliiI. Iltest- 
bury, Preston & Stavridi, solicitors à Londres, <i je suis tombé 
d'accord et j'ai signé la concession Mavrommatis réadaptée, 
en m'entendant avec 31. Lees, expert pour le Gouvernement 



britannique, que les eaux d'El-Audja seraient à la disposition . 
du concessionnaire pour la fourniture d'eau de Jérusalem et 
de la contrée environnante. i 

Pour contredire ces indications relatives aii choix d'El-Audja 
bien avant que la concession du Jourdain ii'eiît kt(': régularisée 
au profit de XI. Rutenberg, le Gouvernement britannique 
contesta l'argument que iious avions apporté. 

Cet argument était le suivant: nous avions dit dans notre 
Blémoire : le prix qui a été fixé pour le mètre cube d'eau 
prouve que 3 .  Mavrommatis entendait utilises pour la 
concession les sources d'El-Audja et non pas les sources, plus 
proches de Jérusalem, mentionnées dans la coi~cesaion primi- 
tive,' à savoir les sources d'Aïn-Fnrx et d'iiïn-Eavouar, qui 
ne pouvaient donner qu'lin debit insiiffisant ; le prix de sept 
piastres le mètre cube tient compte, en effet, des travaux 
beaucoup plus considéral~les qu'il iaudra faire pour aller cher- 
cher les eaux de la source El-Autlja, notriblcnient plus éloignée. 

C'est presque le double qu'il faut taxer le prix di1 mètre 
cube d'eau, si l'on va clierclier les cntix de la source El-Audja, 
par rapport au tarif qu'il suffirait de percevoir en faisant les 

~ i .  eni. travaux sur les sources proclies de Jérus l 
Mais cette nécessiti: s'imposait parce que - l'été 1924, 

particulièrement sec, avait permis de s'en rendre compte - 
les sources primitivement envisagées n'étaient pas capables 
de donner un débit suffisant. 

Que répond à cela la Grande-13retagne ? Vous avez entendu 
cette argumentation i votre audience d'hier. Le Gouver- 
nement britannique invoque un rapport qui figure à la page 135 
des annexes, un rapport qui' est fait à la maison John 
'[aylor, une maison d'ingdnieurs. Et ce rapport, nous dit-on 
(alinéa IO, page ,135)~ déclare que les travaux coûteront aussi 
cher avec El-Audja, mais pas plus cher qu'avec les autres 
sources. 

J'avoue, Messieurs, que j'avais i té  frappé par l'argument 
de mon honorable adversaire ; je me suis donc reporté au 
teste de ce mémorandum, et j'ai constaté qu'il nc voulait 
c~ucunement dire ce que le Gouvernement britannique a cru 
pouvoir en tirer. 

En effet, les auteurs du rapport nc comparelit pas'les sour- 
ces primitivement envisagées, la source d'Aïn-Farn et Aïn- 
I~avouar, avec la source El-Audja ; ce qu'ils coinparent, c'est 
El-Audja avec d'autres sources qui ne sont ni Ain-Fara ni 
:Yin-Favouar, et  qui sont Egalernent plus C.loignées de Jérusa- 
lem que ces derniCresl. 

. '' Je  demande, Akssieurç, la permission d'ajouter irn iiiot: l'alinéa 3 de ce 
même document. page 135, est absolument probant dans le sens que j'indi- 
quais ; il est ainsi conçu : 



Donc, puisque la distance kilométrique est à peu près la 
même pour ces sources, il est tout naturel que les pris  soient . 
les mêmes pour l'adduction venant d'El-Audja et  pour celle 
venant de ces sources, venant de Jéricho. 

Mais, je le répète, et j'iiisiste beaucoup sur ce point, les 
sources comparées à El-Aiidja dans ce rapport Taylor ne sont 
pas celles primitivemerit envisagées dans la concession de 1914. 

Vous voyez doric, Neçsieurs, quc . l'argument invoqué par la 
Grande-Rretagiie ne repose que sur une  nép prise et  qu'il tombe 
complètemeiit. 

Les rapports des ingénieurs envoyés par 31. 3lavrommatis et  
la maison Jackson, en janvier 1926, établissent que, dès les 
études préliminaires faites contradictoire~nent avec les ingé- 
nieurs palestiniens, on était tombé d'accord sur la nécessité 
d'utiliser l'eau d'El-Audja. 

E t  M. Lees, l'honorable directeur des Travaux publics de la 
Palestine, était d'accord sur la nécessit6 d'utiliser cette.source. 
Vous vous en rendrez compte en constatant, page 154, ce 
qui est dit dans le Bl&moire nu no 46. A peu près vers le 
milieu de' la page, iious lisoiis que J f M .  Lane et Cottier, les 
solicitors de la maisvil Jackson, Ccrivent ce qui suit au sous- 
secrétaire d'fitat POUT les Colonies: 

cc Nous sommes d'avis que M. Rute~lberg n'a pas le droit 
qu'il invoque sur la source 171-Audja et que le Haut-Com- 
missaire, s'il entre dans  les vzres des experts, est pleinement 
justifié et autorisé 2 admettre la prise d'eau de cette source 
requise par le Comité proposé. ii 

« S'il est d'accord sur les vues des experts 1). Or, &Iessieurs, 
qui donc était l'expert pour le Gou\~er~iemerit de  Palestine ? 
C'était 31. Lees. Donc, J f .  Lees était pleinement d'accord, 
lui aussi, pour l'utilisation de la source d'El-Audja. 

En  conséquence, la Cour rie s'arrctera pas aux objections 
faites et  qui sont tirées, d'uiie part, de la concession primitive, 
d'autre part, du teste de la concession réadaptée. 

La co~~cessio.ra priinitive désignait nominativement certaines 
sources, soit ; mais elle rie les imposait pas, et l'article 5 
prévoyait lc droit pour le concessioiinaire d'utiliser d'autres 
sources. 

La concession réudaptée, dit-on encore, ne nomme pas 
El-Audja, alors que, si l'on avait décidé de l'utiliser antérieure- 

"The chvice thcrcforc lies bctween the other sources. namely Ain-Sultan 
and Ain-Duk near Jericho, and iias-el-Ain near Jaffa." 

Donc. le calciil est fait par rapport a cles canalisations venatit soit de Ain- 
Sultan ou bien dc Mn-Uuk prhs de Ji?richo. soit de Ras-el-Aïn, c'est-S-djre 
El-Audja, prés de Jaffa ; niais la coniparaisori ri'est faite aucunement entre. 
El-Aiidja (ou Ras-el-Aïn), d'uiiç part, c t  les soiirces primitivement envisagées, 
d'autre part. 



ment à la rbadaptation, on aurait, de toute évidence, iiomrné 
cette source dans le nouveau texte. 

Notre rCponse est facile. La IiCplique hellénique a déjà 
donné la raison de ce silence (page 312 en haut). L'expert 
britannique s'en rendait compte, il savait que les travaux 
d'El-Audja seraient coûteux ; or, M. Rlavrommatis avait, en 
vertu de sa concession, un tant pour cent sur les travaux; il y 
aurait donc une augmentation du pourcentage à son profit. 
L'expert britannique ne voulut pas prendre sur lui de proposer 
tout de suite cette augmentation de pourcentage, résultant 
du choix d'une nouvelle source, et il tint à être couvert par 
l'opinion concordante des ingénieurs officiels. 

La  co~iclusion est Ia suivante: dès le début de ~ g z G ,  alite- 
rieurement, donc, à la date où l'Administration palestinienne 
rendit définitive la concession du Jourdain, cette administra- 
tion connaissait parfaitement Ic conflit existant entre 31. Ruten- 
berg et  hI. bIüvrornmatis, à propos de la source El-Audja ; ce 
conflit existait depuis l'&té de 1915 ; elle ne s'en priva pas 
moins du Inoyen d'action excellent qu'elle possédait à l'égard 
de 31. liutenberg pour lever l'opposition de celui-ci. .Or, cette 
opposition présentait une importance qui ne peut être sous- 
estimée ; jc n'en veux pour. preuve que la lettre du Colonial' 
Office que j'ai citée fout à l'heure, et dans laquelle nous 
voyons le secrétaire d'Etat au Colonial Office insister, à raison 
de cette position de Rutenberg, pour que Il. Mavrornmatis 
entre en composition avec lui. 

[Séance publique dzt g septe?~zlire 1927, après-midi.] 

Monsieur le Président, Messieurs, je me suis efforcé ce matin, 
dans les derniers instants que j'ai consacrés à mes explications, 
de. montrer à la Cour le plan de R i .  Rutenberg, les moyens 
qu'il avait mis en œuvre et la complaisance qu'il avait rencontrée 
auprès des autorités palestiniennes. Pour en avoir terminé avec 
cette question, il ne me reste plus qu'à présenter à la Cour quelques 
observations siir la valeur, sur le bien-fondé ou le mal-fondé de cette 
opposition Rutenberg. Ceci ne me demandera pas longtemps; 
car cette opposition, si les autoritds palestiniennes avaient voulu . 

ln considérer tout de suite et de froide réflexion, ne valait 
rien et ne pouvait pas même servir de prétexte à différer un ~ 

seul instant l'approbation des plans de M. Mavrommatis. 
En  droit, d'abord, il y avait inopposabilité à M. 'Mavromrnatis 

des prétentions de M. Rutenberg; c'ctait affaire à lui avec 
I'Adrninistratiori palestinienne, et celle-ci n'avait qu'à prendre 
ses responsabilités. 

Mais la pritei-ition était-elle même fondée? Non. La 
concession de M. Rutenberg l'niitorisait à disposer de l'eau 
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d'El-Audja pour la force motrice, et pour Ia force motrice exclusi- 
vement. Il n'avait, en aucun cas et à aucun degré, le droit d'em- 
pêcher des prises d'eau aux fins de distribution d'eau potable. 

En fait, rriêmc si ces raisons de droit n'existaient pas, est-ce 
qu'il fallait s'arrêter à cette opposition ? 

Vous verrez tout de suitc que cela était impossible, si je 
vous soumets deux chifires : celui du débit de la source El- 
Audja, qui était de 850.000 m3 par vingt-quatre heures, et: 
celui de la consommation maxima pour la ville de Jérusalem 
et  ses environs en eau potable, qui est seulement de 12.000 m3. 
Il y a une telle disproportion entre ces chiffres qu'il apparaît 
aux esprits les moins prévenus qu'une prise d'eau aux fins 
de distribution d'eau potable ne pouvait nullement porter 
atteinte a u s  iritérêtr de M. Rutenberg. 

Par conséquent, il n'y avait dans l'opposition Rutenberg qu'tiii 
simple prétexte. &lais, dès l'instant oii cette opposition fut 
formée, M. Mavrommatis ne put passer outre,. 

L'approbation de sa concesçioii ne dépendait pas de lui ; 
elle d6pendait exclusivement des autorités palestiniennes, et 
c'est c~l1cç-ci qui auraient dû passer outre. Ah ! elles ont fini 
par le faire, nous dit-on. Oui, mais elles auraient dû le faire 
tout de suite ; elles auraient dû exercer immédiatement leurs 
pouvoirs a u  lieu de faire traîner pendant de longs mois l'appro- 
bation des concessions de. M. Mavrommatis et de causer - 
ainsi que j'aurai l'honneur de vous le montrer très rapidement 
.- le plus grave préjudice à ce concessionnaire. 

Ainsi, libre carrière a été laissée pendant de longs inois à 
31. Rutenberg, alors qu'il eût dû être fait justice de ses 
prétentioiis en quelques jours. Son oppositio~i a empéché d'agir 
les, autorités palestiniennes ; elle a retardé l'approbation des 
concessioris Rlavrommatis, afin dc lasser M. Mavrommatis et 
de l'amener à composition. 

En  effet, Messieurs, c'est une guerre d'usure que celle qui 
;i été poursuivie contre M. i\.lavrommatis. De cette guerre 
d'usure, je iie prendrai les incidents qu'à partir de la date de 
la signature des contrats réadaptés. Ce n'est pas qu'il n'y 
aurait 3. dire bien des choses avant. Mais je ne veux pas abuser 
de la bienveillance de la Cour. Je laisse, par exemple, de 
côté toutes les lenteurs qui  retarctèrerit les débuts de ln discus- 
sion de la riadaptation par suite des incertitudes sur la qualit6 

, des personnes en face desquelles se trouva l'expert désigne 
par le Gotivernement Iiclléiiique ; si bien que, la première 
dirmarche ayant eu lieu le 27 avril 1925, ia conversation nc 
put commencer que le 15 janvier suivant. 

Qu'avait à faire M. 3lavrommatis après la signaturc de ses 
conventions? 11 avait A envoyer aux autorités compétentes 
ses plails définitifs; i l  avait à obtenir d'elles l'approbation 
de ces plans ; il avait à constituer la société qui devait lui 



étre substituée. Quels délais avait-il à cet effet ? Pour ses 
plans, il pouvait ne les envoyer qu'au bout de huit mois ; . 
pour la société, il avait un délai total de douzemois. 

M. iViavrommatis se hâte de soumettre tout de suite ses 
plans, sans profiter dii délai de huit mois. 

Mon éminent contradicteur faisait hier lin raisonnement 
fondé sur l'addition des différents laps de temps impartis au 
concessionnaire et ,  supposant - ce qui est prévii coiiime une 
éventualite par les testes de la concession - qu'un différend 
peut compliquer les choscs, il vous montrait qu'il faut au 
~noins douze mois et rncnie treize, en additionnant tous les 
délais, pour arriver à les épuiser tous. 

Certes. Mais cette solution est toute théorique, et elle nc 
peut se produire que si le concessionnaire, justement, n'a pas 
la précaution de se hâter d'envoyer ses plans. Cette situation 
ne peut se produire que si le concessionnaire met huit mois 
entiers à préparer ses plans et qu'il ne les envoie qu'au bout 
cl11 huitième mois. Mais aucun 'concessionnaire sérieux n'agira 
ainsi, c a r ,  l'approbation rapide des plans est une condition 
sine qua non - je nc parle pas juridiquement, je parle 
commercialement - de ln réalisation d'une concession. I l  est 
clair, en effet, que l'on ne pourra constituer, la société à 
laquelle la concession sera repassée que si cette société peut 
établir un programme financier. Mais il est certain, d'autre 
part, que .cette sociétC ne pourra établir de programme 
financier que si elle sait exactement quel capital elle aura j. 
investir dans les travaus qu'elle a à effectuer. E t  comment 
connaitrait-elle ce capital à investir, si elle n'avait pour cela 
les plans, et les plans approuvés ? Donc, on ne peut songer 
à financer une concession qu'après que les plans ont été 
approuvés. C'est la première chose à faire, et c'est la première 
phase qui doit ètre franchie le plus rapidement possible dans 
la série d'opérations qui sli.chelonnent entre le moment où un ' 
concessionnaire obtient une concession et celui où il parvient 
à la voir riigulariser compl&tement par l'agrément du pouvoir 
concédant à la société qu'il se stibstitue. 

Par conséquent, M. ATavromrnatis se hâte d'envoyer ses 
plans. Les plans sont reçus le 5 mai 1926 à Jérusalem. Le 
délai de trois mois commence à courir à partir de cette date, 
et l'approbation aurait dîi Ctre donnée le j août, dernière 
limite. Or, à quelle date les plans ont-ils 6té approuvés ? Le 
23 septembre pour la concession d'électricité, le 2 décembre 
polir la concession d'eau. 

Va-t-on nous dire que dès le moment où 1s concession 
électricité était approiivbe, hf. hlavrommatis pouvait commen- 
cer à travailler ? Non, car ce serait ne pas tenir compte d'un 
avenant, d'une convention additionnelle, qui avait été signée 
Ir: même jour que Ies contrats principaux et qui stipulait que 

6 



M. ~lavromrnatis aurait la faculté de fondre en une seule 
les deux concessions ail point de vue du régime financier: 
Cctte faculté était, en réalité, une obligation, car aucun 
groupe financier n'aurait consenti à financer séparément ces 
cleus concessions. liétinies, elles formaient une affaire superbe ; 
iion réunies, elles formaient des affaires viables, mais évi- 
demment beaucoup .moins brillantes. 

Lorsque la concession Clectricité a été approuvée, le 23 sep- 
tembre - par conséquent avec un retard de plus d'iin 
mois et demi sur le ciclai qui aurait dû étre observé, puisque 
c'est le j août, je le répète, que les deus concessions 
auraient dû èire approuv6es -, est-ce que bf. bIavrommatis 
n considéré toutes choses cornme parfaites ? 11-t-il considéré 
les retards comme effacés ? En d'autres termes, a-t-il ratifié 
I'attitude des autorités palestiniennes ? A-t-il passe condnm- 
nation ? Non. 

Pour vous en rendre compte, Messieurs, il suffit que vous 
voiis reportiez à 13 lettre du 7 octobre 1926 (no 89 des 
annexes, page 191) que A f .  AIavrommatis écrivit alors au souç- 
secrétaire d'Etat pour les Colonies. Tl acceptait les inodifi- 
cations qu'on lui demandait pour la conccsçion électricité ; 
inais il demandait l'approbation immédiate cIcs plans d'eau, 
et  il demandait la prorogation de trois mois pour les délais 
de constitution de la sociEtC, prorogation qui avait été promise 
à sir Hamar Greenwood. Faute de l'approbation cles plans de 
la concession eau et cle l'acceptation de la prolongation de 
trois mois poiir l'électricité, en raison des retards occasionnés, 
les démarches en vue du financement et de 13 constitution 
de la société ne pouvaierit pas avancer. 

Noiis sommes donc en présence de graves atermoiements 
de la part des autorités compétentes, et  sur lesquels 
31. Mavrommatis n'a jamais passé condamnation. 13n réalité, 

.c'est le 2 décembi-c seulement qiie 31. &favronlmatis aurait pu 
marcher, alors que c'est le 5 août, étant donné la date du 
dCpôt des plans (j inai 1926)~ que RI. Mavrommntis aurait dû 
avoir la voie libre. 

Peut-on donner iiiie explication de ces atermoiements en 
invoquant ilne question de drainage ? Non. 

J3n effet, il y a bien eu, au mois d'août, au sujet d'une 
question de drainage, dcs négociations entre le Colonial Office 
et  sir Charles Cotticr. Mais, Messieurs, notez que ces négo- 
ciations, auxquelles le Gouverneinent britannique s'est référé 
IiiEr, n'ont rien de corninun avec 11. Mavromtnatis. E n  effet,' 
sir Charles Cottier n'agit pas au nom de M. Mavrommatis. 

Quant à la question d u .  drainage, s'agissait-il donc d'une 
riouveilc concession ? 1311 aucune façon. Car cette question est 
prévlie h l'article 19 dc ln concession eau de ill. BIavrommatis. 

Let article, clans la littéra. C ,  dit que si le i-laut-Commis- 
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saire ne prend pas les dispositions pour faire établir un sys- 
tème de drainage en même temps que l'exécution des travaux 
d'eau, et que, de ce fait, la consommation en souffre, les 
tarifs seront augmentCs en proportion. 

Donc, durant les ncgociationç, le seul point rCel et v6ritable 
qui a entravd l'approbation, ce n'a pas été la question du 
drainage, cela a étd la question de l'opposition I2utenberg. 

Autre prétexte invoque à ces atermoiements: le contrat 
passd par M. hlavroinmatis avec lord Gisborough. Quc penser 
de cet aritre pretexte ? Ide contrat passé par M. Mavromrnatis 
avec lord Gisborough fut signé Ie 22 janvier 1926, soit un  
mois environ avant ln signature des contrats de rkadaptation 
du 25 février 1926 et  dont le texte a été arrêt6 ct signé 
par les experts en dbcernbre rg2j .  C'était un contrat tout à 
fait usuel et normal ; il s'agissait d'un contrat concernant 
le financement de ln concession. Et lord Gisborough intervenait 
en qualité de lïrtstee de I;L société i. constituer. 

Ce n'est pas iin point sp6cinl à l'Angleterre ni ; tus affaires 
anglaises ; comme le dit iiotre Mémoire, c'est un point absolu- 
iiient conforme & l'usage suivi partout, en iiiatièrc de con- 
cessions. Commc la sucid6 prEvue lie peut etrc constituée 
qu'après l'accornplisseniciit de certaines conditions pré:iIables, 
notamment l'approbation cles plails et l'évaluation des d8penses 
des travaux ; comme, cl'autrc part, la sociC.té ne petit contrac- 
ter directement qu'après nvoir pris naissance comrne personne 
juridique, on nomme un trustee pour agir à sa place. 

Une fois que la sociCté s'est constituée, elle accepte comme 
siennes les obligations contractées par le trustee, qiii s'en 
trouve déchargé. 

C'est ce contrat classique que 31. l Ia\~rom~natis  avait passe 
avec lord Gisborough. Ce contrat est parfaitement clair; en 
toutes occasions où il fut appliqué, lord Gisboroiigh a pris 
la qualité de trustec. Jamais donc il n'a pu y nvoir le 
moindre doute sur la qualité juridique du CO-contractant de 
M. hlavrommatis. 

Néanmoins, on' a prétendu incriminer ce contrat eil disant 
qu'il constituait uiie cession totale des droits de BI. V. dvrom- 
inatis. Il vous sera facile, hfessieurs, de vous convaincre que 
c'est là un grief puremerit illusoire. 

Aussi bien, pendant longtemps, le Colonial 'Officc lui-rnéme 
ii'a pas cru necessaire de soulever d'objection. Après avoir, 
coinme il était légitinie, demandé des renseignemeiits siir la 
nature de l'accord, il n'a fait aucune observation. C'est seiile- 
ment plusieurs mois ayrés, vers le moment - notons cette 
coïncidence - oit va expirer la date à laquelle les plans 
aiiraient dû Ctre :ipproiivés, que ~ious  voyons de iiouvelles 
demandes d'explications se reproclriire et des objectioiis * étrc 
dirigées contre cc contrat. 



Notre Mérioire contient d'ailleurs des éciairciçsernents corn- 
plets sur cette question, et je ne fatiguerai pas la Cour plus 
longtemps sur ce point. 

Autre prétexte: le dépôt des plans, nous dit-on, aurait 
été tardif. Ah ! si vous aviez déposé vos plans le 5 mai 1926, 
vous auriez pu alors prétendre à en obtenir l'approbation le 
5 août ; mais vos plans ont été déposés, à ce moment-là, 
par qui ? par vous ? Non, par lord Gisborough ; or, celui-ci 
n'avait pas qualité pour déposer vos plans. Dans ces condi- 
tions, nous les avons bien reçus, - noiis vous en avons 
accusé réception, - nous les avons étudiés, nous les avons 
critiqués, mais nous avons considéré qu'ils n'étaient pas vala- 
bleinent déposés. C'est serilement le j septembre que, par 
votre dépéche, vous avez fait courir utilement le délai de ' 

trois mois que nous avions pour' approuver vos plans. Voilà, 
Messieurs, ce qui nous. n étil: dit. 

Je  ne pense pas que la Cotir veuille s'arrEter à cette objec- 
tion ; si, en effet, la Cour veut bien réfléchir ail  but  de I'opé- 
ration, elle considérera que les plans étaient valablement . 

déposés à partir du moment oh ils parvenaient dûment à 
la connaissance des autorités palestiniennes. 

Qu'y a-t-il d'essentiel dans le dépôt des plans? Qu'ils 
parviennent, que l'on sache à quoi ik répondent et  pour le 
compte de qui ils sont déposés. Or, tout cela, on le savait : 
on savait qu'ils étaient arrivés, - on en a accusé réception, - 
on savait .pour le compte de qui ils étaient déposés, puisque le 
tClégrarnme d'accus6 dc rhception qui figure aux annexes 
déclare : c i  les plans de la. concession Mavrommatis reçus » 
(annexe 39 bis). Enfin, ils étaient déposés par lord Gisborough 
en qualité de trustee. 

Ce n'est que le j septembre, néanmoins, que l'on a voulu 
considérer nos plans comme déposés, à la suite d'un télégramme - 
dont vous connaissez les circonstances et sur lequel je ne 
reviens pas. 

31. i\lavrommatis s'est-il incliné, d'ailleurs, devant la thèse 
des autorités palestiniennes i c  que ces plans n'auraient été 
déposés valablement que Ic 5 septembre il ? Kon, et  il a 
protesté à diverses reprises ; dans son tklégramme du 5 sep- 
tembre, il ne dit riucunement qu'il considère guc ce soit à 
bon droit que l'on ait considéré les plans comme n'étant pas 
encore déposés jusque-lü. 

Voilà donc, Messieiirs, toute une série de retards que vous 
jugerez inadmissibles et qui ne peuvent s'expliquer que par 
l'opposition persistante du personnage dont j'ai déjà si longue- 
ment parlé. 

Ces retards, nous dit le Gouvernement britannique, vous 
ne pouvez pas les incriminer, parce que I'hdministration a été 
affranchie de tous dclais. Daiis le contrat de concession, le 



temps n'était dc l'essence du contrat que pour les obligations 
cle M. Mavrommntis ; il n'y avait de condition de ddlai 
imposée qu'à lui ; les obligations assumées par le Haut- Commis- 
saire ne constituaient a aucun titre des conditions de l'accorn- 
plissement desquelles dépendait l'accomplissement des contrats. ' 

ll'abord, nous dit-on, aucun acte di1 Haut-Commissaire ne 
pouvait empêcher l'exécution des contrats. Ce n'est pas exact ; 
pour obtenir une décision de l'expert qui a qualité, lui, pour 
briser une opposition, il faut se trouver en presence d'une 
notification de non-approbation des plans. 

Si l'Administration ne répond pas, il est impossible de 
clbclencher la procCdure de nomination de l'expert ; en d'autres 
termes, aucun recoiirs n'est possible contre le silence du Haut- 
Commissaire. 

Nous avons connu en France, AIessieurs, - ici, vous me 
permettrez un rapprochement, - une situation tout à fait 
analogue. Juspu'à la loi du 17 juillet 1900, il n'existait en 
Fi-ance aucun recours contre le silence de l'Administration ; 
on ne poiivait aller devant les tribunaux administratifs que 
lorsqu'on avait ohtenu une décision qui liat le contentieux. 
Mais si l'Administration se refusait i~ rcpondre, il n'y avait 
pas de décision et l'on ne pouvait y : ~  aller devant les tribu- 
naux administratifs. 

A cette époque-là, on répondait à l'administré frayçais par 
la phrase rendue populaire par $1. Thiers que (( l 'ktat  est 
lionnéte homme II, que, dans ces conditions, l'ad~ninistri! doit 
se soumettre patiemment, que son droit finira bien par être 

. reconnu un jour ou l'autre. . . . 
En attendant, l'administré était dfrnuni contre le silence 

(le l'Administration. C'est seulement la loi du 17 juillet 1900 , 

qui a décidé que le silence de l'Administration gardé pendant 
quatre mois devait Êquivaloir à iine decision de rejet permet- 
tant l'introduction d'un recours. 

Nous. sommes dans une situation semblable dans cette 
affaire Navrommatis ; nous pouvons quelque chose contre la 
non-approbation de nos plans, à iine seille condition : c'est que 
1:i non-approbation soit formellement exprimée. Au contraire, 
M. Mavromrnatis était tlémuni contre le silence gardé par les 
autorités palestiniennes. 

La deuxième raison que donne la tlicse anglaise pour essayer 
de démontrer que les obligations assumées par le Haut- 
Commissaire ne seraient pas des conditions, c'est qu'il est 
impossible, dit-elle, d'admettre que le Haut-Commissaire ait 
voulu accorder les concessions à la coiiclition qu'il accomplirait 
certains actes dépendant de lui sciil. 

Il est facile de rdpondre à cette objection. 1,'obligation 
du concessionnaire de constituer dans les douze mois sa 
société d'exploitation est conditioiiiiée par l'approbation des 



plans ; donc, l'obligation d'approbation est une condition du 
contrat. 

Je crois avoir montré ainsi quc'  les prdtextes donnEs pour 
.essayer dc justifier les retards subis par l'approbation des 
plans ne peuvent pas être retenus comme des raisons valables. 

E n  réalite, ces retards ne pouvaient s'expliquer par aucune 
bonne raison, mais simplement par le profit qu'en escomptait 
celui qui en était l'instigateur. Ces retards devaient esercer 
psychologiquement sur M. 31!1avrommatis une influence dCpri- 
mante et l'amener peut-étre 5 nccueillir ces tractations dont 
j'ai eu l'honneur de soumettre il l a .  Cour, ce matin, le si 
subjectif compte rendu. Ces retards pqalysaient la. constitu- 

' tion de Ia societé ; ils mettaient le concessionnaire dans le 
cas, peut-être, d'étre déchil à un moment donné, par l'expi- 
ration des délais ; enfin et en tout: cas, ces retards rendaient 
de plus en plus difficiles et  même presque impossibles la 
constitution de la société et l'obtention des appuis financiers 
nécessaires. 

Le refus d'approbation du Cofoilial Office à cause de l'oppo- 
sitiot~ de Rutenberg a été, Alessieiirs, la raison de la rupture 
de ce contrat qui avait été signé, dès les premiers joiirs après 
la réadaptation des concessions, entrc M. Mavroinmntis et 
lord Gisborutlgli, et le groupe Jackson. 

T,a I.,reuve vous en est fournie par lc tdldgramme ;le hl i l l .  Lane 
& Cottier au Haut-Commissaire pour la Palestine, en date 
d u  3 septembre 1926 (annexe 11" Gg, page 178) : 

(( J'ai le regret de vous iiiforiner que la réclamation déposée 
ÿat M. Kuteiiberg sur El-Audja et lc retard à prévoir en ce 
qrii concerne le système de drainage pour Jérusalem ont 
empêclié lcs dCmarches de Jackson. i) 

Ici, Messieiirs, ils mêlaient . deiix questions; ils mêlaient 
une question de drainage qui ccincernait simplement Cottier, 
ainsi que je vous l'ai montré tout à l'heure, avec l'affaire 
d'El-Aiidja et l'opposition de Kutenberg à propos d'El-Audja, 
affaire qui, elle, intéressait directement le concessionnaire, 
ses bailleurs de fonds et ses entrepreneurs. 

Ces retards ont eu une influence désastreuse dont vous trou- 
verez les thnoignages indubitables dans les pièces que nous 
vous avons produites : I'attestatioii de Ia grande maison finan- 
cière Mill. C. Birch, Crisp & Co. (annexe na 119, page 219) 
dans laquelle ces messieurs, bien connus comme financiers, 
comme Emetteurs, comme placeurs d'emprunts très importants 
(leurs réfbrences figurent aux pages 215 à 218), déclarent à 
hl. ?vlalcolm, agent de hl. hTavroinmatis : 

Comme vous le dGsirez, je vous confirme ce que je vous ai 
dit à l'automne: ma maison considérait ces concesçions 
comme uiie bonne affaire, mais naturellement nous ne pouvions 



pas entreprendre de financer ces concessions A cause des 
retards dans l'approbation des plans, du temps inadéquat 
et  de l'incertitude sur l'attitude des autorités. 1) 

Dira-t-on que ceci est postkriciir aiix événements mémes 
puisque la lettre est datbe du 18 janvier 1927 ? Je ne pense 
pas qu'une maison de cette importance puisse donner des 
certificats de complaisance, d'autant plus qu'elle se réfère 
expressément à des entretiens qui ont eu lieu à l'automne. 

Mais, si cette objection était faite, il serait facile de la 
lever au moyen d'une série de lettres contemporaines des 
événements, lettres proiivant que d'autres groupes importants 
ont refusé de financer les concessions, bien qti'ils considé- 
rassent l'affaire comme excellente, cux aussi à cause des retards, 
& cause de l'incertitude dans laquelle eux aussi se trouvaient 
sur l'etnt d'esprit des autorités. 

Je n'analyserai pas la longue correspondancc qui figure 
clalis le dossier entre hi. Mavrommatis et une banque fran- 
çaise iinporta~ite, la baiique Bauci-, Marcha1 et C i e ;  toiis ces 
documents figurent aux annexes. Je ine permets, si la Cour 
vetit bien m'y autoriser, d'en ii-idiqiier simplement la réfé- 
rence : lettres iiijs 97, 100, xor, 104, 10.5, IOG, 108, 110, et 9 

enfin II" III : je demande simplement la permission de lire 
cette dernière, dont le ton est extrcmement significatif. 

i c  Cher ;\Ionsieur, 

cl Comme suite à notre lettre da 12 courant, ii écrivent 
MM, Bauer, Marcha1 et Cie 5 M. Mavrommatis, i c  iious devons 
voiis faire part en toute frarichise, que nos amis viennent de 

- nous aviser qu'ils sont fort mal impressionnés par les délais 
successifs que vous avez sollicités pour Ia régrilsrisation de 
votre dossier, alors qu'ils pensaient que tout était virtuelle- 
ment au point. i) [La Cour verra qu'il s'agit de l'approbation 
des concessions.j 

c( Il font valoir qu'ils n'ont pas l'habitude de considérer 
des affaires qui ne sont pas déjà tout à fait en ordre, et que, 
clans ces conditions, ils rie désirent pas continuer davantage à 
s'occuper de la vôtre. 

i t  Kous sommes infiniment contrariés d'avoir reçu une telle 
,réponse, qui, nous devons 'vous le déclarer, nous paraît tout 
à fait justifiée. Veuillez bien considérer notre intervention 
comme terminée, car nous ne voudrions pas nous exposer à 
recevoir de nouvelles observatioris dhsobligeantes pour nous. ii 

Vous voyez, Messieurs, à quelle désagréable situation 
31. Mavrommatis se trouvait réduit auprès de ses appuis finan- 
ciers les plus sérieux, comme la maison Bauer, Marcha1 et Cie, 



dont les références figurent égalernent au dossier, du  fait des 
retards prolongés des autorités compétentes. 

Enfin, on passe outre à l'opposition de M. Kutenberg, pour 
accorder l'approbation de la concession Mavrommatis, mais 
seulement lorsque le financement en est devenu impossible, 
lorsque l'affaire, par suite de ces retards, par suite du dis- 
crédit jeté sur elIe du fait de l'incertitude sur l'attitude 
des autorités compétentes, a étC brûlée sur la place de 
Londres, et brûlée jusque sur la place de Paris. 

Étant  donné ces faits, peut-on dire que les autorités pales- 
tiniennes, et à la suite les autorités britanniques, aient rempli 
leurs obligations internationales d6coulant du Protocole XII ? 
Je ne le crois pas. Or, ce sont ces obligations que vise 
l'article II dii Mandat. 

D'autre part, tous les actes mentionnés sont des actes des 
autorités administratives, sur quelqiies stiggestioiis qii'elles 
aient pu agir, et ces actes ont leiir source dans les pouvoirs 
de 9ublic conirol de l'article Ir. Nous avons donc, Messieurs, 
fait la preuve que nous devions. 

Pourtant, l'incompétence est soutenue devant vous. J'enten- 
dais hier le très éminent représentant du Gouvernement bri- 

I tannique vous dire qu'il avait eu l'honneur <le se prksentcr à 
quatre reprises devant votre haiite juridiction et que c'était 
la première fois qu'il soutenait une exception d'incompétence. 

Permettez-moi de rappeler, Messieurs, que, si je feuillette 
le texte de 1'ArrCt iiO z, dès le dCbut du point de droit, je 
trouve ces lignes : 

ii C'est d'une exception tendant à son dessaisissemcnt 
que la Cour permanente (le Justice internationale est 
appelée par le Gouvernement de Sa Majesté britannique 
à connaître, ail seuil de I'iiistance soulevée par l'affaire 
des concessions Mavron~matis en Palestine. a 

Ce n'était pas l'&minent représentant actuel de Iri Grande- 
13retagne qui avait soutenu cette objection; mais elle avait 
été soutenue déjà devant I s  Cour ail nom du Gouvernement 
britannique. 

Messieurs, le Gouvernement hellénique vous demande en 
pleine confiance de rejeter cette objection, comme voiis l'avez 
fait fa prciniére fois. Les obstacles mis à lJcx6cution des 
concessions Mavrommatis réadaptées ont été opposiis par les 
niitorités compétentes dans la limite de leurs attributions telles 
qu'elles résultent de l'article II du Mandat, et ces actes 
constituent des< infractions aux obligations internationales 
assumEes par I'htat mandataire. 

Il ne me reste plus, pour avoir achevé la série des obser- 
vations que j'ai eu l'honneur de voiis soumettre, à dire que 
quelques mots de l'argument concernant l'obligation d'épuiser 



les aiitorités judiciaires nationales avant de pouvoir se pré- 
senter devant la Cour. 

Le Gouvernement hellénique' conteste In valeur, à la fois 
au point de vue scientifique et ail point de vue pratique, de 
la règle dont le Coiivernement britannique allègue l'existence. 
Le Gouvernement hellénique maintient la position qu'il a eu 
l'honneur de prendre dans 1s procédure écrite. Nous ne dis- 
cuterons donc pas plus avant cette question de l'épuisement 
nécessaire des voies judiciaires, nous en tenant aux applications 
fournies par écrit. 

Mais un point appelle des observations n6cessaires, point qui 
se présente d'iinc façon un peu nouvelle par rapport à celle 
dans laquelle il se présentait au moment de la procédure 
écrite. Le Gouvernement britannique nous avait dit : « Pré- 
sentez-vous devant les autorités palestiniennes ! il A quoi nous 
avions répondu : <t Mais, si nous nous présentions devant les 
autorités palestiniennes, est-ce que nous lie pourrions pas ktre 
évincés avant niême d'avoir pu soumettre une observatiori 
quelconque à ces autorités ? 1) E t  nous faisions valoir le texte 
cle l'ordonnance qui est reproduite aux annexes (page 301). 

Hier, le Gouvernement britannique a apporté à cette barre 
Lin engagement préalable du Haut-Commissaire d'autoriser 
M. Mavrommatis, s'il le jugeait à propos, à accéder devant 
les juridictions palestiniennes. , C'est cle cette offre que je 
voudrais dire qiielques mots. 

Est-ce là, &Iessieurs, le résultat de cinq années de luttes, 
soutenues par M. Mavrommatis, que ce consentement donnC 
par le Haut-Commissaire, qui est apporté ici comme une 
concession de la dernière heure ? Ce n'est même pas une porte 
que l'on ouvre toute grande : c'est une porte simplement 
entre-bâillée. Elle est pleine de réticences et de réserves, la 
formule de cette déclaration du Haut-Commissaire. A quoi, en 
effet, est limité cet accès aux tribunaux ? II est limité à 
l'hypothèse oii il s'agit d'une action relativement à des délais 
indus, c'est-A-dire uniquement A des questions de droit admi- 
nistratif, de droit interne. Tout ce qui touche à la question 
du droit international est exclu par avance du débat. Or, 

' 

Messieurs, vous savez que c'est là l'essentiel dans cette ques- 
tion. Est-ce que le Gouvernement hellénique pourrait donner 
3 son ressortissant le conseil de se contenter de cette 
concession in extremis? Est-ce que le Gouvernement hellénique 
pourrait dire à 31. Mavrommatis, qu'il a le devoir de protéger : 
ct Abdiquez votre droit ; admettez que votre concession n'est 
plus qu'un titre cle droit interne, de droit municipal ; oubliez 
que cette co~icession est d'origine internationale; laissez le 
bénéfice que vous avez à ce droit internationalement acquis 
par une concession d'origine turque ; abandonnez Ia protection 
internationale dont bénéficie ce droit par les principes du droit 
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international commun, les principes de la successicn des États ; 
répudiez le bénéfice cie la compétence de la plus haute juri- 
diction du monde. ii Est-ce là ce qu'on vient demander au 
Gouvernement hellbnique de dire à son ressortissnnt ? 

13h bien, Messieurs, cela, il ne le dira pas. $1. Navrommatis 
et le Gouvernement hellénique, qui a pris fait et cause pour 
lui, ont entre les ~nüiiis un titre iiiternational, iiiternationale- 
nieiit protégé par le droit résultant des articles I r  et 26 du 
AIa~idat de saisir votre juridiction ; non seulement ce droit 
esiste, 111ais ce droit a déjà &te reconnu; il a Cté proclamé à 
Ia face du monde par 1'Arrét no  2.13t vous nous proposez d'aller - 
devant la juridiction palestinienne, fournir caution, gravir pénible- 
ment tous Ies échelons des instances succe~sives, pour je ne 
sais quel résultat aleatoire ! Non, Rlessieurs, le Gouvernement 
hellCnique est devant cette Cour et  il y reste avec le plus pro- 
fond respect e l  la plus grande confiance. 

Idiaction qu'il a iiitroduite n'est pas une action légère, une 
action vesatoire; il est pénétré d'un profond respect - il 
ne craint pas de le dire - pour le Gouveriiement du grand 
pays (lui est nionientanément son adversaire, et: l'attitude 
modkrée qu'il a constamment observée au cours des longues 
négociations prélimiiiaires à ce débat judiciaire le montre. 

Je  demande la perinissioii, eii terminant, de voiis fournir 
la preuve (et, pour ne pas étre suspect de partialité, c'est à 
votre Arrêt no 2 que j'empriinte ce thtnoignage) de la modéra- 
tion du Gouvernement au nom duquel j'ai l'honneur de me pré- 
senter. Voici, BIessieurs, ce que je relève à la page 14 de votre 
arrirt. Après avoir dCclari: que (( les lettres en date du 22 jap- 
vier et du  2 février 1923, adressees par AI. G. Agar Robartes, 
du  Foreign Office, à hi. blelas, secrétaire de la Légation de. 
Grèce i Londres, avaient fait voir au Gouvernement hellénique , 
que le Gouvernernent britannique était peu dispos6 à pour- 
suivre avec lui une négociation directe au sujet de la réclama- 
tion dc son ressortissant i), votre arrct ajoute ces lignes que 
je confie à vos niéditations: 

(( Un an après, le 26 janvier 1924, la Légation de Grèce 
5 1,ondres s'est adressée au Foreign Office aux fins de 
savoir si, dans l'opinion du Gouvernement britannique, 
(t il n'était pas possible de satisfaire aux réclamations de 
a 1 I .  ~~avromrna t i s  )i ou de les soumettre 9 l'arbitrage soit 
d'tilt nzelnbre de la Hc~zdte Cour de Jztstice, soit d'uii tribunal 
dolzi le président, 5 défaut d'accord entre les Parties, sevail 
désignd pnu ce Gouvernement i~ci -~n&me.  ii 

Voilà, Messieurs, la proposition qui a été faite par le Gou- 
vernement hellénique au Gouvernement britannique ; elle résulte 
du texte même de votre arrêt. Je ne veus rien ajouter au 
rappel de ce fait. 



SPEECH BY Mr. PUIICHASE 
frepresenting the Greek Government) 

AT T H E  PUBLIC SITTISG O F  SEPTEMUER 10th, 1927'. 

May it please the Court ; this is not the speech 1 intended 
to  have delivered, but a very compressed speech framed for 
the purpose of saving very considerably tlie time of the Court, 
and 1 sincerely liope tliat the niethod we ventured to adopt 
in order to bring about this resiilt has not been inconvenient 
to  this higli tribunal. If so, I cnn only Say, in extenuation, 
that it h:is cffected its purposc and that it will shorten the 
proceedings by soine hours. 1 do not intend, therefore, to 
refer to the correspondence in dctnil, but to  content myself 
with a iew observations connected witli the law. 

The Creek Government maintains that tlie qiiestion of 
jurisdiction depends upon and is governed by international 
law. I t  'is quite cor,rect that tlie Agreements of February 2 jtli, 
~gzG, state tIiat questions of coi~struction of the document 
are to be interpreted by . English 1a1v ; but that applies to the 
concessions when they are in working order, as ' effective 
contracts. It  cannot be said tliat thep are in that condition 
yet. T sliould like to deal with sonlc of the contentions of 
tlie Attorney-General respccting English law. In dealing witli 
the question of consideration (page 27), he stntes t1int 
it woulcl be a redz~ctio ad absurdztm to suggest that tlic 
forfeiture of an insurance policy would entitle the assurer1 
to recover the premiums paid. 'That is not a correct arialogy, 
for the hargnin with the assured is that he should be insured 
against certain risks, and untii forfeiture he has liad the 
advantage of his contract. The insurance Company is not 
likely to  and in fact cannot forfeit the policy escept for n 
serious misstatement which was calculated to and did deccivc. 
I t  is noted tliat the Rritisli Government adopts the definition 
of "considec~tion" given by the Crcelc Gavernment, but 
declares that a failure of considcrntion only gives rise to an 
action for damages. The Greek lieply deals with this rnatter 
and shows tl-iat for the breach of a. condition wliich iç some- 
thing ~vhicli is of the essence of the contract, or goes directly 
to the substance of the contract, and is a vital characteristic 
of it, the injured Party has tlie riglit to treat the contract 

' ' Documents quoted in this speech: 
Grcek Case; sec Part I I I ,  No. 2 ,  pp. 109-175 of this voliime. 
Aaznexes to the Greek Case; see Part  I I I ,  Xo. -a, pp. 176-450. 
British Prcliminary Objeclion; see Part I l l ,  No. 4 .  pp. 451-468. 
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as completely broken. I t  has not the right to repudiate tlie 
contract, as suggested by the Attorney-General, but of treating 
the contract as repudiated, namely, 1-epudiated bp the I-Iigh 
Commissioner. This is illustrated by the case of Wallis v. 
Pratt, Law Reports, 1910, 2 King's Bench Division, pages Iorz 
and 1013, and the position is supported by Sectiori 11 of the 
Sale -of Goodç Act, 1893. On page 28 of the transcript it is 
stated that i t  is a rule of Eriglish law that extrinsic evidence 
may not be given of a contract ; but .in Anson, there are given 
ten pages of exceptions to this general rule. In Halsbury's 
Encyclopadia, paragraph 1050, page jaq, it is stated that 

' a written agreement must, lïowever, be construed in al1 cases 
with reference to tlie surrounding circumstances and that 
par01 evidence is accordingly admissible of the circumstances 
of the particular case, and stirely this is such ti contract as 
should admit the evidence of silrrounding circiimstances. On 
page 33 the Attorney-General seeks the assistance of equity 
in support of his argument respecting the waiver of time . 
condition by reason of further negotiations upon the part of 
JI. hIavrommatis. 'There is a very good masim in equity, 
that he who seeks equity must do equity, and the British 
Government's consistent attitude towards M. Navrommatis 
does not, on tliat ground, show that they are entitled to 
invoke the assistance of equity. Another very good maxim 
in equity is vigilanfibus non dormientibzbs aqziitas sttbvenit, and 
the person who, as the High Commissioner has done, has 
prejudiced hl. Mavrommatis hy long delays uporl vital matters, 
would not reap much adv:intnge from that principle in a court 
of equity. But what is tiiis principle of waiver ? I t  does 
not seem to have been correctly stated, for tlie case which 
lïas been cited in silpport of the Attorney-General's attitude 
is the case of W e b b  v. H z ~ g l ~ e s  which is an authority in which 
a contract for the sale of land was dealt with. Naiver, under 
the lalv of contracts, is a ~vell-known yrinciple, and is stated 
by Aiison as the metiiod of the disctiarge of a contract. In 
Chapter XII he puts fortli this elementary proposition that a 
contract may be discharged by agreement between the Parties 
that it shall no longer birid them. That is waiver, or rescission, 
of a contract. I t  is furthcr stated that discharge hy waiver 
requires a mutual abandoriment of claims, or else a new 
consideration for the wsiver, and quotes the case of King v. 
Gillell, in 7 nileeson & Welsby, page 55, in wliicli it is laid 
down that there must be a proposition to exonerate on the 
part of the plaintiff, acceded to  by himself, and this in effect , 
will be a rescinding of the contract. By no stretch of the 

I 

imagination can it be suggested that this is what has occurred 
in M. Mavrommatis' case, nor can it be advanced that arrange- 
ments respecting tlie purchase price for the sale of l p d  
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which in England, as in al1 countries, is a complicated chap- 
ter of statute law, is an analogy for what has arisen under 
the case witli which the Court is conceriied. Every attempt 
was made for a settlement and solution of the problem hotli 
by M. Mavrommütis and by friends who acted indepencl- 
ently of him ; but in no sense can it be argued that lie 
ever waived liis rights. 

This brings tne to the last point upon which 1 shoulcl 
like the privilege of making a few obsert~ations. On page 17, 
the Attorney-General, referring to the arrangements witli 
Lord Gisborougli, said t hat before t hey received tlie 
agreement the Coloiiial Office had never been iriformed of 
the terms of the agreement. 3Iy niiswer is that it \vas no 
concern of the Colonial Office, r~nd that is adrnitted in a 
letter from the Colonial Office ciated Ayril 17th, 1926, Annex 
30. 34, page 129, in which it was stated that the appointment 
of Lord Gisborough was not subject to Air. Amery's approval. 
The concessio~is demand that  the plans shall be deposited for 
approvaI and that the company shall be formed and that its 
statutes shall be approved by the Crown Agents for the 
Colonies. There iç no stipulation wliatever that any other 
arrangements which the conceçsioiinaire may have to  make 
shall be subject to the approval of the Cro~vn Agents for the 
Colonies. Tlierefore it was not necessary to  secure their 
approval before making an arrangement ~vi th  a trustee for thc 
company. A trustee is the propcr person to  arrange a matter 
of this character because, by English 1üw and by foreigri law, 
it is impossible to make a contract with a company which 
is not formed, and therefore it is customary to arrange for 
the intervention of a trustee who is merely acting as ari 
intermediary or agent between the concessionnaire and the 
company wliich is to be formed. This is the usual practicc, 
and the Crown Agents for the Colonies are not coiicerned 
xvith these points. I t  is therefore not correct in English or 
continental law to talk about a conditional transfer to a pro- 
posed company, as the Attorney-General does, for before such 
a company is in existence no transfer can be made to it, condi- 
tional or otherwise. I t  is quite truc that Lord Gisborougli 
deposited the plans, but he did so as the trustee for the 
company and on behalf of 31. Mavrommatis. In  ordinary 
practice a trustee is a man who acts in tlie capacity of' 
agent both for the vendor and for the purchaser tvhich, in 
this case, is the company-which is to be formed. The point 
t o  be noted with regard to the plans is that they were 
deposited on May 5th and were so deyosited by Lord Gis- 
borougli. There is nothing in the concessions to  suggest that 
that  deposit is an irregular one, nor is there anything in the 
soncessions to deniand that there n ~ u s t  be a particular methocl 
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of depositing-sending by post, or by registered post, or 
delivered not by the Agent, but by the person himself. Al1 these 
things are left to tlie concessionnaire. What is very important 
to remember is that these plans were marked "31. 3lavromma- 
tis' plans". The Attorney-General airily dismisses the matter in 
a few lines and the conclusion one would reach from his 
observations would be a t  inost tliat a mere technicality had 
been committed. What, in such circumstances, should have 
been the attitude of the Colonial Office ? Siirely it should 
have been to cal1 tlie Parties togethcr in order to repair the 
alleged technicality. The courts have constantly espressed the 
view that  the? are not going to use a technicality against a 
defendant. Frorn the point of view of AI. iilavrommatis it 
<as a very serious matter and so he interviewed the Solicitors 
to  the Colonial Office (Annex No. 61, page 171) and, moreover, 
he asked the Coloiiial Office for an interview in order that 
he inight meet tlie tvishes of the Colonial Office in this matter, 
when the deadlock occurred. 13iit this was curtly refused; 
see Annex No. Gq of August 26th, 1926, page 173. I t  might 
11e rnentioned that aily objection to the deposit of the plans 
iiiider tlie Gisborough contract could riot Ije an objection to  
them when that contract ceased to  exist, and withholding 
approval of the water plans for three months afterwards 
caniiot be justified 'in the light of the ,fact that the details 
of the plans had already been approved for somc montlis by 
the arithorities in Palestine with the cngineers represeiiting 
AI. hlavrommatis. That is brought out in the letter of M. Mavrom- 
inatis dated December q t h ,  1926, Aiinex No. IIG, page 212, .in 
which he sayç that the plans had already been agreed for 
sis months, aiid yet they had only just been approved. 
'The Attorney-General terrns the documeiit "an  out-and-out 
assignment". Such a term is riot k n o m  in Eiiglish law, 
lrowever apt it mny or may not bc as a description. The 
Solicitors to the Colonial Office, in their letter of July z ~ s t ,  
1926, Annex NO. 52 ,  page I j8, describe it as "nothing inare nor less 
than an absolute nssignment", "but it is so drafted", they add, 
"as t o  have the appearance oi ùeing such an agreement as 
you described in your letter to us of 3Iarch 15th last", 
which \ras an ordiriary asçignment. IVe are to assume that  
the drafting is correct, but that they have corne to  the 
conciusion tliat it is ail absolute assignment. It is a traiisfer 
to a trustee for a Company, and tliat $1. hfavro~iii~iatis \vas 
doing his best to form that coriipany is clear from the 
correspondeiice and, moreover, one of the first steps of his 
Agents was to nliproach the Coloiiial .Office for the purpose 
of making al1 speedy arrangements to form a compariy, as 
tiiay be seen frorn the letter of J:tniiary rgth, 1926, more than 
one month before the contracts were signed with tlie Crown 
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Ageiit for the Colonies, but after the terms of them hnd been 
agreed ; see Annex No. I j ,  page 69. That the trusiee is 
acting in this way is set out in express terms in Clause 14 to 
Aiinex Xo. 18, on page 78, and Clause 12 to Anncx No. IS bis, 
on page SI, bot11 of which contracts came irito thc posses- 
sion of the Coloni;~] Officc about the same date as the 
Gisborough contract, niid. be it noted, it took the Colo~iial 
Office ttvo moritliç (see letter of 18th, 1926, Aniiex No. 42, 
page I ~ I )  to  corne to the decisior1 that this was an absoliite 
assignment because thcy riever gave that declarntioii uiltil 
that period of timc hacl elapsed after the? had received tticçe 
contracts wliich t hey specially dernanded, and t hey cleinanded 
theii-i by reason of an arrangement which had been suggcatcd 
by Messrs. 1.ane & Cotticr, the  Solicitors for 1,oi-d Gisboroiigh, 
ancl' Messrs. Jackson & CO., ail arrangement whicli hacl nothing 
whatever to do witli M. Mavrommatis, for he was not a 
Party to it.  That was the reason why these contrncts were 
liünded over to the Coloniril Office ; for otherwise tliey were 
11ot concerned luith tliern until the JIemorandum and Articles 
of Association weTe çonsidered. The usual practice wlien the 
Mernoraridum ;ind, Articlcs of Association of a Company are 
agreed is t o  rncntion in tlie foriner and provide in tlie latter 
that the directors shatl riclvpt the prelirninary :rgreetiietit npith 
tlie trustee and stiliscqucntly for the Company to  make a 
definite contract witli thc concessionnaire, and when this is 
done, to release the trustee. There are only two assignments 
kiiown to English law, nnnicly legal and equitable, and otlier 
tcims are misdescriytions. The word itself merely meaiis a 
transfer. The longer ïvord does not make i t  a mysterious - or 
secret or rttala fide nrrimgemcnt. There is no necessity to  
view it with suspicion. An absolute assignment, in tlie sense 
of being an out-anci-out purcliase, the document in question 
could not be for various reasons. At  common law, with 
ccrtaiii statutory esceptioils which do not apply to this case, 
neither the bencfit 1101. the burden of this contract could be 
:ibsolutely transferred iii such a sense unless with the consent 
of the High Commissioricr. I3y the text of tlie Agreements of 
February ~ j t h ,  1926, uncler q u ,  such an out-and-out. sale; as 
tlie terms utilized by tlic British Government tvould seenl to 
denote, would not be perniitted. These considerations are al1 
present to the ~ninds  of tlic trustee, the contractors, the 
solicitors and the engiiieers in the city of London. 1s it 
conceivable that they al! entered into an arrangement which 
they were not eiititled to inake eitlier under the coInmon law 
or iinder the concession by virtue of which they were to 
erijoy the benefits of tlieir contracts? It cannot be tern~ed 
ail absolute transfcr, for it contained an option, ancl wliat is 
inore, it has been caricellecl anci ceases to exist. 1s it not 
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abundantly clear that the Colonial Office hastened to misconceive 
the document because they were irritated by the opposition 
of Mr. liutenberg to the demand for the El-Audja source, 
which opposition is admitted for the first time by tlie British 
Government in the generous statement, which was made bar 
the Attorney-General in this Court, th i t  Mr. Rutenberg had 
no right to  oppose M. Mavrommatis' wnter scheme. Al1 
along the Colonial Office have maintainecl tliat the deadlock 
occurred by reason of M. Navromrnatis' faiilt, and in the very 
last or nearly tlie last letter which the Colonial Office wrote 
to him when the case was in the hands of the,  Greek 
Government, they still maintained their- chilciish attitude : "it is 
your own fault" (çee letter dated -4pril 2Gth, 1927, Annex No. 133, 
page 247). So irritated were they, that they made the 
contract witli Lord Gisborough rnerely a pretext for delaying 
the approval of the plans. The result bas heen disastrous 
for M. &lavrommatis, as may be seen from the correspondence 
in detail. 



REPLY BY SIR DOUGLAS HOGG 
(representing the British Governmentf 

AT THE PUBLIC SITTING O F  SEPTEMBER 10th, 1927 l.  

AFüy it please the Court. 1 listened yesterday morning to 
a n  address, of which 1 hope 1 may be allowed to Say the elo- 
quence and the persuasive force left nothing to be desired, 
in which the representative of the Greek Governrnent began 
by explaining his view as to the. effect of the judgrnent of the 
Court already given in the matter of the Mavrommatis conces- 
sions (Judgment No. 2). 1 listened to  the development of 
his contention as to, what were the international obligations 
.owed to Rf. Mavrommatis by the British Government and as 
to  the rights which M. Mavrommatis enjoyed vis-à-vis that 
Goveriiment, 1 shall have presently a few observations to 
make to  the Court with regard to those contentions. 1 
listened finally in the morning to a discussion as to  the differ- 
.ences which had arisen between the Parties with regard to 
the Greek contention that Mr, Lees had recommended the 
British Government to  refuse to Mr. Rutenberg the Jordan 
concession to which he was entitled until he withdrew the 
daims which he was not entitled to make under his Jaffa 
concession. 1 do not desire to recapitulate the forma1 statement 
of Mr. Lces that no such memorandum as is mentioned in 
the Reply was ever promised or made : I would merely remind , 
-the Court that not only does Mr. Lees deny that he ever made 
such a memorandum, but you have the fact that the Colonial 
Ofice formally denies that  it ever received such a memoran- 
duin, and the fact further that after a careful search no 
trace of any such memorandum can be found anywhere a t  ali. 

1 had expected after the adjournment yesterday to hear 
.during the afternoon. in what way it was alleged that the 
British Government had exercised the power of public control 
çonferred upon it by Article 11 of the Mandate in a manner 
inconsistent with the rights of M. Mavrommatis as' defined by 
the Greek Government. 1 hope that 1 shall be acquitted of 
any disrespect for the argument to which 1 listened in the 
.afternoon if I Say that my hopes were disappointed. Instead of 
a discussion upon the legal question of jurisdiction, with which 
alone 1 undestand the C o u ~ t  to be a t  present concerned, 

Documents quoted in this reply: 
Gteek Case; see Part I I I ,  No. 2, pp. log-175 of this volume. 
Annexes to the Greek C a s e ;  see Part 111, No. 2a. pp. 176-450. 
British Preliminary Objection; see Part I I I ,  No. 4, pp. 451-468. 
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1 heard a senes of most eloquent suggestions and criticisms 
heaping scorn upon the Colonial Office and its contentions 
and upon the humble representative of rny Governrnent here 
to-day, dealing with the merits of the dispute which it iç 
sought to  bring within the cornpetence of the Court, sugges- 
tions eloquent enough indeed t o  explain how the brilliancy 
of the French advocates is able victonously to min verdicts. 
in the teeth of facts-but criticisms which, however calculated. 
t o  create an atmosphere of prejudice, seemed to me at  least 
to  have little relevance t o  the decision which the Court is. 
asked t o  take. We were told, for example, that the British. 
Government was wrong in contending that  the inability of the 
contractors t o  proceed with the construction of the work was. 
in any way affected by the question of drainage. It was said 
by my opponent that under Clause rg (c) of the Water Conces- 
sion, on page 91 of the Annexes, the right to  raise the price if 
the use of water was restricted owing to the absence of drainage- 
was especially foreseen. How this question can possibly affect - 
the question of juriçdiction, 1 am at  a loss to  understand. 
The only comment 1 would desire to make, since the point is. 
referred to, is that  i t  was precisely the p~ovision in Clause 19 (c) 
which, in the view of the contractors who were going ti, 
carry out the works, would have raised the price of water 
to  a figure which would be prohibitive of its use, and which 
for that very reaçon, according to  the letter of June 3oth, 
1926, page 163, rendered it in their opinion evident-1 am 
quoting irorn the letter-"that some drainage scheme for Jeni- . 
salem is positiveiy essential in order to permit of the construction 
of the works and free use of watg. Lord Gisborough has been 
advised that if an adequate drainage system is not available. 
to  carry off the water, the supply which is capable of being 
utilized and disposed of under preçent conditions would be 
comparatively so small' as t o  render the charges therefore 
prohibitive." And 1 would remind the Court too that the 
very telegram on page 178, Annex 69, to which my opponent 
himself referred as evidencing the reason for the failure of' 
Messrs. Jackson to proceed, gives as one of the two reasonc, the 
delay in providing the drainage system for Jerusalem. 

1 ha\~e heard my opponents dismiss the objections raised to, 
the contract with Lord Gisborough as not being raised by the 
Colonial Office in good faith. My opponent yeçterday told. 
the Court that  the Colonial Office raised no objection at first, 
and he said that the contract was a usual and necessary 
contract since it was essential t o  have a contract with a.  
trustee when the Company was not iii existence. My friend 
&Ir. Purchase this rnorning has bcen developing that argument 
at considerable length-indeed he will perhaps forgive me if 
1 Say that he seemed to me to  be reyroducing for the benefit 
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of the Court that careful argument upon the merits which no 
doubt he was in the course of preparing when the Preliminary 
Objection was filed. That it is necessary t o  have a contract 
with a trustee has never been disputed; and the Colonial 
Office, as rny opponent truly says, raised no objection when 
they were told that such a contract had been made; and 
indeed they stated on page 129, as Mr. Purchase has correctly 
reminded us, that  they were not concerned ivith the narne of 
the trustee or the fact of his appointment. What is neither 
usual nor necessary nor indeed precedented, so far as 1 know, 
is for the contract with a trustee t o  take the form, not of 
an agreement to  transfer t o  the Company when formed, but 
an absolute assignment out-and-out to the trustee by the 
document itself, coupled with a power of rescission by the 
assjgnor ' in certain conditions. As 1 said on Thursday, so 
far as 1 know and so far as 1 am informed by those who 
know better than myself, ,there is no precedent for carrying 
out such a transaction in such a way. The Court will remem- 
ber that  when the Colonial Office ascertained not the fact of 
an  agreement but the terms of the Agreement in May, 1926, 
it was then for the first time that  they raised the objection 
that 'this was contrary to the concessions and to  the agreement 
with the High Commissioner. Again I am a t  a loss to  under- 
stand that  the question whether the objection was weli- 
founded or not can influence the decision which the Court has 
a t  present to take, as t o  whether the dispute to be determined 
is one within its competence or no. We were told then that  
the Court would not uphold the objection raised as to  the 
deposit in May by Lord Gisborough because, i t  was said, the 
plans were in fact deposited on that  date and it rnatters not 
by whom the deposit was made. Again 1 am completely 
a t  a loss to  understand what possible relevance that has t o  
the matter which we are arguing to-day. 1 will only Say 
that t o  me a t  least it would seem t o  be of vital irn~ortance 
that the Wigh Commissioner, when asked to  approve the plan 
for the execution of works by M. Mavrommatis, should know 
that  the plans were available for the execution of the works 
if they were carried out, and that so long as there \iras a 
dispute between M. Mavrommatis, Lord Gisborough, Rlessrs. Lane 
gL Cottier, Sir John Jackson, Ltd., and I know not svho 
else, as to the rights to obtain or retain possession of the 
plans, it might be very important t o  be sure that  the deposit 
was validly made on behalf of M. Mavrommatis. hlrhile he 
was claiming in the letters, No. 50 on page 157, NO. 63 on 
page 173, NO. 66 and No. 67 on page 175, that the plans. 
should be returned to him and that  Lord Gisborough should 
not be allowed to  assert any right or interest in them, it was 
obviously impossible for the High Commissioner to proceed 
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with the determination as to whether the plans were the ones 
which he could properly approve. But that one can argue 
before whatever court may be competent to  entertain the 
suit when the suit is discussed on its merits. To-day we are 
not discussing whether we are right or wrong in saying that  
September and not May is the date of deposit. What we are 
discussing is whether this Court is the right court t o  entertain 
that question. 

We were then told that it was not possible to obtain the. 
decision of the expert under the contract as t o  whether the 
plans were rightly disapproved until some kind of decision 
had beeii reached by the High Coinmissioner and a recent 
amendment of the French law was cited to  illustrate that. 
I can understand that that again may be a question of import- 
ance when we corne to  asses  the quantum of damage that 
M. Mavrornmatis has sustained. But how it can possibly 
throw any light on the question which this Court is being 
asked a t  present to  determine, 1 am completely a t  a Ioss t o  
understand. 

Finally, it was said yesterday afternoon that  the delay in 
deciding upon the plans rendered the formation of the proposed 
Company more and more difficult ; and letters were read from 
Messrs. Birch, Crisp & Co. and letters from MM. Bauer, Mar- 
chal & Cie to  indicate that this had been the result , of the 
delay. 1 recail that  precisely similar letters from the same 
two firms were read in 1925, and 1 need only refer as an 
example to the letter on page 432, Act 56 of Series C., No. 5,  
and to the letter on page 3x3 and page 3x4 of Series C., 
No. 7, Annex Wo. 41, which concludes : 

"Pour les motifs allégués par .notre lettre en date du 2 dé- 
cembre 1921, nous étions obligés a notre regret d'abandonner 
à tout jamais le financement de vos susdites concessions." 

That eternity seems to  have been limited when there again 
appeared to be a prospect of R.I. Afavrommatis claiming damages. 
But again, while 1 can understancl that that  evidence 
might be material on the question of damages, 1' do not 
understand what possible relevance it has to the question 
of j urisdict ion. The j urisdiction cannot depend upon the 
amount of injury infiicted upon hl. Mavrommatis by any 
alleged wrongful act of the British Government or the PaIes- 
tine Government. I t  depends upon whether such wrongful 
act was committed in the exercise of the powers conferred 
under Article II of the Mandate and whether a t  the same 
time it constituted a breach of international obligations under- 
taken by the mandatory Power. 

One observation, and 1 think one only, which was made 
yesterday afternoon, seemed to me to be important. My 
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opponent agreed with me that the objection raised by 
Mr. Rutenberg to  the use of the El-Audja waters foi the purpose 
of M. Mavrommatiç' water concession waç ill-founded and was 
not juçtified by the terms of his concession. 1 accept that 
view and I rely upon that fact as being conclusive of the 
present case. But 1 think, while I agree with my friend in 
the reçults, that in fairness to the High Commissioner and 
to the Colonial Omce whose good faith has been so vigorously 
assailed, 1 ought to Say that 1 do not agree-in Eact, 1 differ 
entirely with his deduction-that it follows that hlr. Ruten- 
berg's objection ought a t  once to have been overruled when 
i t  was raised. If the Court is good enough to refer to the 
Rutenberg concession of September ~ z t h ,  1921, which is to  
be found in Series C., No. 5, a t  page 334, it wiIl be found on 
page 335 that Article 2 is the material article, and Article 2 
is in these t e m s  : 

"The High Cornmissioner, by virtue of his office hereby 
grants to  the Concessionnaire for the period of 32 years 
from the day of the date hereof an exclusive concession 
for the utilization of .the waters of the Audja Basin in 
Palestine for the purpose of generating by such water 
power and utiIizing and supplying within the concession 
area electrical energy and for utilizing the said ~vater 
for the purpose of irrigation with liberty for the Conces- 
sionnaire during the said period to  produce and supply 
electrical energy within the concession area by any other 
means than water power." 

The view which the Colonial Office has consistently taken 
of that article is that it confers upon Mr. Rutenberg an exclu- 
sive right to the use of so much of the El-Audja waters as is 
sufficient to meet the requirements for the purposes of irriga- 
tion or the generation of electricity within the district of 
Jaffa during a period of 32 years, but that it does not confer 
upon him the exclusive right to use the waters of El-Audja 
if and in so far as they are not required for those purposes. 
I t  is said by those representing M. Mavrommatis that the 
quantity for the purposes of the water concession was only 
some twelve thousand cubic meters per day and that the 
abstraction of that quantity from a total estimated output 
of 150 to  zoo million gallons-1 take the figures from the 
report on page 132-would leave sufficient to meet all the 
possible requirements of Mr. Rutenberg under his concession. 
1 think a cubic meter is 220 gallons, so that 150 miilion would 
be roughly 680.000 cubic meters. 1 agree with that view, 
and it is on that ground that the approval was ultimately . 
given on December 2nd. But i t  is quite another thing t a  
Say that the approval ought to  have been given a t  once or 
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that the conclusion that there was sufficient couId be reached 
without a careful study of what was the quantity actualiy 
available, of what waç the method of abstraction proposed 
under the water concession, of what wauld be the effect 
produced upon the total area of supply, of the quantities 
which might . conceivably be required by hlr. Rutenberg for 
irrigation and electricity purposes during the next thirty-two . 

years in the district of Jaffa. Unless and until al1 these 
questions have been ascertained and carefully studied, it 
mould not be possible, of course, to  Say whether Mr. Ruten- . 

berg's 1921 concession did or did not justify the clairn which 
he put fonvard that  the El-Audja waters should not be diverted 
for the drinking of Jerusalem. When they were investigated, 
i t  was ultimately decided that there was no justification for 
that claim, and on that ground, the use of the waters by 
M. Mavrommatis was ultimately agreed to. 

1 corne back therefore t o  the argument upon the question 
of law, confident that the Court will not be influenced by a 
question of prejudice, ho~vever skillfully introduced, however 
forcibly urged, and that it \vil1 not prejudge the merits 
against my  own country because I confine myself to the point 
a t  issue, to the exclusion of matters which cannot properly be 
investigated a t  the present stage. The argument yesterd ay 
morning commenced by a citation from pages 19, 23, 26 and 
28 of Sudgrnent No. 2, in which the questions upon tvhich 
the jurisdiction of the Court depended . were defined. 1 
accept absolutely these definitions. Whether we take the 
frrst one on page 19, that the question before the Court 
is that  the Mavrommatis concessions in themselves are outside 
the scope of Article II, that  the question before the Court is 
whether, by grant ing the Rutenberg concessions. the Palestine 
or British aut horities have disregarded international obliga- 
tions assurned by the Mandatory, or whether ive take altern- 
atively the one on page 26, if the Administration has, by 
granting the Rutenberg concessions, committed a breach of 
the obligations accepted by Great Britain under Protocol XII, 
there has been an infringement of the terms of Article I r  of 
the alandate which may be made the subject of an  action 
before the Court uiider Article 26. But 1 have listened in 
vain to know which Rutenberg concession does infringe 
M. Mavrommatis' rights and which therefore has been granted 
in disregard of the obligations assumed by the Mandatory. My 
opponent sought to  base an  argument upon some words upon 
page 20 of the judgment. 1 do not know that  I disagree with the 
conclusion, which he reaches, that  it is possible that  there rnight- 
be measiires other than the g a n t  of public concessions which 
arnount to an exercise of public control ; for instance, the 
direct administration of the public resources by the State itself. . 
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But a t  the same time 1 think it is perhaps advisable, in 
the  interests of accuracy, to clear up a misconception which 
seems to me to  underlie this part of the argument. If the 
Court will be good enough to refer back to  its Judgment No. 2, 
it will see that  on page zo it was dealing with the contention 
put forward by the British Government. The British Govern- 
ment had contended that  the phrase "public control" only 
covered cases where the Government took over and directed 
an undertaking of one kind or another, and the COUI-t found 
that  that was too narrow a meaning t o  place upon those words 
and .that there might be an exercise of public control by the 
mandatory Power, even if the act relied on were only the 
grant of , a  concession to  some individual, provided, as the 
Court says, that  that grant was accompanied by measures 
which amounted to  an exercise of public control, such, for, 
instance, as the illustration which the Court itself gives, the right 
t o  reserve to the Government the supervision of the financial 
operations of the concessionnaires. In  other words, the Court 
iç not saying that  some measures less than a grant of public 
concessions mean the exercise of public control, but that while 
every grant of a -  concession may not necessarily amount to 
an act of public control, the grant may amount to such an act, 
if it is accompanied by rneasures which can be so construed. 
However, again 1 think that the discussion on this point is 
largely an  acadernic one because 1 have not heard it suggested 
that there has been any measure amounting to  an exercise 
of public control which has been taken either by the Palestine 
or by the British Government, other than the grant of conces- 
sions to Mr. Rutenberg 

Having discussed the j u d p e n t ,  rny opponent went on to discuss 
what was the nature of the rights enjoyed by M. Mavrommatis. He 
said, if 1 correctly appreciate hi5 argument, that since the conceç- 

' 

sions of 1914 were, by virtue of Protocol XII of the Treaty of 
Lausanne, among the international obligations undertaken by the 
Mandatory, and since by Article 5 of that Protocol these conces- 
sions must be readapted, it follows that the new concessions 
granted, in lieu of the old ones, must equally be considered as 
international obligations within Article XI of the Mandate. Again, 
1 am not sure that that conclusion, if i t  were correct, would 
materially injure my position in the present case. But I 
venture to submit to  the Court it is not correct and that: 
it involves a confusion in the sense in which the term "inter- 
national obligations" is being used. It is quite tnie, as the 
Court has decided, that by accepting Protocol XII to  the 
Treaty of Lausanne, the British Government has bound itself 
t o  readapt the Jerusalem concessions which had been granted 
in 1914. That obligation to readapt those concessions is an  
international obligation accepted by the Mandatory, and that 
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obligation was, in my respectful submission, completely fulfilled 
on February a5th, 1926, when the Palestine Government 
granted to  M. Mavrommatis concessions which he himself 
accepted as being a satisfactory performance of that under- 
taking and in consideration for which lie irrevocably abandoned 
the concessions which he theretofore held from the Turkish 
authorities. After that date the Ilandatory had completely 
satisfied the obligation undertaken by it under the Protocol 
and had given to  M. hlavrommatis direct conceçsions, covering 
the water and electricity supply of Jerusalem which were 
the subject matter of the 1914 Turkish concessions, carrying 
with them the right to insist on the fulfilment of those conces- 
sions in accordance with their terms, by the authonties of 
Palestine, carrying with it,  of course, also the right, if that  
fulfilment was denied, of bringing an action in the courts of 
Palestine to claim the damages which had been sustained. 
My opponents developed an argument in which they said 
that although these concessions, by their express terms, were 
t o  be construed according to  the laws of England, yet that  
provision applied only to their minor clauses and that since 
they were granted in pursuance of a promise to  readapt the 
Turkish concessions of 1914, the question whether the conces- 
sions remained in existence c0ntinut.d to be a question of 
international law. I confess that I find it just a little difficult 
to follow thiç reasoning or to appreciate the exact sense in 
which the term "international law" is there being used. Under 
the original concessions of 1914, certain conditions were 
imposed upon M. Mavrommatis, conditions, among other things, 
with regard to the deposit of plans. They will be found in 
Series C., No. 5, pages 135 and 211. If M. Mavrommatis 
had made default in carrying out these conditions and if 
it had corne before any tribunal, municipal or international, 
for decision, whether or not these concessions were still valid, 
the only law which the tribunal, whatever it was, c o ~ l d  have 
applied in order to determine the question, would have been 
the Turkish law. The tribunal would have asked itself whether, 
according to Turkish law, the effect of what hl. Mavrommatis 
had failed to  do was t o  annul the concession. Similarly, if 
M. Mavrommatis commits a breach of the conditions contained 
in the concessions of 1926, and there is refe~red to any tri- 
bunal, municipal or international, the question whether that 
breach forfeits the concession, that question has to be deter- 
rnined by construing the contract according to the English 
law which governs it. There is, so far as 1 know, no rule of 
international law which defines the conditions in'which contracts 
are determined or which decides, for instance, whether the 
terms of a contract as to  time are, or are not, of the essence 
of the contract. The only rule of international law, if such 
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a question arises, is that  the domestic law governing the con- 
tract must be looked a t  and applies t o  the document which 
has to  be construed, and in the present case the domestic 
law which has to  be applied is, by the express terms of 
each concession, the English law. 

Then, my friend Mr. Purchase developed an argument in 
which he said that these concessions had never been effectively 
granted because on certain conditions they might have been 
forfeited,' and he criticized the analogy which 1 ventured t o  
put before the Court of an insurance policy. He said that 
that was not a true analogy because in the case of an insur- 
ancc policy the assured had the benefit of the policy until 
forfeiture, and he said, further, that there could only be for- 
feiture for misrepresentatioii of a material fact which induced 
the contract. In fact, the cornmonest case of forfeiture of the 
benefits of an insurance policy arises not frorn misrepresentation 
in the inception of the contract, but from failure by the 
assured to carry out his obligation to pay the premiums. 1 
suppose in every jurisprudence one knows constantly of cases 
in which insurance policies have lapsed and been forfeited 
although large sums rnay have been paid under them by reason 
of the fact that the premiums have not been kept up, and in 
the present case the concessionnaire has the benefit of the 
concessions unleçç and until, under the terrns of the contract, 
the concessions are forfeited. We' even know that M. lifavrom- 
matis got several thousands of pounds on January zand, x926, 
from Lord Gisborough and caused large expenditure by Lord 
Gisborough over the preparation of these detailed plans upon 
which, so rnuch reiiance has been placed, and those reports 
which have been placed before the Court, aH of xwhich he 
claims, and I gather clairns rightly under his contract, belong 
to him because Lord Gisborough's contract has been deter- 
mined. 

He has the benefit of the contract of 1926 none the less 
that by the terms of that contract in certain events he would 
lose. the benefi t of the concessions. 

My opponent went on to discuss the position with regard to 
the waters of El-Audja. 1 agree certainly with the conclusion 
which he reached that a decision on that point is not relevant 
to  the present argument and therefore 1 do not pursue it 
at any length. But I think 1 may indicate that there does 
not seem to be very much between my view and tliat which 
was the view of certainly some of the evidence put forward 
by the Greek Govemment. I t  cannot, of course, be true to 
Say that M. Mavrommatis a t  any date before the transfer of 
the plans of December znd, 1926, had a right to  the use of 
the waters of the El-Audja. He could only have obtained that 
right by virtue of one or other of his concessions, that of 
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1914 or that of r926. His concession of 1914 gave him no 
such right, since under Clause 5 of that concession he had 
no right to the use of any source other than the two named 
sources, except by the decision of the Turkish Minister of 
Works who, i t  is common ground, was never asked to agree 
to  El-Audja. It cannot be that he has any right to  the waters 
of 'El-Audja under the concession of 1926 because equally by 
.Clause 6 of that contract the selection of the source is abso- 
lutely made subject to  the approval of the HighCommissioner. 
I t  follows therefore, of course, that there could have been no 
claim by M. bfavrommatis that any breach of either conces- 
sion had been permitted if he had been refused permission 
to use the waters of El-Audja for the purpose of his conces- 
sion. But 1 agree a t  once that the use of El-Audja as a pos- 
sible source for the concession of 1926 was in contemplation 
a t  the time that that contract was executed. Where 1 differ 
is only in the suggestion that it was promised t o  him in the 
course of the negotiations. If a reference be made to the 
letter on page 236, Annex No. 128, which is the document put 
in evidence by my opponent, i t  will be seen that the terms of 
that letter make i t  abundantly clear that there was no agree- 
ment that El-Audja should , b e  used, but only that the use 
of El-Audja was contemplated as possible. I would only 
rernind the Court a t  this stage of the last sentence of the 
letter which discussed other possible sources : "Mr. Leeç more 
than once during the negotiations" not "agreed" but "expressed . the opinion, that  provided the Government were satisfied that 
the El-Audja was the proper source to be selected, other inter- 
ests in the springs would not be aliowed to stand in the 
way." As 1 have said, that  opinion turned out t o  be well- 
founded ; but that passage is absolutely inconsistent with the 
suggestion that Mr, Leeç had agreed a t  some date during ' the 
negotiations that El-Audja was to be the source used. Simil- 
arly, the. reference to the prices to be charged in the terms 
of the concession itself does not prove any such agreement ; 
and 1 hope the Court wili forgive me if I just repeat my 
argument upon that point, because it seerns to have been mis- 
undeetood by my opponent and therefore, possibly, 1 did not 
make i t  clear to the Court. I agree absolutely that the engi- 
neers' report on page. 135, to  which I referred in my argu- 
ments, which speaks of other sources than El-Audja as being 
the same in capital cost, is not referring to  the sources in the 
neighbourhood of Jerusalem, but is referring to  the more 
distant sources in the Jordan valiey. That was not the point 
which 1 was making. The Court will remember that the Greek 
Government contention was that since the prices in Clause 19 

. (page 91) of the concession had been fixed by reference to a 
capital cost which was approximately the capital cost required 
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i f  El-Audja were used, that proves that the Parties had agreed 
that El-Audja should be the source used. My answer was 
that it would show nothirig of the kind, since the Parties 
knew a t  the time that there 'were other sources which might 
possibly be uçed, and the use of which would involve possibly 
the same capital cost. î h a t  argument is 'not  affected a t  al1 
by the point that those other sources are different from the 
sources contemplated in 1914, just as El-Audja itself iç different 
from the sources contemplated in 1914. Once you establish 
that there are several sources, the cost of which will be approx- 
imately equal, then the fact that the cost in question is that 
used for provisionally fixing the price does not demonstrate 
that any one of those particular sources is chosen ; it oiily. 
dernonstrates that the Parties contemplate that one or other 
of those sources will be choçen and not that they have agreed 
upon any particular one. 

I t  was stated by my opponent. that the letter frorn hleçsrs. Lane 
& Cottier on page 153 of the Greek Government Annexes 
showed that Mr. Lees had agreed to  the use of the El-Audja 
because i t  was stated a t  the top of page 154 that the experts 
are of opinion "that that  source is the mcst economical and 
most convenient", and it was suggested that the experts in 
that  context include Mr. Lees. If it did, it would not show 
an agreement that El-Audja should be used. But in fact a 
reference to  the letter shows that this was a mistaken view. 
The experts are referred to in the letter first on the previous 
page in the fifth line, where an appointment is asked for for 
the following day a t  which Sir Charles Cottier, the writer of 
the letter, would be accornpanied by certain of the jnterested 
Parties and their experts. Obviously, that does not mean 
Mr. Lees, who was in Palestine, whereas this letter waç making 
an appointment for next morning in London. Messrs. Rofe & 
Son of course were the experts referred to and employed by 
Messrs. Lane & Cottier, and that is shown on page 154, in the 
middle of the page, where the same phrase is used : "We are 
advised by the experts that  the amount of potable water 
which would be so taken would be a very small fractional 
part of the whole yield" and so on, obviously there referring 
to their omrn experts, that is, Messrs. Rofe & Son, to  whom 
they had made allusion a t  the beginning of the letter. 

IfTith regard to  this minor point, there remains only the 
letter exhibited yesterday from Sir Hamar Greenwood, who 
informed the solicitors of the "understanding" on which the 
concessions were signed If it ïvere neceçsary to investigate 
that matter further, 1 should have to  ask leave to cal1 
Mr. Lees, who is in Ceylon, and to cross-examine Sir Hamar 
Greenwood, who is, or was, a lawyer, and \vho, as an English 
lawyer, would never use the phrase "an understanding" if he 
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meant a contract ; because it is a familiar practice in OUT 

, Courts to pull up a witness if he makes use of the term 
"understanding" for the precise reason that it is an ambiguous 
term. But 1 am content to assume the position to be as 
stated in the letter which 1 have aIready quoted on page 236, 
that there was no agreement, but that El-Audja was 
contemplated as one among other possible sources, and that  
Mr. Lees had no doubt that if the Government were satisfied 
that El-Audja \vas the proper source, they would not alIow 
that  source to be put aside. 1 agree with my opponent that 
the point cannot be considered material, if for no other reason, 
for these two : Firstly, that  the ccrncession itself stipulates 
that  the High Commissioner can approve the source, and 
therefore is inconsistent with one particular source being chosen 
and agreed upon ; and secondly, becaiise whatever else this 
claim may be, i t  is not a claim for failure to permit the use 
of the El-Audja waters. 

But whatever the obligations undertaken by the Mandatory 
towards M. Rlavrommatis, in order to constitute a breach 
which is within the cornpetence of the Court, the breach has 
to arise by the exercise of the powers of public control 
conferred under Article I K. I t  is not suggested (and, of course, 
could not be suggested) that the failure of the High Comrnis- 
sioner to express his approval or disapproval was in itself an 
exercise of the potvers of public control conferred by Article II, 
because the right to approve or disapprove is conferred not 
by Article II, but by the contract between the Parties ; and 
1 do not think it is suggested that in itself a failure t o  
express an  opinion would be an  exercise of the pourers within 
Article XI : quite obviously that would corne within the phrase 
on page 19 of the judgment : "The Mavrommatis concessionc: 
in themselves are outside the scope of Article II." The 
complaint, if it rests there, is a complaint of breach of the 
Mavrommatis concessions, and not a complaint of breach by 
the wrongful exercise of :i power. conferred by Article II. 
What is said, so far  as 1 understand it (and 1 think it is 
important that we should have it definitely stated), is, that  
the only thing that is said to  constitute an exercise of the 
powers conferred by Article 11 Ras the grant of the Jordan 
concession t o  Mr. Rutenberg on March 5th, 1926. 

Now, if I am right in that, 1 can only repeat that that  
was admittedly not in disregard or in breach of hl. hlavrom- . 

matis' right, because it is conceded that that concession 
in no way conflicts with M. Mavrommatis' rights, What is 
sought to, be urged iç not that the conceçsion conflicted 
in any way with M. ~favrommatis' rights, but that, if we 
had refused to exercise Our power of public control under 
Article XI by granting the concession which, the Court \vil1 
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remember, we were bound to  grant by virtue of the Agreement 
of September z ~ s t ,  1921, then i t  is said that the resdt  would 
have been that Mr. Rutenberg would have abandoned Iiis . 

wrongful opposition to  the use of the El-Audja waters under 
his Jaffa concession. In the first place 1 would venture to 
submit that  i t  is a t  least highly doubtful whether Mr. Ruten- 
berg w ~ u l d  have done anything of the kind. What 1 think he 
would have done would have been to bring an action against 
the High Commissioner, daiming specific performance of the 
Agreement of September zrst,  1921, and the grant of the 
concession to which he \vas entitled under that agreement. 
The Court will remember that in the only record to which refer- 
ence has been made as to Mr. Rutenberg's attitude-the long 
letter to  which 'my friend referred on page 184 in Annex 82, 
reporting this conversation with Mr. Rutenberg-Mr. Ruten- 
berg showed no reluctance to. bring actions against the 
Government ; on the contrary, he said, not "1 can influence 
the Government", but "1 am going to  claim from the Court . 
an injunction to restrain the Colonial Office granting you 
approval of the El-Audja source unless you corne to  an 
agreement with me". So that he had no heçitation in going 
to the courts to enforce a right which he thought he had ; 
and 1 çhould have thought that the probable result of a 
failure by the High Commissioner to carry out his obligations 
to  Mr. Rutenberg under the Agreement of Septernber 21st, 
1921, would have been the issue of a writ by Mr. Rutenberg 
claiming specific performance of that agreement, t o  which, of 
course, the High Commissioner would have had no answer. 
But this, of course, is al1 in the nature of speculation ; no 
one could tell what Mr. Rutenberg would or would not have 
done. Al1 that it is necessary for me to  submit to the Court 
is that the grant of a concession which did not conflict with . 
M. Mavrommatis' rights, and to  which Mr. Rutenberg was 
already legally entitled, could not be an exercise of the 
powers conferred by Article II in a xvay inconsistent with 
11. Mavrommatis' rights ; and if that be so, then i t  follows 
tliat the claim breaks down because, as my friend concedes, 
(and as the Court has decided) i t  is not enough to show 
that M. Mavrommatis' concessions have been broken, It is . 

essential, in order to invoke the jurisdiction of the Court, 
t o  prove that they have been broken, as the Court says, by 
the grant of concessions to Mr. Rutenberg-1 am content a t  
this moment to  Say, by the exercise of the powers conferred 
by Article II in a way inconsistent with M. Mavrommatis' 
r i ~ h t s .  

V 

Just a word or two now with reference to the points 
of English law to which RiIr. Purchase alluded this morning. 
He dealt with my argument. that declarations as t o '  the 
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intentions of the Parties in entering into a contract are not 
admissible in English law t o  construe a contract ; and he 

. said that there were some exceptions set out in Sir William 
Anson's book to that riile. I agree there are. None of them 
have any relevance to any point which we are here discussing. 
He said that you could give evidence of the surrounding 
circumstances ; but 1 am quite sure that Nr. Purchase. himself 
would not venture to assert to any court in which an English 
judge is sitting, that the power t o  give evidence as to the 
siirroiinding circumstances includes a power to  give evidence 
of statements made by the Parties as to what they rneant 
or as to their intention. 

Then he dealt with the point which 1 ventured to stress 
on Thursday that hl. Mavrommatiç, having gone on nego- 
tiating after August 5th, could not now treat the failure t o  
approve the plans by August 5th as being a breach of a 
condition of the contract, and Air. Purchase cited a passage 
from Anson in which he discussed waiver as being a rescission 
by mutual consent. 1 am not clealing here with a question 
of a waiver of a contract; what 1 am dealing with here is 
the waiver of a particular tenn in the contract or of a right 
alleged to be conferred by the contract to treat a particular 
term as vital to its existence, and the case which I cited 
is only one of a series which nlight be given, which shows 
that where a person, after the time has elapsed for the 
performance of a particular terrn, chooses to  go on nego- 
tiating with the other contracting Party with regard to that 
matter, he cannot then suddenly determine the contract because 
the time has passed for its performance, but he must give 
reasonable notice if he intends to  do anything of the kind. 

Finally, 1 would like to  Say a word as to the point which 
concluded our Preliminary Objection as to the necessity for 
first eshausting the rights of the injured subject in the munici- 
pal courts. hly opponent was good enough to speak sarcas- 
tically of the letter from the High Cornmissioner which uras put 
in by me a t  the sitting on Thursday. 1 think that he hardly 
does justice to the position. The rule which we had invoked 
is a rule which is admirably forrnulated and explained in 
the passages cited in our objection and in Section 381 of 
Dr. Borchard's book, and it is a rule that local remedies must 
be eshausted before an international claim may properly be 
instituted. The Greek Government replied to that argument 
that, under the Palestine Ordinance, it was necessary to  obtain 
the consent of the High Commissioner before instituting 
proceedings. That, of course, was no reply, because the 
Greek Government ought to  have gone on to  Say that their 
national had applied for that consent and been unable to 
obtain' it; and that therefore his . remedy was in effect exhausted. 
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In fact, it is not suggested that any such application had been 
made. But in order to  satisfy the Court that there was no 
merit in the objection, we obtained from the High Commis- 
sioner a written. statement of his willingness to consent to the 
claim for damages for delay in giving his decision upon the 
plans, if such a claim was instituted in the courts, and in 
truth that was and, so far as 1 know, is to-day the only 
daim which M. Mavrommatis is seeking to  enforce,-damages 
which he says he suffered by reason of the deIay of the High 
Commissioner in approving his plans within the stipulated 
three months. If there is any other claim or p~ima facie . 

claim for damages which M. Mavrommatis or .bis advisers 
can formulate, 1 have no doubt that the High Commissioner 
would be prepared to  give his consent. But surely it is idle 
to  sneer a t  the consent which has been given as being whoIly 
inadequate when M. Mavrommatis has never tried to  get any 
consent at ail, and when we produced a consent to the only 
claim of which we have any knowledge. 

My opponent was good enoiigh to  conclude his observations 
by way of showing his disapproval of the British Government 
and its unworthy representative by a jeer a t  the obsen~ations 
with which I commenced my argument, that  this was the 
first time in four cases that  I had objected t o  the jurisdiction 
of the Court. 1 am quite sure that none else present a t  the 
hearing could have imagined that  1 was suggesting that the 
British Government had never raised a plea to the jurisdiction, 
because 1 went on immediately to  cite the judgment in which 
that plea had been raised and in which it had been upheld 
as t o  half of the claim which was being put forward. . That 
the British Government has ' a sincere and unfeigned respect 
and appreciation for the great value to international peace 
of the services of this Court, 1 do not think can be doubted by 
anyone who recalls the history of the Court and the occa- 
sions upon which the British Government has not hesitated 
to ask the assistance of the Court in matters in which 
very grave disputes between States have been involved. That 
a British lawyer should be lacking in appreciation of the 
Court would seem incredible, especially when one remembers 
the contribution, if 1 may be allowed to  Say so, which my 
nation has made both to  the personnel of the Court and t o  
the authority and dignity of its proceedings. But in truth, 
this plea cannot be disposed of by any attempt to confuse 
or prejudice the issues or t o  disparage the motives of the 
Government whom 1 represent in raising the issue mhich has 
to be determined. Apart from the numerous objections which 
appear in our preliminary document which 1 had the honour 
of insisting upon in my pleading on Thursday, in my çub- 
mission this objection must be sustained first of al1 becausc 
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the claim is one for an alleged breach of an obligation t o  
decide upon plans lvithin three months of their deposit, and 
that obligation is not an international obligation accepted by 
the hlandatory, but a contractual term of the Agreement of 
February 25th, 1926, and secondiy, and most decisively of 
d l ,  because that breach, if it existed, and if it were a breach 
of the international obligations accepted by the Mandatory, 
does not constitute an exercise of the power of control 
conferred by Article II of the Mandate, and the exercise of that  
pou7er alluded to  and consisting of the grant of &Ir. Ruten- 
berg's concession on March 5th, 1926, is not in derogation of 
any right which hl. Mavrommatis had internationally or 
municipaiiy, since it is cornmon ground that the concession 
so granted in no way infringed his rights. 

In  condusion, 1 desire to  thank the Court most sincerely 
for the great patience with which they have listened to  what, 
1 fear, has necessarily been a rather lengthy argument, and 
t o  ask them to  accept my assurance that, in inviting the 
Court to pronounce itself incornpetent to entertain this suit, 
I am not doing anything in derogation of the profound respect 
which I feel for the Court's authority and which I know my 
Government entertains for its proceedings. 


